Hands-on Azure Boards

Configuring and Customizing Process Workflows in Azure DevOps Services

Chaminda Chandrasekara Pushpa Herath



Hands-on Azure Boards

Configuring and Customizing Process Workflows in Azure DevOps Services

Chaminda Chandrasekara Pushpa Herath

Apress[®]

Hands-on Azure Boards: Configuring and Customizing Process Workflows in Azure DevOps Services

Pushpa Herath

Hanguranketha, Sri Lanka

Chaminda Chandrasekara Dedigamuwa, Sri Lanka

ISBN-13 (pbk): 978-1-4842-5045-7 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-5046-4

ISBN-13 (electronic): 978-1-4842-5046-4

Copyright © 2019 by Chaminda Chandrasekara and Pushpa Herath

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

Trademarked names, logos, and images may appear in this book. Rather than use a trademark symbol with every occurrence of a trademarked name, logo, or image we use the names, logos, and images only in an editorial fashion and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Managing Director, Apress Media LLC: Welmoed Spahr Acquisitions Editor: Smriti Srivastava Development Editor: Siddhi Chavan Coordinating Editor: Shrikant Vishwakarma

Cover designed by eStudioCalamar

Cover image designed by Freepik (www.freepik.com)

Distributed to the book trade worldwide by Springer Science+Business Media New York, 233 Spring Street, 6th Floor, New York, NY 10013. Phone 1-800-SPRINGER, fax (201) 348-4505, e-mail orders-ny@springer-sbm.com, or visit www.springeronline.com. Apress Media, LLC is a California LLC and the sole member (owner) is Springer Science + Business Media Finance Inc (SSBM Finance Inc). SSBM Finance Inc is a **Delaware** corporation.

For information on translations, please e-mail rights@apress.com, or visit www.apress.com/ rights-permissions.

Apress titles may be purchased in bulk for academic, corporate, or promotional use. eBook versions and licenses are also available for most titles. For more information, reference our Print and eBook Bulk Sales web page at www.apress.com/bulk-sales.

Any source code or other supplementary material referenced by the author in this book is available to readers on GitHub via the book's product page, located at www.apress.com/978-1-4842-5045-7. For more detailed information, please visit www.apress.com/source-code.

Printed on acid-free paper

Let this book be a beginning point of thousands of future Azure Boards teams to run their software projects effectively and efficiently.

Table of Contents

About the Authors	xi
About the Technical Reviewer	xiii
Acknowledgments	xv
Introduction	xvii
Chapter 1: Getting Started with Azure Boards	
Lesson 1-1. Creating an Azure DevOps Organization	1
Lesson 1-2. Creating a Public/Private Agile Project	3
Lesson 1-3. Comparing Project Templates	5
Work Item Types	5
Process Templates	5
Work Item State Flows	7
Lesson 1-4. Navigating Azure Boards	9
Summary Page	9
Dashboards	14
Wiki	
Work Items	
Boards	
Backlogs	24
Sprints	
Queries	
Lesson 1-5. Customizing Organization Settings	
Lesson 1-6. Previewing Features and Themes	
Summary	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 2: Setting Up a Team Project	
Lesson 2-1. Creating a Team	
Lesson 2-2. Defining Common Project Settings	
Project Settings	
Lesson 2-3. Setting Up Areas	
Project Areas	61
Team Areas	
Lesson 2-4. Setting Up Releases and Iterations	
Team Project Iterations	
Team Iterations	
Lesson 2-5. Setting Up Team Members and Permissions	
Lesson 2-6. Defining Team Capacity and Days Off	
Summary	
Chapter 3: Working with Backlogs and Boards	
Lesson 3-1. Understanding the Backlog Hierarchy	
Lesson 3-2. Defining a Backlog	
Organizing Epics in a Hierarchy	
Adding Features to Epics	
Adding Stories to Features	
Adding Tasks to User Stories	
Changing the Parent	
Using the Work Item Context Menu in the Backlog View	101
Lesson 3-3. Exploring Important Work Item Fields	105
Common Important Work Item Fields	105
Lesson 3-4. Selecting Work to Move to an Iteration	107
Lesson 3-5. Using Kanban Boards and Task Boards	112
Kanban Boards	113
Task Boards	

Lesson 3-6. Working with a Bug Work Item	118
Managing Bugs with Tasks	119
Managing Bugs with Requirements	121
Bugs Not Managed with Requirements or Tasks	122
Summary	122
Chapter 4: Work Item Notifications, Tags, and Customization	123
Lesson 4-1. Setting Up Work Item Tags	123
Lesson 4-2. Setting Up Work Item Notifications	126
Lesson 4-3. Customizing a Kanban Board's Card	131
Customizing Fields	132
Adding Card-Style Rules	135
Setting the Tag Color	140
Customizing Tests	143
Lesson 4-4. Customizing a Kanban Board's Settings	144
Customizing Columns	144
Using Swimlanes	150
Reordering Cards	151
Setting Up a Status Badge	152
Summary	155
Chapter 5: Customizing the Process	157
Lesson 5-1. Creating an Inherited Process	157
Lesson 5-2. Editing Work Item Types	162
Editing the Work Item Color and Icon	163
Modifying the Layout of the Work Item Form	165
Editing an Inherited Field	167
Editing an Inherited Group	168
Adding a New Page to the Layout	168
Adding a New Group to the Layout	169
Adding a Custom Field	170

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Lesson 5-3. Changing the State Workflow of a Work Item	174
Lesson 5-4. Adding New Work Item Types	179
Lesson 5-5. Adding a Top-Level Backlog	181
Lesson 5-6. Defining Custom Work Item Rules	186
Summary	188
Chapter 6: Visualizing and Reporting in Azure Boards	
Lesson 6-1. Exploring the Out-of-the-Box Reporting of Azure Boards	189
How the Work Is Progressing?	193
Bulges in Cumulative Flow	194
Flat Lines and Scope Changes	195
Lesson 6-2. Creating Personal Queries	198
Lesson 6-3. Sharing Queries with the Team	203
Favorite Queries	205
Lesson 6-4. Writing Complex Queries	206
Lesson 6-5. Creating Charts with Queries	209
Lesson 6-6. Adding Charts to the Dashboard	211
Lesson 6-7. Creating Dashboards	213
Lesson 6-8. Adding Widgets to a Dashboard	215
Lesson 6-9. Using Widgets to Visualize Work Items	218
Summary	222
Chapter 7: Handling a Large Team in a Team Project	223
Lesson 7-1. Understanding the Requirements of Multiple Teams	223
Lesson 7-2. Configuring Areas and Teams to Isolate Backlogs	227
Isolating the Backlogs	227
Achieving a Hierarchical Team Structure	234
Sharing the Same Backlog with Multiple Teams	236
Lesson 7-3. Sharing the Same Iteration with Multiple Teams	236
Lesson 7-4. Working with Different Release Cadences for Teams	
Lesson 7-5. Sharing a Team Member Across Multiple Teams	
Summary	

Chapter 8: Azure DevOps Security Options	249
Lesson 8-1. Adding Users to Azure DevOps	
Lesson 8-2. Setting Up Azure DevOps Organization-Level Security Policies and Permissions	254
Lesson 8-3. Enabling Access to External Users in Organization-Backed Azure DevOps Accounts	259
Lesson 8-4. Granting a License for Extended Paid Features	265
Lesson 8-5. Setting Up Organization-Level Security Options for a Process Template	
Lesson 8-6. Setting Up Project-Level Security Options	
Iteration Permissions	273
Area Permissions	
Shared Queries Permissions	
Lesson 8-7. Setting Up Team-Level Security	
Lesson 8-8. Setting Up User-Level Security Options	
Personal Access Token	
Alternate Credentials	
SSH Public Keys	
Summary	
Chapter 9: Working with REST APIs and the CLI	285
Lesson 9-1. Understanding the REST API Components	
The Request URI	
HTTP Request Message Header Fields	
HTTP Request Message Body	
HTTP Response Message Header Fields	
HTTP Reponses Message Body Fields	
Lesson 9-2. Using a REST API from a Browser	
Lesson 9-3. Using a REST API with PowerShell	290
Authorization	290
Calling the REST API	292
WIQL	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Lesson 9-4. Creating a Work Item with a REST API	296
Lesson 9-5. Getting Started with the Azure DevOps CLI	299
Showing a Work Item	300
Updating a Work item	302
Summary	303
Chapter 10: Using Extensions with Azure Boards and Linking with GitHub	305
Lesson 10-1. Using Extensions in Azure DevOps	306
Lesson 10-2. Using Work Item Layout Extensions	313
Lesson 10-3. Using a Few Other Useful Extensions	318
Delivery Plans	319
Estimate	325
Feature Timeline and Epic Road Map	330
Lesson 10-4. Linking GitHub to Azure Boards	334
Summary	345
Index	347

About the Authors



Chaminda Chandrasekara is a Microsoft Most Valuable Professional (MVP) for Visual Studio ALM and Scrum Alliance Certified ScrumMaster. He focuses on the continuous improvement of the software development lifecycle. He works as the Lead DevOps Engineer at Xameriners, Singapore. Chaminda is an active Microsoft Community Contributor (MCC) who has been recognized for his contributions in Microsoft forums, TechNet galleries, wikis, and Stack Overflow, and he contributes extensions to Azure DevOps Server and Services (formerly VSTS/TFS) in the Microsoft Visual Studio Marketplace. He also contributes to other open source projects on GitHub. Chaminda has published three books with Apress, and he blogs at https:// chamindac.blogspot.com/.



Pushpa Herath is a DevOps engineer at Datavail Lanka (Pvt) Ltd. She is an author, blogger, and speaker at public technical events and has many years of experience administering, configuring, and coaching Azure DevOps and test automation engineering. Pushpa blogs about technology at https://devopsadventure.blogspot.com/. Pushpa has experience with Microsoft tools (C#, Azure DevOps, SQL Server, Azure Platform Services) and other DevOps tools (Octopus, Jira, Jenkins). She is also the coauthor of *Hands-On Functional Test Automation*, published by Apress.

About the Technical Reviewer



Mittal Mehta has 15 years of IT experience and currently works as a configuration manager. He has worked in the TFS, C#, Navision, build-release, Azure DevOps, automation, and configuration areas for the past eight years using Microsoft technologies.

Acknowledgments

We are thankful for all the mentors who have encouraged and helped us during our careers and who have provided us with so many opportunities to gain the maturity and the courage we needed to write this book.

We would also like to thank our friends and colleagues who have helped and encouraged us in so many ways.

Last, but in no way least, we owe a huge debt to our families, not only because they have put up with late-night typing, research, and our permanent air of distraction, but also because they have had the grace to read what we have written. Our heartfelt gratitude is offered to them for helping us make this dream come true.

Introduction

Technology is evolving faster than ever before, and modern software is expanding into each and every industry and sector in society. Most businesses and people's day-to-day lives are closely intertwined with technology and software. To come up with innovative solutions for the software needs of modern industry, it is vital for software firms to continuously improve their software delivery processes.

The continuous improvement of software delivery processes requires the work being carried out to be tracked, effectively providing traceability and visibility. Predictability plays a key role in the success of this work and is essential for identifying trends or work patterns in teams, risks, and bottlenecks, and for addressing them in a timely manner with proper capacity, risk management, and skill planning.

Azure Boards comes with Kanban boards, backlogs, team dashboards, and custom reporting to help you turn an idea into a working piece of software. Comprehensive traceability is available with flexible work item tracking, allowing you to plan your work in iterations/sprints, and Azure Boards allows you to track your work from idea to the completion of implementing the idea. Azure Boards—in combination with Azure repos, pipelines, artifacts, and tests—offers visibility and traceability in every step of the software delivery process.

As the first book in the Hands-on Azure DevOps series, *Hands-on Azure Boards* covers the capabilities of Azure Boards comprehensively. We describe the features of the built-in templates that you can use to run your software delivery teams with Agile, Scrum, or CMMI processes. We give hands-on lessons for configuring Azure Boards to behave in the way you want and to emit the information you need, including when customizing and building your own process workflows. These lessons will give you a broader and in-depth understanding of the tool. Advanced topics include administering and setting up a command-line interface, using a REST API for custom reporting or any other needs, setting up security and permissions, and setting up and managing small to large teams. *Hands-on Azure Boards* is the book that project managers/Scrum masters, team members, and anyone involved in the software delivery process can use as a day-to-day reference manual to improve the way they work. You can use it to convert your software delivery process to a real implementation using the Azure Boards capabilities that are available in the Azure DevOps on-premises servers and services.

CHAPTER 1

Getting Started with Azure Boards

The objective of this chapter is to get you started with Azure Boards in Azure DevOps. You'll start by creating a new Azure DevOps organization. You'll learn about different process templates and get a good overall understanding of Azure Boards in this chapter before diving into more details in the coming chapters.

Lesson 1-1. Creating an Azure DevOps Organization

This lesson explains how to create a new Azure DevOps organization.

Prerequisites: You need to have a Microsoft account (https://account.microsoft. com/account).

Go ahead and create a new Azure DevOps project by following these steps:

1. Go to dev.azure.com. If you have a Microsoft account, you can log in by clicking "Sign in to Azure DevOps." Otherwise, you can use the "Start free" option. See Figure 1-1.



Azure DevOps

Plan smarter, collaborate better, and ship faster with a set of modern dev services.



Figure 1-1. Azure DevOps login page

- 2. After logging in to Azure DevOps or going through start free process, you can create a new DevOps organization. Click new organization after logging in.
- 3. Give the new organization a name and select the organization region from the drop-down. The region defines the primary Azure region for the Azure DevOps organization being created. However, your data is replicated to other Azure data centers to assure high availability. You can see that the organization name is sldevop in this example. After entering the relevant details, click the Continue button to create an organization. See Figure 1-2.

Almost don	e	
Name your Azure	DevOps organization	1*
dev.azure.com/	sldevop	
We'll host your pr	ojects in *	
Control LIS	~	0
Central 05		

Figure 1-2. Naming the organization

This will take about a minute, and then you will be redirected to the start page of the new Azure DevOps organization.

In this lesson, you created a new Azure DevOps organization to be used in the rest of the lessons in the book.

Lesson 1-2. Creating a Public/Private Agile Project

In this lesson, we will discuss how to create private and public projects with Agile process templates. When you create a new DevOps project, you can create the project as a public project or a private project. If the project is private, only authorized people can access the project. If you create a public project, anyone with a Microsoft account can access the project, which is really useful when you are working on open source projects.

Prerequisites: You need to have an Azure DevOps organization.

Let's create a private project with Agile as the process template and Git as the version control system.

- 1. Go to dev.azure.com and log in with your Microsoft account credentials.
- 2. In the Organizations section, select the organization you created in the previous lesson.

- 3. When you access a newly created organization, you will get the project creation page as the start page by default. If there are projects available in an organization, you will see the Create Project button in the top-right corner of the Azure DevOps start page.
- Enter the project name, select Private, set Git as the version control system, and set Agile as the work item process. Then click "Create project" to create the project. See Figure 1-3.

TheDarkKnight		
Description		
Visibility		
⊕	A	۲
Public	Private	
Anyone on the internet can view the project. Certain features like TFVC are not supported.	Only people you give access to will be able to view this project.	
	∧ Advanced	
Version control ⑦	Work item process ⑦	
Git	 Agile 	~

Create a project to get started

Figure 1-3. Creating a new DevOps project

Now you have created a new DevOps project with the Agile process template. Azure DevOps provide four process templates. Those are Basic, Agile, CMMI, and Scrum. You can select the preferred process template from the "Work item process" drop-down list when creating a new project. This lesson explained how to create a new Azure DevOps project with Git as the version control system and Agile as the process template. Furthermore, you learned it is possible to create projects with Basic, CMMI, and Scrum process models. Let's learn more about these project templates in the next lesson.

Lesson 1-3. Comparing Project Templates

Azure DevOps facilitates four main process models: Basic, Scrum, Agile, and CMMI. You can discover the differences between these process models by referring to the comparative explanation in this lesson.

Work Item Types

Before understanding what a process model is, we have to define work items in Azure DevOps. A *work item* is any type of work you do as a team member or as a team. A *work item type* (WIT) in Azure DevOps comes with fields and a specific workflow to enable you to track the work being carried out by the team. Feature, User Story/Requirement/ Product Backlog Item, Bug, Task, Test Case, and so on, are some of the default available work item types. You can even introduce your own work item types and alter the behavior of the existing default work item types.

Process Templates

With this understanding, let's look at the available process templates in Azure DevOps.

- 1. **Basic**: Most light-weight process models provide three work item types as default work items: Epic, Issue, and Task. A team that wants to get started simply and model the process as they continue to work with Azure DevOps can choose this template.
- 2. Scrum: This template is best suited for the teams that follow Scrum as their process model. Bugs are tracked along with product backlog items by default in the Scrum template, and you can configure Boards to track bugs in the same level as task work item level. Tasks in this process template track only the remaining work.

- 3. **Agile**: Teams that are using Agile methodologies including Scrum can use this process model. By default, bugs are tracked with the task level in the Agile template, but you can configure them to be tracked with the user stories level.
- 4. **CMMI**: Teams following the capability maturity model and using a more formal process to track change requirements can use this template to track their work. Requirements, change requests, reviews, and risks can be tracked, enabling the teams to follow and adhere to the CMMI process standards.



Figure 1-4 shows a process template overview comparing each process model.

Figure 1-4. Process model overview

In the Agile and CMMI process models, you can configure the Bug work item to be tracked along with the user story/requirement level, similar to the Scrum template's default Bug work item's tracking behavior. In the Scrum process, you can set bugs to be on the same level as tasks. These configurations will be discussed in later chapters when you learn how to configure Azure Boards in hands-on lessons.

There are a common set of work item types shared in all process templates. For managing tests, there are the following work item types: Test Plan, Test Suite, Test Case Shared Steps and Shared Parameters. Feedback Request and Feedback Review are used to manage feedback on the project. Code Review Request and Code Review Response are two work item types that support managing code reviews. All these different types of work items will be discussed in relevant areas of this book.

Work Item State Flows

Work items in each process model contain a state field representing the current state of the work item. The Basic template contains the simplest state workflow out of the four process templates available. Figure 1-5 shows the states in each template by default. You can introduce your own states and modify templates with inherited templates; this will be discussed in Chapter 5 of this book.

Worl	Workflow States			
	Basic	Scrum	Agile	СММІ
States	To DoDoingDone	 New Approved Committed Done Removed 	 New Active Resolved Closed Removed 	 Proposed Active Resolved Closed



The work item states are categorized into state categories in Azure DevOps. Each process template contains the Proposed, In Progress, and Completed state categories. The Removed state category is used in the Scrum and Agile templates. The Resolved state category is used in the Agile and CMMI templates. Figure 1-6 shows state categories used in each template and the states assigned to them by default. You can see the Resolved state used in both the Resolved category and the In Progress category in Agile and CMMI. This is because in the context of a bug, the Resolved state is used in the Resolved state category in both templates. However, User Story/Requirement in both templates has the Resolved state under the In Progress category.



Figure 1-6. State categories

In addition to the workflow states when transitioning between the work item states, you can select a reason for state transition. Implementation Started is one such reason when you move a work item from the New to Active state. These reasons are further explaining the state transition. You'll learn more about the state transitions in each work item type in later chapters of this book. Figure 1-7 shows default transitions of the User Story work item in the Agile template.



Figure 1-7. User Story default transitions

In this lesson, we identified the key differences between the process templates in Azure DevOps. This information will be useful when you are choosing the right template for your team.

Lesson 1-4. Navigating Azure Boards

You can navigate through almost all the main pages in Azure DevOps with the left-side menu. This lesson will give you a brief understanding of the available features in the Overview and Boards sections.

Hover your mouse over the Overview menu item in the left-side menu. Then you will see Summary, Dashboard, and Wiki in the model pane. We'll now identify the features in each area.

Summary Page

You can get to the Azure DevOps Summary page by going to the left menu of an Azure DevOps project, selecting the Overview menu, and selecting the Summary submenu item. See Figure 1-8.



Figure 1-8. Summary submenu item

On the Summary page, you will find five sections. See Figure 1-9.



Figure 1-9. Summary page

1. *Edit project name*: Click the pencil icon next to the project name. See Figure 1-10. After clicking the pencil icon, you will navigate to the project's edit page.



Figure 1-10. Project's edit pencil icon

On the project's edit page, you will find the sections shown in Figure 1-11.

TheD	arkKnight		Т
Descrip	otion		
		-	
		0	
Demo	s AgileCustom	0	
/isibili	ty		
A Priv	vate ~	0	
his dete	mines who can view this project. Learn more about project visibility.		
Save	0		
Add	ect administrators 🧔 nilmini herath phreath@yahoo.com administrator		
Add Azun	ect administrators 🥥 nilmini herath pherath@yaboo.com administrator e DevOps services © Boards		Con
Add	ect administrators 🥥 nilmini herath prherath@yaboo.com administrator e DevOps services © Boards Flexible agile planning with boards and cross-product is	sues	On
NH Add Azun	ect administrators nilmini herath prheath@yaleoc.com administrator e DevOps services Boards Flexible agile planning with boards and cross-product is Repos Repos Repos, pull requests, advanced file management and mo	sues	On On
Add Azur	ect administrators imini herath pherath@yaboo.com administrator e DevOps services Boards Flexible agile planning with boards and cross-product is Repos Repos, pull requests, advanced file management and mo Pipelines	sues	on On
Add Azur 22	ect administrators milmini herath prheath@yaboo.com administrator e DevOps services Boards Flexible agile planning with boards and cross-product is Repos Repos, pull requests, advanced file management and mo Pipelines Build, manage, and scale your deployments to the cloud	sues	On On On
Add Azur Azur	ect administrators imini herath prive adviguebos com administrator e DevOps services Boards Flexible agile planning with boards and cross-product is Repos Repos, pull requests, advanced file management and mo Pipelines Build, manage, and scale your deployments to the cloud Artifacts Continuous delinear with artifact faces rectaining hit of	sues pre	• On • On • On
Add Azun	ect administrators imini herath prheath@yaleoc.com administrator e DevOps services Boards Fleable gale planning with boards and cross-product is Repos. Repos. pull requests, advanced file management and mo Pipelines Build, manage, and scale your deployments to the cloud Artifacts Continuous delivery with artifact feeds containing NuGe Universal, and Python packages	sues pre t, npm, Maven,	 On On On On
Add Azur 22 22	ect administrators inimini herath pherath@yaboo.com administrator e DevOps services bards Fiexble agile planning with boards and cross-product is Repos Repos, pull requests, advanced file management and mo Pipelines Build, manage, and scale your deployments to the cloud Artifacts Continuous delivery with artifact feeds containing NuGe Universal, and Python packages Test Plans Sunctured manual testing at any scale for teams of all to	sues pre t, npm, Maven, zes	On
Add Azun 22 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	ext administrators	sues pre t, npm, Maven, zes	On On On On On On On On On
Add Azun 22 22	ect administrators administrators administrators administrator administ	sues ore t, npm, Maven, zes	 On On On On On

Figure 1-11. Project properties edit page

- A. Edit the project name.
- B. Add or edit the project description.
- C. View the process template.

- D. Change the project visibility options to private or public.
- E. Save the changes.
- F. Add project administrators.
- G. Remove services from the project by clicking the button in front of each service. After clicking the button, the Remove Service pop-up will appear. As an example, if you click the On button in front of Boards, a pop-up will open that has a Remove Boards button on it. See Figure 1-12. After clicking the Remove Boards button, the Boards service will be removed from the project.

Remove service

Turning off Boards hides this service for all members of this project. If you choose to enable this service later, all your existing data will be available.



Figure 1-12. Remove service pop-up for Boards service

- H. Delete the project by clicking the Delete button.
- 2. **Project welcome message section**: You can see a welcome message and buttons to navigate through the project. This area has buttons to navigate to boards, repos, pipelines, test plans, and artifacts. Also, there is a link to navigate to the service management area of a project's edit page. See Figure 1-13.



Figure 1-13. Project welcome message section

- 3. **Project Status section**: This area displays project progress charts. You will explore this in later chapters and in the other books in the series.
- 4. **Members**: The names of all the project members are displayed here. See Figure 1-14. It is possible to view more information about each member by clicking the name of the member.



Figure 1-14. Names of project members

5. Add new members: This section has two buttons. The gray button indicates the current project type. This can be either private or public. The second button is the Invite button. See Figure 1-15.

🔒 Private	ጵዩ Invite
-----------	-----------

Figure 1-15. Current project type and Invite button

After clicking the Invite button, the left model pane will open. You can add and search for names of team members. Then click the Add button to add members to the dashboard. See Figure 1-16.

Search and add users to your project	
Add users or groups *	
Search users	
Add to team(s) *	
TheDarkKnight Team ×	

Figure 1-16. Inviting members to the project

Dashboards

Dashboards help you visualize the progress of the project. Azure DevOps provides a facility to create multiple dashboards. You can add default widgets and additional widgets from the marketplace to visualize the project progress in these dashboards. Let's look at Figure 1-17 to understand the options in the dashboards.



Figure 1-17. Azure DevOps dashboard

- 1. Add new dashboards, navigate between dashboards, search dashboards, and browse all dashboards options that are available.
- 2. The team profile settings in the right-side model pane will open when you click this icon. In the team settings section, you can see the names of the project members and navigate through the project. There is a capability to navigate to boards, backlogs, sprints, and dashboards. See Figure 1-18.



Figure 1-18. Team settings

3. By clicking the edit button, it is possible to add, edit, move, or resize the dashboard widgets. Azure DevOps provides a facility to add marketplace widgets, as well as charts generated using the project queries, to the team dashboard. See Figure 1-19.

Add, edit, move or resize your widgets Done Editing	Add Widget		
	Search widgets		
	Assigned to Me Allows team members to quickly view and manage work assigned to them.		
	Build History Shows the build history of a percent		
	Chart for Test Plans Don't see a widget? Explore the Extension Gallery		
	Add		

Figure 1-19. Adding widgets

- 4. You can refresh the dashboard by clicking this refresh icon.
- 5. After click this cogwheel icon dashboard setting, the window opens. You can change dashboard settings through the pop-up.
- 6. Change the page view to full-screen mode.
- 7. In fresh projects, you will find this button. This will help you to navigate to the widget management area mentioned in Figure 1-19.

Wiki

Azure DevOps has a wiki section that provides a facility to create your own documentation. There are two options for creating a wiki. See Figure 1-20. This lesson explains how to create your own wiki. We'll discuss how to publish code as a wiki option in a future book (Azure Repos) of this book series. Publishing code as a wiki is a mechanism that allows you to create a wiki by referring to .md files in the repository folder.



Figure 1-20. Adding a wiki page

After clicking the Create Wiki button, you will be navigated to the wiki's edit page. See Figure 1-21.



Figure 1-21. Wiki's edit page

- 1. The wiki has three header options. You can click the down arrow and then select the headers.
- 2. Add bold text to the wiki.
- 3. Add italic text to the wiki.
- 4. Add a link to the wiki.

- 5. Add code to the wiki.
- 6. Add a bulleted list to the wiki.
- 7. Add a numbered list to the wiki.
- 8. Add a task list to the wiki.
- 9. Add a table to the wiki.
- 10. Mention work items in the wiki.
- 11. Insert files to the wiki.
- 12. Add HTML to the wiki.
- 13. After clicking more options, you will be able to see other available features of the wiki.

The options are as follows:

- Insert table of contents
- Insert videos
- Insert Yaml tags
- Insert formulas
- Insert team members
- Insert query results
- 14. You can select "Edit only view," "Preview only view," or "Edit and preview view."
- 15. Save the wiki.
- 16. You can add a new page from the section display after clicking the side pane named Pages.

So far, you have navigated through the submenu items under Overview. The next section will navigate you through the Boards menu. You can find work items, boards, backlogs, sprints, and queries as submenu items of Boards.

Work Items

You can find the Work Items submenu item under Boards of the Azure DevOps project. See Figure 1-22.



Figure 1-22. Work Items submenu item in the side menu

Let's identify the features available under Work Items. See Figure 1-23.



Figure 1-23. Work Items page

- 1. You can filter work items using the filters available in this drop-down. The following are the filtering options:
 - Recently updated: Displays recently updated work items
 - Assigned to me: Displays work items assigned to the specified team member who is logged in
 - Following: Displays work items that are marked as Following
 - **Mentioned**: Displays work items that have discussions with the mentioned tag
 - **My activity**: Displays work items with details of activities the member performs on each work item
 - **Recently completed**: Displays work items that belong to the Completed category
 - Recently created: Displays work items created recently
- 2. You can add new work items from this section. When you click the down arrow, you can see work item types in the drop-down. This drop-down has list of work items available in the current process template. In an Agile process, you can see the following work items:
 - Bug
 - Epic
 - Feature
 - Issue
 - Task
 - Test Case
 - User Story
- 3. You can navigate to queries by clicking this button.
- After clicking the column options button, the left-side model pane will open. You can add or remove columns from here. Furthermore, you can change the column order. See Figure 1-24.

Column options

Add or remove columns. To change the column order, drag and drop a field, or use the keyboard shortcuts, Ctrl+Up or Ctrl+Down.

ID	\sim	×
Title	\sim	×
Assigned To	\sim	×
State	\sim	×
Area Path	\sim	×
Tags	\sim	×
Comment Count	 \sim	×

Figure 1-24. Column options pane

- 5. You can delete work items, and the recycle bin will contain the deleted items.
- 6. You can see the view option. This allows you to turn on the button to view completed work items.
- 7. This allows you to view filters. You will find the following filter options available:
 - Filter by keyword: Filters work items by keywords
 - Types: Filters work items by work item type
 - Assigned to: Filters work items by assigned user
 - State: Filters work items by states
 - Area: Filters work items by area
 - Tags: Filters items by tags

8. You can change the screen size from here. This allows you to move to full-screen mode.

Boards

You can see the work items in board view here. By default you can see four columns in the board that represent each stage of the work item lifecycle in the Agile process. Let's identify features on the Boards page. See Figure 1-25.



Figure 1-25. Boards page

1. In front of the team name you can see the down arrow to open a drop-down. From this drop-down you can select the teams available in the project and search teams. See Figure 1-26.



Figure 1-26. Teams drop-down

- 2. You can navigate to a backlog view of the work items by clicking this icon.
- 3. You can open the team settings window by clicking this icon.
- 4. The velocity chart provides you with the team's velocity in each sprint, based on the size of backlog items that were completed during a given sprint. For each sprint, a bar is shown in the chart. We will discuss this more in Chapter 6.
- 5. The cumulative flow chart provides an area graph of the number of work items in each state in a specific time period. We will further discuss this in Chapter 6.
- 6. You can select different work item types from this drop-down to filter work items on the board. By default you will find the User Story and Feature types only.
- You can use this view option to turn on the live updates option. If you enable live updates, changes happening to work items elsewhere will be automatically updated in your board.
- 8. You can add filters to filter work items on the board. The following are the available filter options:
 - Filter by keyword: Filters using keywords such as part of a work item name
 - Type: Filters by work item type such as Feature
 - Assigned to: Filters the values by giving a team member name
 - **Tags**: Filters values with tag values
 - Iteration: Filters values belonging to a selected iteration
 - Area: Filters values belonging to each team
 - Parent work item: Filters using a parent work item type
- 9. You can move to the settings page by clicking this icon.
- 10. You can move to full-screen mode of the page with this button.
- 11. You can hide the new column with this arrow.
- 12. You can hide the closed column with this arrow.
- 13. You can add a new work item.
- 14. You can filter the values in the first column only.

Backlogs

The backlog provides you with the list of backlog items. You can start by adding work items to the backlog. By default, the product backlog level is selected as the backlog level. You can change to portfolio backlog levels using the drop-down in the top right of the Backlogs page. See Figure 1-27.



Figure 1-27. Backlog levels

The backlog allows you to select a few options to enable different views. See Figure 1-28.



Figure 1-28. Viewing options for the backlog

- 1. This allows you to show the parent hierarchy of the backlog items. When this is on, Forecasting cannot be switched on.
- 2. Forecasting allows you to forecast how many iterations it would take to deliver the backlog item depending on the work item size and the velocity of the team. We will discuss this in later chapters of this book.
- 3. This setting defines whether to show the In Progress state backlog items in the backlog view.
- 4. This setting shows the parent portfolio backlog in the side pane.
- 5. This setting shows iterations in the side pane. This is easier when planning iterations because you can drag items from the backlog to the iterations.
- 6. You can turn off the side pane.

Filter supports filtering work items by a few useful fields or by keyword search, which searches the title of backlog items. See Figure 1-29.

🖀 CompareScrum Team 🗸 🏅	r 4 ⁹	to the second se
+ New Work Item ④ View as Boa	rd 🤌 Column Options \cdots	🗏 Backlog items 🗸 🚊 🔽 🛞 🖍
	Types \lor Assigned to \lor States \lor Tags \lor \lt \diamondsuit X	Planning X Drag and drop work items to include them in a sprint.

Figure 1-29. Filter backlog

Several other useful options are available on the backlog page. Let's take a quick look at them. See Figure 1-30.



Figure 1-30. Options in the backlog page

- 1. You can add new work items to the backlog.
- 2. This allows you to select different teams. We will discuss multiple teams in same team project in Chapter 7 of this book.
- 3. Add the current team to the favorites list.
- 4. View the Team Settings pane, which pops up on the right side.
- 5. Switch to the Boards view.
- 6. Open column options in the side pane of the Backlog view. You can add/remove columns or reorder them by dragging and dropping.
- 7. Create a query for a backlog.
- 8. E-mail selected work items from the backlog.
- 9. Switch backlog view levels.
- 10. The velocity chart provides you with the team's velocity in each sprint, based on the size of backlog items that were completed during a given sprint. For each sprint, a bar is shown in the chart. We will discuss this in Chapter 6.
- 11. The cumulative flow chart provides an area graph of the number of work items in each state over a specific time period. We will discuss this in Chapter 6.
- 12. These are the view options that we discussed earlier.
- 13. These are the filters we discussed earlier.
- 14. Settings of boards. We will discuss this in Chapter 4.
- 15. Expand the backlog view to full-screen.

Sprints

The Sprints page allows you to view the previous, current, and future sprints. Let's take a quick look at the options available in the Sprints page. See Figure 1-31.

C	CompareScrum +	D. CompareScrum Team) 5 6		No it	eration dates	0		7	
2	Overview	Taskboard Backlog Capacity	+ New Work Item		<u>8</u>), Sprint 1 🗸	-	Y	0	2
	Boards		To Do	In Progress	Done		•	•		
0	Work Items	1 2 pbi1								
m	Boards	State New								
3	Backlogs		±.							
D.	Sprints									
₹.	Queries									

Figure 1-31. Sprints page options

- 1. This shows the task board view where stories/ (Product Backlog Items) PBIs/bugs of the sprint/iteration will be shown with the child tasks.
- 2. This is the backlog view for the sprint/iteration work items.
- 3. This is the capacity for team members. You can define Activity as the daily capacity of team members and set the days for the individuals or for the team. See Figure 1-32.



Figure 1-32. Team capacity

- 4. You can switch teams when there are multiple teams in the project.
- 5. You can add the team to the favorites list.
- 6. Open the team settings side pane.
- 7. Add new work items to the sprint/iteration. If bugs are set to use at the User Story/PBI/Requirement level, you can add bugs to the sprint as well. See Figure 1-33. We will discuss configuring the bug behavior in Chapter 3.



Figure 1-33. Adding an item to the sprint backlog

- 8. You can select the sprint/iteration to view.
- 9. This is a shortcut for setting dates for the iteration.
- 10. The view options (see Figure 1-34) for the Sprints page in the task board view allows you to group tasks by assigned person or by the parent backlog item. The group by options are not available in the Sprints backlog view. The side pane provides two view options. "Work details" shows the capacity versus effort requirements when the capacity for the team is defined and tasks are added with remaining work. We will discuss details about capacity and remaining work in Chapter 2. The Planning option will show current and future sprints, allowing you to drag and drop work items for planning purposes.

	CHAPTER 1	GETTING STARTED WITH AZURE BOARDS
	🗘 Sprint 1 🗸 🚔 🍸	© 2
Done	Group by	
	People	
	✓ Backlog items	
	Side Pane Work details	
	Planning	
	✓ Off	

Figure 1-34. View options on the Sprints page

- 11. Filter allows you to filter and search work items.
- 12. This opens the settings for the team in the context of the task board view or sprint backlog. We will discuss these settings in Chapter 4.
- 13. This allows you to expand to full-screen mode.
- 14. This is the burndown chart for the sprint. We will discuss this in Chapter 6.
- 15. This is the backlog work item card in the task board view.
- 16. This allows you to add child tasks for a given backlog item.

Queries

Queries are useful for you to view and visualize your work items. You can write simple and complex queries in Azure DevOps. We will discuss queries in depth in Chapter 6. Let's just take a quick look at what is available on the Queries page for now. See Figure 1-35.



Figure 1-35. Queries page

- 1. Favorites displays queries marked as your favorites or team favorites.
- 2. This lists all queries.
- 3. You can start creating a new query.
- 4. You can create folders to group queries under My Queries or Shared Queries.
- 5. You can filter queries.
- 6. The My Queries ones are the only queries available to you.
- 7. The Shared Queries ones are available to all the members of the team to view.

The My Queries list has a few options in the context menu of each query. See Figure 1-36.

 My Queries 	
Assigned to me	☆ …
	Run query 1
 Shared Queries 	🖉 Edit 2
No items in this folder.	👳 Rename
	× Delete 4

Figure 1-36. My Queries menu

- 1. Run the query.
- 2. Edit the query in the query editor. We will discuss queries in detail in Chapter 6.
- 3. Rename the query.
- 4. Delete the query.

In the Shared Queries area, a few additional menu options are available. See Figure 1-37.



Figure 1-37. Shared Queries menu

- 1. Add the query to the team's favorites.
- 2. Set up security for the shared query.
- 3. Add a query to the dashboard for visualization purpose.

In this lesson, we gave you an overview of Azure Boards and its interface.

Lesson 1-5. Customizing Organization Settings

There are couple of organization-level settings in Azure DevOps that allow you to set up the behavior of the Azure DevOps organization. Let's look at the available options in this lesson.

You can navigate to an organization's settings page by clicking "Organization settings" in the Azure DevOps organization home page. See Figure 1-38.



Figure 1-38. Getting to the organization settings

On the Overview tab you can change the organization name if required. However, this should be done with caution as the URL of the organization gets changed with the name change. A redirection from an old URL will not happen, and users have to manually start using the new URL. This option is there to change the URL from https://orgname.visualstudio.com to https://dev.azure.com/orgname. By default,

any new organization uses the new URL pattern. The privacy policy URL can be set to your organization's data protection and privacy policy documentation URL. Time zone selection for the organization can be updated on the Overview page. The ownership of the organization can be transferred to another user who has access to the organization from the Overview tab. See Figure 1-39. If the organization is no longer required, you can delete the organization as well from the Overview page.

Organization Settings	Overview
General	Name
Overview	sldevop
	Use the new URL: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/
a ^R Users	Learn more about URLs
문 Billing	Privacy URL
& Auditing	
Global notifications	Learn more about the Privacy URL
& Usage	Description
Extensions	Add organization description
Azure Active Directory	
,	Time zone
Security	(UTC) Coordinated Universal Time
Policies	Pagian
A Permissions	Fast US 2
Boards	
Process	Save () Changes made will affect all projects and members of the organization
Pipelines	
प्र Agent pools	Organization owner
Teployment pools	nilmini herath pnherath@yahoo.com
Parallel jobs	
OAuth configurations	Change owner
Extensions	
7pace Timetracker	Delete organization This will affect all contents and members of this organization.

Figure 1-39. Overview tab on Organization Settings page

The Projects tab lists all the available team projects in the organization. You can rename a team project or delete a team project. Clicking New Project will allow you to create a new team project. See Figure 1-40.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organization	Settings / Proje	cts
Organization Settings	Projects		
General	New team project		
団 Overview	Project name	Process	Status
Projects	AgileTarget	Agile	Online
8 ⁸ Users	🔂 DemoGAB2019	GAB2019	Online
∀ Billing	😵 Scrum target	Scrum	Online
Q. Audition	TheDarkKnight	× Delete	line
Global notifications	😚 TheEndGame	I Rename	line

Figure 1-40. Projects tab

The Users tab will be described in Chapter 8 with security options.

The Billing tab lets you set up billing by connecting the Azure DevOps organization with an Azure subscription. See Figure 1-41. When the billing is set up, you are able to add paid extensions to Azure DevOps from the marketplace. We will discuss extensions in Chapter 10. The default available trial extension for test plans can be activated for a 30-day trial from this billing page.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organization Settings / Billing						
Organization Settings	Billing						
General							
団 Overview	Billing has not been set up for this org	anization. Access will be a	available up to free tier li	imits.			
Projects	Set up billing						
R ^A Users	Set up bining						
'무 Billing							
P≞ Auditing							
Global notifications	Pipelines for private projects	Free	Paid				
冬 Usage	MS Hosted CI/CD 🛤		0				
Extensions	Self-Hosted CI/CD	1	0				
Azure Active Directory	Visit parallel jobs for full details on	free ninelines and public	concurrency				
Security			concernency,				
Policies							
A Permissions	Boards, Repos and Test Plans	Free	Paid				
Roards	Basic users (2	5	0				
a) a		5	0				
	Basic + Test Plans 🖪	Start 30-day Tes	st Plans trial				
Pipelines							
प्र Agent pools							
T Deployment pools	Recources	Free	Used	Paid limit			
Parallel jobs	Resources		0.Ad	r dia mini			
OAuth configurations	Artifacts 🖻	2 GB*	0 GB	Free tier			
Extensions	Cloud-based load testing	20000 VUMs	0 VUMs	Free tier			
7pace Timetracker	*Organizations created before May	6, 2019 receive free stor	age for 12 months.				

Figure 1-41. Billing for Azure DevOps

The Auditing tab allows you to view the admin actions audit in the organization. The log can be filtered by a date range and can be downloaded in CSV and JSON formats. See Figure 1-42.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organiza	ation Settings / Auditing		✓ Search	¥.	ô 🥵	
Organization Settings	Auditing				🛓 Downlo	ad 🗸	
General				× 6/22/2019 12·31	PM - 6/23/2019 12:31 PM	×	
団 Overview				• 0/22/2010 12:01	1111 0/25/2015 12.51111		
Projects	Actor	Timestamp	Area	Category	Details		
x ^A Users	Chaminda	6/23/2019, 9:50:58 AM	Security	Modify	Permission "Iteration\Ed	it this node"	
눉 Billing	116.87.240.2	36	,		was set to allow for Cha	r Chaminda	
Pa Auditing					Chandrasekara		
Global notifications	Chaminda		Security	Modify	Permission "Iteration\Vi	ew permission	
ጼ Usage	116.87.240.2	36	,		for this node" was set to	allow for	
Extensions					Chaminda Chandraseka	ra	
Azure Active Directory	Chaminda		Security	Modify	Permission "Iteration\Cr	este child	
Security	116.87.240.2	36 0, 53, 2013, 3.50.50 AW	security	wouny	nodes" was set to allow Chandrasekara	for Chaminda	

Figure 1-42. Auditing

Global notifications let you disable organization-level notification subscriptions made by default. With the settings on this page, you can enable delivering notifications to member e-mails as a global policy. See Figure 1-43. This can be overridden at the project level. We will discuss notifications in detail in Chapter 4.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organization Settings / Global notifications ∇	Search	:≡ Ô				
Organization Settings	Q Notifications						
General	Default subscriptions Subscribers Statistics Settings ③ Help						
T Overview	Description		Туре				
Projects							
x ^R Users	Build						
' ⊭ Billing	Build completes	…	Build completed				
Pa Auditing	build complexes		fail history				
Global notifications	Code (Git) View						
& Usage	O4 Pull request reviewers added or removed		Pull request				
Extensions	Notifies the team when it is added or removed as a reviewer for a pull request	Ð	(any project)				
Azure Active Directory	Pull request completion failures Pull request completion failures	\oplus	Pull request (any project)				
Security	Pull request changes	æ	Pull request				
Policies	ô ô Notifies the team when changes are made to a pull request the team is a reviewer for	÷	(any project)				
A Permissions	A comment is left on a pull request	0	Pull request comment (any project)				

Figure 1-43. Global notifications

The Usage tab will show the usage of Azure DevOps with several filter capabilities. You can filter for time period, user, and so on, to view usage details. See Figure 1-44.

Usage						
Usage By User \vee C Re	fresh 🗟 Save ? Help				Ø Col	umn options 🍸
∇ Filter by keywords	TFS (+2) 🗸 Last 2	14 hours V All statu:	ses \vee TSTU minimum	😣 nilmi	ini herath X	🗙 🗸 Apply
Showing 197 results						
User	User agent	Time range	Service	Application	Command	Status
👐 nilmini herath	Mozilla/5.0 (Windows NT 10.0; Win64; x64	6/22/2019 9:45 PM - 9:50 PM	TFS (https://dev.azure.c,	Web Platform	ms.vss-admin-web.proj	Normal
👦 nilmini herath	Mozilla/5.0 (Windows NT 10.0; Win64; x64	6/22/2019 10:10 PM + 10:15 PM	TFS (https://dev.azure.c	Web Platform	ms.vss-admin-web.proj	Normal
ໜ nilmini herath	Mozilla/5.0 (Windows NT 10.0; Win64: x64	6/22/2019 4:45 PM - 4:50 PM	TFS (https://dev.azure.c	Framework	ContributionHierarchyQ	Normal
Ne nilmini herath	Mozilla/5.0 (Windows NT 10.0; Win64; x64	6/22/2019 10:05 PM - 10:10 PM	TFS (https://dev.azure.c	Web Platform	ms.vss-admin-web.proj	Normal

Figure 1-44. Usage

We will discuss the Extensions tab in Chapter 10. The Azure Active Directory tab lets you associate an Azure DevOps organization with your company's Azure Active Directory. If your organization has been created with an organization user, then it will be automatically linked with the organization's Azure Active Directory. However, you can associate an Azure DevOps organization that is created with a Microsoft account to a company Azure Active Directory. Before associating, you need to transfer the ownership of the Azure DevOps organization to a user from the company who has access to the Azure Active Directory of the company. For further information on how to do this, you can refer to http://chamindac.blogspot.com/2019/05/join-personal-azure-devopsorganization.html.

We will discuss security policies and permissions at the Azure DevOps organization level in Chapter 8 of this book. Other organization settings will be covered in the relevant books of the series. For example, agent pools will be covered in the *Hands-on Azure Pipelines* book.

In this lesson, we discussed a few organization-level settings that are useful to set up the behavior of the Azure DevOps organization.

Lesson 1-6. Previewing Features and Themes

The Azure DevOps services often get released with preview features. You can enable such features for yourself or can enable some of these features for your organization. Additionally, you can opt to use the Light or Dark theme in Azure DevOps. Let's look at how to set up these options.

Clicking your profile avatar at the top left of Azure DevOps will show a menu. In this menu you can click "'Preview features" to see any available preview features. The Theme menu item can be used to open the theme settings. See Figure 1-45.



Figure 1-45. Preview features and themes

Once you click "Preview features," a pane will open where you can enable or disable preview features for your account or for the organization. See Figure 1-46.

Preview features	×
The following preview features are availab Help us make them better!	le for your evaluation.
for me [Chaminda Chandrasekara] 🗸	
for me [Chaminda Chandrasekara]	On
for this organization [sldevop]	for custom reporting.
Enable modern search	On
Enable a more performant search page.	
Experimental Themes	Off Off
Adds an early preview of various themes to panel.	o the Theme management
Multi-stage pipelines	Off
Enables new multi-stage experiences for p	ipelines.
New build result page	On

Figure 1-46. Preview features

In the theme settings, you can select one of the available themes, and it will be applied to you. See Figure 1-47.

Choose your 1	theme		×
Default themes			A
Dark	Light		
Custom themes			
Blue	Dark editor	Fall	
Green	Quiet	Red	
Preview themes			
High Contrast (dark)	Neptune	Red (dark)	

Figure 1-47. Themes

In this lesson, you learned how to enable preview features and changed themes based on your preferences.

Summary

In this chapter, you explored how to get started by creating an Azure DevOps organization. We explained how to create team projects with different templates and compared the process models/templates to give you an understanding of the capabilities of Azure Boards in supporting typical software development process models such as Agile, Scrum, and CMMI. In addition, we discussed the Basic process model so as to help your team to get started in the simplest way possible with Azure Boards. Further, we discussed how to customize the organization settings, how to enable and disable preview features, and how to use themes.

We gave you a quick overview of all the areas available in Azure Boards and in the Overview section. You now have an overall understanding of Boards for diving deep into each area in the coming chapters. In the next chapter, we will discuss how to set up a team project in a simple way to get you started with Azure Boards in the context of a small team.

CHAPTER 2

Setting Up a Team Project

The objective of this chapter is to help you create an Azure DevOps project and use Azure Boards to plan and deliver work. The initial preparation involves adding team members, setting up areas and iterations, and planning team capacity. By the end of this chapter, you will have a thorough understanding of the initial setup requirements in a team project of Azure Boards.

Lesson 2-1. Creating a Team

As the starting point, let's look at how to create a new team in a team project. We covered how to set up a new team project in the previous chapter.

Prerequisites: You need to have a Microsoft account and a new Azure DevOps team project in an Azure DevOps organization where you are the administrator.

In an Azure DevOps project, you can create a new team in the Settings section. Go to the project settings and then select Teams in the General section. You will see the "New team" link. Click the link to add a new team. See Figure 2-1. In addition, you will be able to see the existing teams in this Teams section.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheDarkKnight /	Settings	
TheDarkKnight +	Project Settings > Tean	ns	
Overview	∨ General	Teams	
The second secon	Overview	3 New team しひ	
boards	Teams 2	Team Name ↑ Members	Description
😢 Repos	Security	HeDarkKnight Team 3	The default project team.
Pipelines	Notifications		
	Service hooks		
A Test Plans	Dashboards		
Artifacts			
	✓ Boards		
	Project configuration		
	Team configuration		
	GitHub connections		
	✓ Pipelines		
	Service connections		
Project settings	Agent pools		

Figure 2-1. Adding a new team using the project settings

After clicking the "New team" link, you will see a pop-up menu that allows you to create a new team. Let's identify each section of the pop-up. See Figure 2-2.

reate r	new team	3
PROFILE	SETTINGS 5	
	Team name	
	Dev Team 1	
1 * 1	Description	
	Development team area	1
	Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automation inherit permissions.	tically
	[TheDarkKnight]\Contributors	3
	Team area	_
	4 Create an area path with the name of the team.	
	6 Create team Ca	ancel

Figure 2-2. Pop-up for creating a new team

- 1. Name the team.
- 2. Add a description of the team.
- 3. You can add the team to any existing security groups in this dropdown. Then members of this team will get the same permission as the selected group. See Figure 2-3.

[Т	heDarkKnight]\Contributors	*
То	(Do not add to a security group)	
le	[TheDarkKnight]\Build Administrators	
۲	[TheDarkKnight]\Contributors	
	[TheDarkKnight]\Project Administrators	
	[TheDarkKnight]\Readers	

Figure 2-3. Selecting a security group to add team permissions

- 4. If you want to create an area path with the team name, you can select this check box; otherwise, you can create a team without an area path. There may be situations where you need to add a team to an existing area path or to the root area path. So, you can deselect the check box and create a team without an area path but with a team name.
- 5. You can move to the Settings tab. You can add team administrators in this Settings section. After moving to the Settings tab, you will see the existing team administrators and also an Add link to add new team administrators. See Figure 2-4.



Figure 2-4. Adding new team administrators

After doing this, click the Add link, and a new pop-up will open. You can add administrators using this pop-up. You will be able to see the Identities drop-down list. You can select the project members from this drop-down who are going to become administrators of the new team. See Figure 2-5. Also, you can add new users who are not currently known to Azure DevOps services. After entering the sign-in address of a new user, you can click "Check name" to verify the validity of the entered name. After selecting or entering a team member, click "Save changes" to add the selected member as an administrator. ADD TEAM ADMINISTRATOR × Dev Team To add a user that is not currently known to Azure DevOps Services, type their sign in address. If the member is known, just type their display name. Identities Display Name or Microsoft Account • Chaminda.Chandrasekara@yahoo.com nilmini herath Project Collection Build Service (P28214472-5f52-4d9... pushpa.herath88@gmail.com Save changes Cancel

Figure 2-5. Selecting an existing project member as an administrator

If you click the Browse link, you can search and select existing project members to be administrators. See Figure 2-6. After selecting the members, you can click the Add button to add the selected members as administrators.

Search	٩ ١		
	Display Name	User name	
	Chaminda. Chandrasekara@yahoo.com	Chaminda. Chandrasek	
	nilmini herath	pnherath@yahoo.com	
	Project Collection Build Service (P282	Build\28214472-5f52-4	
	pushpa.herath88@gmail.com	pushpa.herath88@gm	

Figure 2-6. Searching for team members

- 6. Click the "Create team" button to create a team.
- 7. Click the Cancel button to cancel the creation of the team.

After creating a new team, you will be able to see the team in the Teams section of the Project Settings page. See Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7. Newly created team

In this lesson, you learned how to create a new team in an Azure DevOps project. You also understand that you can add multiple teams according to your project requirements.

Lesson 2-2. Defining Common Project Settings

Let's take a look at all the project settings in this lesson, while getting a detailed understanding of the sections not covered already in previous lessons.

Project Settings

To view the project settings, you can click "Project settings" (Figure 2-8) at the bottom left of the team project page. The Project Settings section has multiple areas.

¢	Azure DevOps	Book01Boards / CompareAgile	/ Settings
с	CompareAgile +	Project Settings > Overvie	2W
2	Overview	> General 2	Project details
•	Boards	> Boards 3	Name
8	Repos	> Pipelines 4	CompareAgile
S	Pipelines) Papar 6	Description
≛	Test Plans	repos o	
A	Artifacts	> Test <mark>6</mark>	
			Process
3	Project settings «		Agile

Figure 2-8. Project Settings

- 1. Navigate to the Project Settings section.
- 2. This area contains general settings.
- 3. This area contains settings related to Azure Boards.
- 4. This area contains settings related to Azure pipelines.
- 5. This area contains settings related to Azure repos.
- 6. This area contains settings related to testing.

Let's take a look at the General and Boards sections as they are related to Azure Boards. The other sections will be discussed in the next relevant books of the series.

General Project Settings

The General project settings are the common settings for a team project. This area has a few subsections. See Figure 2-9.



Figure 2-9. General settings

- 1. **Overview**: This section contains settings such as the project name and project visibility options to enable or disable Azure DevOps services for the project. We covered this section in detail in Chapter 1.
- 2. **Teams**: This section contains a list of teams available in the team project. You can create a new team by clicking "New team." Each team has a context menu that allows you to set the team as the default team of the team project or delete the default setting, if it is not the default one anymore. See Figure 2-10.

Project Settings > Teams					
 General 	Teams				
Overview	New team し				
Teams	Team Name 个	Me	mbers	Description	
Security	🚱 CompareAgile Team	1		The default proj	ect team.
Notifications	😵 TeamA 🛛	• 1			
Service hooks		Se	t team as pr	roject default	
Dashboards	-	× De	elete		

Figure 2-10. Teams section

- 3. **Security**: The security settings of the team project can be defined here. We will further discuss this in Chapter 8.
- 4. **Notifications**: This section lets you subscribe to notifications generated by Azure DevOps based on events that occur on work items, builds, and so on. See Figure 2-11.



Figure 2-11. Notifications

A. Allows you to create a new subscription for a notification/alert. Select the category of the alert and use the available template to set up the notification. See Figure 2-12.

 \wedge

New subscription		
Category	Template	^
Build	A work item is created	
Code (Git)	A work item is changed	
Code (TFVC)	A work item is deleted	
Work	A work item is restored	
Azure Artifacts	A work item is moved from this team project	
Extension management		
Release		
		*

Figure 2-12. New subscription

When you click Next, you will be able to add filter criteria for the notification and subscribe. We will discuss subscribing to a notification in Chapter 3.

B. The "Delivery setting" section lets you set the preferences of notification delivery for a given team. You can set up notifications to be delivered to a fixed e-mail address, deliver them to individual team members, or not deliver them at all. See Figure 2-13.

Delivery settings
Configure how to deliver notifications that target [CompareAgile]\CompareAgile Team
O Deliver to email address
Deliver to individual members
O Do not deliver
Save Cancel

Figure 2-13. "Delivery settings" section

- C. Help will take you to the Microsoft documentation on notifications.
- D. You can expand the interface to full-screen mode.
- E. This shows that a subscription for an alert is a default one. These cannot be edited. However, they can be disabled, as shown in F.
- F. You can enable or disable subscriptions.
- G. This opens the subscription context menu.
- H. You can view the default subscription details. Edit and delete options will be available for the custom subscriptions created.
- I. You can select a team for the team project.
- 5. Service hooks: These can be created for many services such as Microsoft Teams to allow you to notify those services based on an event in Azure DevOps. You can get notified at your own web URL as well. For that you can select Web Hooks in the dialog that appears after clicking "Create subscription" in the Service Hooks section. See Figure 2-14.

Project Settings > Serv	ice hooks	
 General 	Service Hooks	
Overview Teams Security	Integrate with your favorite services by r + Create subscription	notifying them when events happen in your project.
Notifications	NEW SERVICE HOOKS SUBSCRIPTION	×
Service hooks	Service	
Dashboards	Select a service to integrate with.	Discover more integrations
Boards Project configuration Team configuration GitHub connections Pipelines Service connections Agent pools	Gratana HipChat HockeyApp Jenkins Microsoft Teams MyGet Office 365 Slack Trello	 Web Hooks Provides event communication via HTTP Supported events: All events Supported actions: Post via HTTP Learn more about this service
Agent pools Retention and parallel jobs Release retention Repos</td <td>UserVoice Web Hooks Workplace Messaging Apps Zapier Zendesk</td> <td>•</td>	UserVoice Web Hooks Workplace Messaging Apps Zapier Zendesk	•
Repositories		Previous Next Test Finish Cancel
Policies		h.

Figure 2-14. Setting up service hooks

You can select from the many events available such as work item created, build completed, and so on. See Figure 2-15.

Trigger		
Select an event to trigger on and configu	re any filters.	
Trigger on this type of event		
Work item created	\checkmark	
 Remember that selected events are vis target service, even if they don't have related artifact. FILTERS 	permission to view the	
Area path ()	optional	
[Any]	\sim	
[Any] Work item type ①	optional	
[Any] Work item type ① [Any]	optional	
[Any] Work item type ^① [Any] E Links are added or removed ^①	optional	

Figure 2-15. Service hook trigger

Then you can provide the URL you want to post the event to, and any authentication information as well can be included to authorize posting to the URL. You can also filter the information sent and define the format for a web hook. For more information, refer to https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/devops/ service-hooks/services/webhooks?view=azure-devops.

6. **Dashboard**: This section lets you define the permission for team members to create, edit, and delete dashboards. Only a team administrator or higher-level user such as project admin or collection admin can change these settings. See Figure 2-16.



Figure 2-16. Dashboard permissions

Boards Settings

In the Boards settings, you can define iterations, areas at the team project level, and areas and iterations for a given team. In addition, there are a few common settings that can be set in the Boards section. Let's identify the subsections under Boards first. See Figure 2-17.



Figure 2-17. Boards settings

- 1. **Project configuration**: This section allows you to define areas and iterations for the team project. We'll discuss these in detail in the next two lessons of the chapter.
- 2. **Team configuration**: You are allowed to select team iterations and areas and a few other settings for a selected team here. Let's look at team settings that you can set in this section.
- 3. **GitHub connections**: This allows you to set up a connection so that you can work with Azure Boards while integrated into GitHub repos. We will discuss this further in Chapter **10**.

Team Configuration General Tab

On this tab, you can set general settings by selecting a team in the team project. See Figure 2-18.

В	ook01Boards / CompareAgile /	/ Settings	✓ Search	í (
	Project Settings > Team co	onfiguration $>$ CompareAgile Team \sim		
~	General	Boards This project is currently using the Agile process.	To customize your work item types, go t	o the process
	Overview	General Iterations Areas Templates		
	Teams			
	Security	Backlogs		
	Notifications	See only the backlogs your team manages. Backlog navigation levels		
	Service hooks	🔲 🏴 Epics 🛛 👩		
	Dashboards	 ✓ I[™] Features ✓ I[™] Stories 		
~	Boards	Working days		
	Project configuration	Capacity and burndown are based on the days your team	works.	
	Team configuration	Select days		
	GitHub connections	 ✓ Monday ✓ Tuesday ✓ Wednesday 		
\sim	Pipelines	Thursday		
	Service connections	 Friday Saturday 		
	Agent pools	Sunday		
	Retention and parallel jobs	Marchine with house		
	Release retention	Working with bugs Set your team's preference for how they manage bugs. Yo hierarchy and on backlogs and boards. Learn more about	our selection determines where bug the bug management setting.	is appear in the
\sim	Repos	Bugs are managed with requirements. ① (D)		
	Repositories	 Bugs are managed with tasks. () Bugs are not managed on backlogs and boards. () 		
	Policies			

Figure 2-18. Team settings, General tab

- A. Select a team.
- B. Select the backlog levels for the team.
- C. Define the workdays for the team.

D. Define how a bug work item should be used in the team. The options are to manage bugs in the same level with requirements/user stories/product backlog items, manage bugs with tasks, or not to show Bug work items in boards. We will discuss this in Chapter 3.

We will skip discussing the Iterations and Areas tabs as we will have separate lessons for them in this chapter.

Team Configuration Templates Tab

The Template tab allows you to create templates for work items in a selected team. Using the Template link, you can create new work items with predefined values as defined in the template. See Figure 2-19.



Figure 2-19. Team settings, Templates

- A. Select the team.
- B. Select the work item.
- C. Create a new template.
- D. This is the context menu of the template.
- E. Edit the template.

- F. Delete the template.
- G. Copy the link to create a work item with the template.
- H. Create a copy of the template and open up a new template create dialog with the selected template values.

In the new template create/edit template dialog, you can define a name and description for the template. You can select multiple fields and set values for them for the template in this dialog. Further, you can provide a comment that will be added as a discussion comment when the work item is created via the template-provided link. See Figure 2-20.

escripti - Add r	ion				
- Add r					
	new rield				
F	Field			Value	
- ×	Priority	~	=	1	~
- ×	Severity	\sim	=	1 - Critical	\sim
dd a co	mment				
Add a co This is a	mment Critical and Priority	One Bug			

Figure 2-20. Editing the template

You can copy the link and use it in any browser or application. The link will take you to the relevant work item create page with values from the template filled in automatically. See Figure 2-21.
Enter title			
B Unassigned	🖓 0 comments Add tag		
State New Reason New	Area CompareAgile		Deta
Repro Steps		Planning	
Click to add Repro Steps		Resolved Reason	
System Info Click to add System Info		Priority 1	
Discussion		Severity 1 - Critical Activity	
This is a Critical and Priori	ity One Bug	Effort (Hours)	

Figure 2-21. Creating a work item with template

4. We will discuss GitHub connections in Chapter 10.

In this lesson, you looked at the common general and board-related settings. These settings are important to get you started working with Azure Boards.

Lesson 2-3. Setting Up Areas

The area path in Azure DevOps helps you to modularize your work by grouping work items by product, feature, or business area. A new project will have a single root area corresponding to the project name as well as the default team that is created when a new team project is created.

Project Areas

To find the list of area paths available in the project, select "Project settings," select "Project configuration," and then select the Areas tab. You will be able to see all the available area paths of the project. See Figure 2-22.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheDarkKnight	/ Settings		€ Search	1= 🗇
TheDarkKnight	+ Project Settings > Pro	oject configuration			
 Overview Boards Repos Pipelines Test Plans Artifacts 	 General Overview Teams Security Notifications Service hooks Dashboards Y Boards Y Boards Project configuration GitHub connections Y Pipelines Service connections 	Boards This project Iterations Areas 3	t is currently using the Agile process. To custom eas for this project. These areas will be ur an is responsible for. Learn more about n. go to the default team's settings.	ibe your work item types, go to the process o sed by teams to determine what shows is customizing areas and iterations to	ustemilation page.
Project settings	Agent pools				

Figure 2-22. Area path section of project settings

You will be able to see the root area and all the added areas as child areas. You can add new child areas in this section. See Figure 2-23.



Figure 2-23. Areas list

- 1. When you select the subarea, this link will be enabled. It allows you to add another area in the same level as the selected item.
- 2. You can add a child item to a selected item.
- 3. You can expand one level.
- 4. You can collapse one level.

You can add new items using options in the pane that opens when click the three dots in front of the existing area name. See Figure 2-24.

Areas	Teams
 TheDarkKnight 	
Dev Team	••• Dev Team
	🖒 New 🚺
	D New child 2
	💉 Edit
	× Delete 4
	Security 5

Figure 2-24. Selected project area context menu

If you click the three dots in front of the root item, you will be able to see that the "New child" and Security items are the only items enabled. Let's identify each option in the pane.

1. Add a new item to the same level as the selected item. Click New, and a pop-up will open. You can name the new area path, and the default location is the root area. See Figure 2-25.

New area		×
QA Team		
Area name		
QA Team		
Location		
TheDarkKnight		
	Save and close	Cancel

Figure 2-25. Adding a new area path

- 2. Add a new child item to the selected item. After clicking this link, you will be able to see a pop-up similar to Figure 2-25.
- Click Edit to edit the name of the area path and change the parent item of the area path. After you click Edit, pop-up will open. It allows you to change the area path name and location. See Figure 2-26.

Edit area		>
Dev Team		
Area name		
Dev Team		
ocation TheDarkKnight		~
~ TheDarkKnight		
QA Team		
	Save and close	Cancel

Figure 2-26. Editing the area name and location

4. You can delete the area by clicking Delete. If you click Delete, you will see a pop-up message. You can delete an area by clicking the "Delete path" button in the pop-up, and any existing work item will be moved to the reassignment path selected, as shown in Figure 2-27.

Delete area			×
Dev Team			
You have chosen to delete this pa items, tests, or other items in the this path or any of its dependent Choose a path for reassignment of	th. If you delete it team project that paths will be reass of affected items	, any work reference signed.	
TheDarkKnight		\sim	
	Delete path	Cancel	
			1

Figure 2-27. Deleting an area

 You can control the permission of a given area using this option. When you click Security in the context menu, a security pop-up will open, which allows you to control the area permissions. See Figure 2-28.

 \times

+ Add Inheritance ▼		Shows information a	about the permissions	being granted to th	is identity
Search	Q	Create child not	des	Not set	
 Azure DevOps Groups 		Delete this node	2	Not set	
Project Collection Test Service Accounts		Edit this node		Not set	
Build Administrators		Edit work items	in this node	Not set	
Contributors		Manage test pla	ins	Not set	
Contributors		Manage test sui	tes	Not set	
Treaders Readers		View permission	ns for this node	Allow (inherite	d)
~ Users		View work item	s in this node	Allow (inherite	ed)
Microsoft.VisualStudio.Services.TFS		Clear availait as			
nilmini herath		<u>Clear explicit pe</u>	rmissions		
		Remove	Save changes	s Undo d	hanges
					C

Permissions for Dev Team

Figure 2-28. Area security

Now that you have configured the area path for a project level, let's explore the teamlevel area path settings.

Team Areas

A team can select a subset of areas defined in the team project. An area can be shared with multiple projects, and it is possible to use separate area paths to isolate the work items of a team from another team in the same team project.

Click Project Settings, expand Boards, and click Team Configurations. Then click the Areas tab to view the team's Area settings. See Figure 2-29.



Figure 2-29. Team areas

- 1. You can select a team in the team project.
- 2. It is possible to change the default area of the team. The default area of the team determines to which area path a newly created work item's Area path field is set, when created in the context of the team.
- 3. Select the area for the team using the pop-up that opens. It is possible to select multiple areas at once using the +Area button. You can check the Include subareas to make work items belong to the selected areas and all child areas of the selected areas and make them visible to the team. Removing a selected area before saving is possible via the X in the right corner of the selected area path. See Figure 2-30.

elect area(s) /ork items in the selected area path(s) wi	l show up on your	
am's backlog		
+ Area		
TheDarkKnight\Dev Team	~	>

Figure 2-30. Selecting areas for the team

- 4. Remove a selected area.
- 5. Create a new area at the same level of the selected area. When you add areas from a team, they will be available at the team project level as well.
- 6. Create a child area for the selected area.
- 7. The default area of the team is autoselected as a selected area.
- 8. This loads the context menu of a given selected area. See Figure 2-31.



Figure 2-31. Selected team area context menu

- A. You can create a new area at the same level of the selected area.
- B. You can create a new child area for the selected area.
- C. You can edit the selected area.
- D. You can remove the selected area from the team.
- E. You can open the permissions dialog for the selected area path where you can set permissions.
- F. You can set the selected area as the default area for the team.
- G. You can include the subareas of the selected area so that the work items of the selected area and all the subareas of the selected area are visible to the team.

In this lesson, you explored the area path configuration at the team project and team levels. This knowledge will help you to group your work items based on business needs.

Lesson 2-4. Setting Up Releases and Iterations

The iteration path allows you to group work items based on timebox intervals, such as sprints or iterations. Similar to the area paths, the iteration paths can be defined at the project level, and teams can use them as shared or as isolated iterations. This lesson will explain how to set up iterations on the project level and use them on the team level.

Team Project Iterations

Let's try to add new iterations to the Azure DevOps project from the team project's Settings page.

Click "Project settings" and then select "Project configuration" in the Boards section. Then you will be able to see the Iterations tab. Select the Iterations tab, and you will see the default set of iterations in the Azure DevOps team project. See Figure 2-32.

📑 Over	view	∽ General	Boards 1 This project is current	ntly using the Agile pro	cess. To customize yo ge.
Boar	ds	Overview 3	Iterations Areas	for this province. These	j
😢 Repo	05	Security	more about customizing areas and	iterations @	e iterations will be inning). Lean
Pipel	lines	Notifications	to select iterations for the team, g	o to the delautit team	n's settings.
👗 Test	Plans	Service hooks Dashboards	New New child 🛨 🖃		
Artifa	acts	✓ Boards	Iterations ~ TheDarkKnight	Start Date	End Date
		Project configuration 2	Iteration 1 Iteration 2		Ì
		Team configuration	Iteration 3		
		GitHub connections			1
		~ Pipelines			
Proje	ect settings	Service connections			

Figure 2-32. Team project iterations

You will find an iteration with a name similar to the project name and child iterations of it. It is possible to add new child iterations from here. If you click the root iteration (TheDarkKnight in Figure 2-32), you will see a grayed-out New link. When you click a child item, it becomes clickable. This behavior is because you cannot create the same level of iteration in the root iteration level. You can add a new iteration at the same level using the New link in any child-level iteration. To add a child iteration to any selected iteration, use the "New child" link. See Figure 2-33.



Figure 2-33. Iteration toolbar

- 1. Add a new item to the same level as the selected item.
- 2. Add a new child item to the selected item.
- 3. Expand one level.
- 4. Collapse one level.

Let's add a new iteration at the same level of Iteration 1 with the New link. Select Iteration 1 and click the New link. A pop-up window will appear, which allows you to create a new iteration by giving the iteration name, the start date of the iteration, and the end date of the iteration. See Figure 2-34. You can keep the start date and end date blank and set them later if required.

Iteration 4 Iteration name Iteration 4 Start date 4/14/2019 End date 4/28/2019 Location TheDarkKnight	New iteration		×
Iteration 4 Start date 4/14/2019 End date 4/28/2019 Location TheDarkKnight	Iteration 4 Iteration name		
Start date 4/14/2019 End date 4/28/2019 Location TheDarkKnight	Iteration 4		
4/14/2019 End date 4/28/2019 Location TheDarkKnight	Start date		
End date 4/28/2019 Cocation TheDarkKnight	4/14/2019		
4/28/2019 Location TheDarkKnight	End date		
Location TheDarkKnight	4/28/2019		Ē
TheDarkKnight	Location		
	TheDarkKnight		
		Save and close	Cancel
Save and close Cancel			

Figure 2-34. New iteration

If you try to add a new child iteration to Iteration 1, you will be able to see the same pop-up. The only difference is that the location will be TheDarkKnight\Iteration1.

Besides using the previously mentioned New and "New child" links, you can add new iterations with the context menu that opens when you click the three dots next to each iteration. See Figure 2-35.

Iterations	Start Date	End Date
 TheDarkKnight 		
Iteration 4	4/14/2019	4/28/2019
Iteration 1	Set dates	
Iteration 2	D New 1	
Iteration 3	D New child 2	
	💉 Edit	- I
	× Delete 4	
	Security 5	

Figure 2-35. Iteration context menu

- 1. Add a new iteration to the same level as the selected iteration.
- 2. Add a new child iteration to the selected iteration.
- 3. You can edit the iteration values using this option. After clicking the edit button, a pop-up will appear, and you will be able to edit the iteration name, start date, end date, and location from the pop-up dialog. See Figure 2-36.

Edit iteration	
Iteration 4	
Iteration 4	
Start date	
4/14/2019	5
End date	
4/28/2019	
Location	
TheDarkKnight	~



Figure 2-36. Editing an iteration

 Delete the selected iteration with the Delete option. After you click Delete, you will see the pop-up where you can select a path to reassign the work items if any belong to the deleted iteration. See Figure 2-37.

Delete iteration	×
Iteration 4	
You have chosen to delete this path. If you delete it, any work items, tests, or other items in the team project that reference this path or any of its dependent paths will be reassigned. Choose a path for reassignment of affected items	
TheDarkKnight	
~ TheDarkKnight	
Iteration 1	
Iteration 2	
Iteration 3	
Delete path Cancel	

Figure 2-37. Deleting an iteration

5. You can control the security of the iteration using this option. After clicking this security menu item, a pop-up will appear. You can control the iteration permission from this pop-up. See Figure 2-38.

X

Permissions for Iteration 4

+ Add Inheritance ▼	AC	CESS CONTROL S	SUMMARY bout the permissions	being granted to this identity	
Search Search Image: Search Services.TFS Image: Search Services.TFS Image: Search Services.TFS Image: Search Services.TFS	P Cr De Ed Vi	eate child noc elete this node lit this node ew permission <u>ear explicit pe</u>	les s for this node	Not set Not set Allow Allow	
		Remove	Save changes	Undo changes	
					Close

Figure 2-38. Iteration permission

So far, you have learned how to add iterations to the Azure DevOps project. Now, you'll learn how to use iterations when you have multiple teams for the project.

Team Iterations

Go to the project settings and then select Teams under General. You will see a list of teams available in the team project. See Figure 2-39.



Figure 2-39. Teams

Now click one of the required teams. The team profile will open. Click the "Iterations and areas" link under the "Manage other settings for this team" item. See Figure 2-40. This will navigate you to the team configuration values of the selected team. Click the Iterations tab.

	Members	
	+ Add 💍	
•	Display Name	Username Or Scope
Name	NH nilmini herath	pnherath@yahoo.com
Dev Team		
Description		
Development team area		
Administrators		
nilmini herath🗙		
+ Add		
Manage other settings for this		
team		
Notifications		
Dashboards		

Figure 2-40. Team profile

Instead of navigating through that path, you can click "Project settings" and then click "Team configuration" under Boards. Then can click the Iterations tab and select the required team from the drop-down at the top of the page. See Figure 2-41.

	Project Settings > Team co	onfiguration $>$ Dev Team \sim	
\sim	General	Boards 1 This project is currently using the Agile process. To customize your work item ty	/pe
	Overview	General Iterations Areas Templates	4
	Teams	① To manage iterations for the project, navigate to Project settings	$1 \rightarrow \times$
	Security	transfer a	1
	Notifications	Iterations	
	Service hooks	iterations for your team. Learn more about customizing areas and iterations 🖾	
	Dashboards	Default iteration ① 1	1
	Decade	@CurrentIteration Change	5
Ý	Boards	Backlog iteration ① 2	
	Project configuration	TheDarkKnight Change	1
	Team configuration	The iterations selected below will appear in the Sprints hub for your team. Each iterat	io belp your
	GitHub connections	team plan and manage work.	
~	Pipelines	+ Select iteration(s) × Remove New New child	1
	Service connections	Iteration 3 Star	tE

Figure 2-41. Team iterations

- 1. You can find the default iteration of the team here. The default iteration of a team determines the iteration a new work item is getting added to when it is created within the team context. Dev Team in this example has the selected current iteration as the default iteration. That means when you add a new work item, it is getting added to the current iteration.
- 2. You can change the backlog iteration of the team from here. The backlog iteration determines which work items are shown in the team's backlog and boards. You can change these backlog iteration values by using the Change link. After clicking the Change link, select iterations from the drop-down and click Set to save the selected value or click Cancel to dismiss the changes. See Figure 2-42.

TheDarkKnight	Set Cancel
 TheDarkKnight 	in the Sprints bull a your
Iteration 4	in the spinits no p year
Iteration 1	
Iteration 2	New New child
Iteration 3	

Figure 2-42. Changing the backlog iteration

3. You can add the iterations to the team. In Figure 2-43, you can see there is no iteration selected for the team. You can click the "Select iterations" link and add the iterations to the team. See Figure 2-43.

Select iteration(s) These iterations will be available on y	our team's backlo)g
+ Iteration		
TheDarkKnight\Iteration 4		\sim
Learn more 12		
	Save and close	Cancel

Figure 2-43. Selecting an iteration for the team

After an iteration is added, the team will be able to work with iterations/sprints. Also, you will see that a context menu is available for a selected iteration, with the same actions that we discussed in the selected iterations of the team project. See Figure 2-44.

The iterations selected below will a team plan and manage work. + Select iteration(s) × Remove	 [™] New [™] New child ✓ Edit ✓ Remove 	for your team. Each in your
Iteration	Security	End Date
TheDarkKnight\Iteration 4	••• 4/14/2019	4/28/2019

Figure 2-44. Selected iteration context menu

Since iterations are hierarchical in structure, and you can define timeboxes with practical needs such as grouping multiple iterations into one release iteration. This is against the Agile methodology, which is all about delivering a shippable product in every sprint/iteration. However, in the practical world, even though you might have shippable product each iteration, shipping to the actual client may happen after a couple of iterations. An example setup looks like Figure 2-45.

New New child 🕂 🖃		
Iterations	Start Date	End Date
 Account Management Solution 	10/16/2017	2/26/2018
Release 01	10/16/2017	11/28/2017
Rel 01 - Iteration 01	10/16/2017	11/6/2017
Rel 01 - Iteration 02	11/7/2017	11/28/2017
✓ Release 02	11/29/2017	1/11/2018
Rel 02 - Iteration 01	11/29/2017	12/20/2017
Rel 02 - Iteration 02	12/21/2017	1/11/2018
Release 03	1/12/2018	2/23/2018

Figure 2-45. Release and iterations

In this lesson, you explored how to set up iterations in a team project and use them in a team. As mentioned earlier, iterations can be shared or used in isolation in a given team.

Lesson 2-5. Setting Up Team Members and Permissions

A team should have team members to perform work. This lesson will describe how you add new team members to the team. You can add members individually or as groups.

First let's identify the default groups available in the Azure DevOps team project and the permissions of each group.

Go to the project settings and select Security in the General section. You will be navigated to the Security area where you can control the permissions of team members and groups. See Figure 2-46.



Figure 2-46. Team project security

Let's identify the basic capabilities of the security settings in this lesson; you will learn more about security in Chapter 8 of this book. See Figure 2-47.



Figure 2-47. Team project permissions

1. Create a new group using this link. Clicking this link will open up a dialog. You will be able to add new group details using the pop-up window. See Figure 2-48.

Group name	
DevGroup	
Description	
This is developers group	

Figure 2-48. Creating a new security group

- 2. You can filter users and groups.
- 3. You can display all the teams available in the Azure DevOps project.
- 4. You can display all the groups available in the Azure DevOps project.
- 5. The Permission tab displays all the permissions of the selected team or group.
- 6. The Members tab displays the members of the selected team or group.
- 7. You can edit or delete the selected team or group.

Now you have a basic idea of groups in an Azure DevOps team project; let's move to the team settings of the Azure DevOps project and see how to set permissions there.

Go to the project settings, select Teams, and select the name of a specific team from the team list. You will be navigated to the team profile.

Click the Add button to add new members. See Figure 2-49.



Figure 2-49. Adding a member to a team

A pop-up will appear that allows you to add new team members. You can add members by providing sign-in addresses or group aliases. See Figure 2-50.

Add users a	nd groups	
To add users or gro	ups to this group, just type their sign-in addresses or group aliases	
User or group	pushpa.herath88@gmail.com × [TheDarkKnight]\DevGroup × Search users and groups	
	Use semicolons to separate multiple entries	
	Sava shappers	Cancel

Figure 2-50. Adding a new member or group

In addition, you can add team administrators from the team profile. Click the Add button, and a pop-up will appear. See Figure 2-51.



Figure 2-51. Adding a team administrator

Add an individual member or group as the team administrator using the pop-up. We discussed team permission settings in this lesson. You learned how to add individual members and groups as team members. Additionally, we discussed how to add administrators to the team.

Lesson 2-6. Defining Team Capacity and Days Off

We defined iterations in a previous lesson. In iterations, you can define the team's capacity in order to allow you to find the available capacity for each activity type within the team. This will enhance the team's ability to commit to completing an iteration and give you an idea of whether the team can meet the commitments made.

Select the Sprints/Iterations menu item from the side menu under Boards. Select the team that you need to define the capacity for from the drop-down. Then move to the Capacity tab. See Figure 2-52.



Figure 2-52. Team capacity

- 1. Select the team. Next to this drop-down you can click the star icon to add the team to the favorites list, and you can click the people icon to see the team profile.
- 2. You can select the Capacity tab here.
- 3. You can add a team member to the capacity planning.
- 4. You can save the capacity plan.
- 5. You can undo a change made to the capacity plan before saving.
- You can add all the team members and copy the capacity planning of the previous sprint/iteration to the current/future one. See Figure 2-53.



Figure 2-53. Team capacity context menu

- 7. You can select the sprint/iteration.
- 8. You can show/hide work details in the side pane. See Figure 2-54.



Figure 2-54. Configuring the side pane

- 9. You can open the Settings page, which we will discuss in the next chapters.
- 10. You can go to full-screen view.
- 11. You can define individual days off. You can add multiple periods of days off and remove added days off by clicking the X to the right of the days off. See Figure 2-55.



Figure 2-55. Individual days off

- 12. You can define team days off applicable to all members of the team.
- You can add another activity type from the available list to a given member and set capacity. You can remove the user or one of the activity types for a user as well. See Figure 2-56.

User	Days off Activit	у	Capacity per day	
pnherath@yahoo.com 0 days	Deployment	\sim	0.5	
	Development	\sim	4	
	Testing	~	1.5	
Chaminda Chandrase0 days	Development	\sim	e + Add an activity +	
	Testing	~	Remove this activ	vity
Team days off	0 days	These day	Remove this user	r

Figure 2-56. Team days off

- 14. You can view the work details in the side pane. We will discuss this pane in Chapter 3 where the work estimation is described with work items assigned to a given sprint.
- 15. You can view the work capacity and assignments by activity.
- 16. You can view the work capacity and assignment by team member.

In this lesson, you explored how to set up the team capacity for the team members for a given iteration. We will discuss team capacity and work estimations more in the next chapters.

Summary

In this chapter, you explored how to create teams in a team project and use general and Azure Boards–related settings. Further, we discussed how to set up areas, iterations, and team capacity. This will enable you to get started with Azure DevOps Boards and follow the next lessons in this book.

In the next chapter, you will learn about setting up boards and work items and using boards to work with work items.

CHAPTER 3

Working with Backlogs and Boards

Keeping track of the work that your team does is important so you can make process improvements to your team's way of working and increase productivity. The work of your team can be captured as *work items* in Azure DevOps, and you can use various boards and backlogs to organize and plan the work items. In this chapter, we'll cover the options you have in Azure Boards to organize your work hierarchically, to plan the work process using Kanban, and to use iterations to plan for time-based cycles of work. We will also discuss the available features to successfully run your project teams with Agile/Scrum or with traditional processes, including the options you have to handle software bugs discovered during the development and testing processes or in production.

Prerequisites: It is essential that you have worked through the first two chapters of this book so that you have the required basic understanding to successfully follow the lessons in this chapter.

Lesson 3-1. Understanding the Backlog Hierarchy

Azure DevOps allows you to create a hierarchy in the backlog to group work according to business needs. By default, two levels of backlogs are enabled in an Azure DevOps team, as explained in Lesson 2-2. They are the feature for all three templates Agile, Scrum and CMMI and user story for Agile workflows, the product backlog item in Scrum, or the requirement in CMMI. Lesson 2-2 also explains how to enable a top backlog level of Epic. There is another way to enable or disable backlog levels for a team. In a team's backlog or board view, you can open the Settings pop-up by clicking the cogwheel icon just below the cumulative flow diagram, at the top right of the page. In the General section of the Settings pop-up, you can enable or disable the backlog levels to be used in your team on the Backlogs tab. See Figure 3-1. Select the Epics, Features, and Stories levels for this lesson.

Settings			×
Charts Cumulative Flow	Backlogs		
General	Backlog navigation levels		
Backlogs *	 Epics Features Stories 		
	Save	e and close Canc	:el

Figure 3-1. Selecting backlog levels

To understand the backlog levels, let's look at a common business example such as a banking system. When implementing the banking system, there could be a broad requirement of "A need to have a banking system to manage savings and lending accounts." This requirement could be broken into two levels: "A need for savings account management facility" and "A need to manage leading accounts such as personal and vehicle loans." You could use the Epics level to manage these three requirements with a parent-child hierarchy. (You will learn how to create work items in that manner in Lesson 3-2.)

Then if you take the loans section, there could be several features such as "Capture new customer and loan requirement details," "Review process of loan application and approval," and so on. You can use the Features backlog level to keep the backlog organized into features as child requirements of the Epics level defined previously. (You will learn how to do this in Lesson 3-2 of this chapter.)

To implement each of these features, you might need several stories, and each story may need a couple of tasks to get it implemented. The user stories (Agile)/product backlog items (Scrum)/requirements (CMMI) can be created as child work items of the

CHAPTER 3 WORKING WITH BACKLOGS AND BOARDS

relevant feature work item. It is even possible to create multiple levels within a work item type. However, keeping the story/PBI/requirement level as a flat level without creating a hierarchy is recommended. One reason for this recommendation is to keep the estimates of size and effort from getting too large in Azure DevOps; you will learn about this in Lesson 3-3. In addition, a story in the Agile process should be an independent testable unit of work, which should not include any dependencies other than the set of tasks needed to implement that story. The tasks should be the child items of a user story work item. See Figure 3-2.

```
冒
          Bank Team 🗸 📩 🕫
+ New Work Item
                      Oview as Board
                                            Column Options
+ - Order ID
                         Work Item Type
                                            Title
       1
               663
                          Epic
                                          We As banker I need a banking application to maintain customer savings accounts and lending facilities
               665
                          Epic
                                            > ¥ As a banker I need saving account managing facility
                                            As banker I need lending facility to enable granting personal loans and vehicle loans
               664
                          Epic
                                               666
                          Feature
               673
                         Product Backl...
                                                    As a banking Officer, I would like to Approve the Loan After Reviewing the loan application so t...
                                                  As a Banking Customer, I would like to get my loan application status so that i can plan my nex...
               679
                          Product Backl...
               707
                          Task
                                                      🔁 Create Mockup for Customer Personal Loan Details Application Form
                          Task
                                                      View Customer Application
               702
                                                      💈 Test case creation : As a Banking Customer, I would like to get my loan application status so ...
               703
                          Task
                          Task
               704
                                                      🖻 Test case execution : As a Banking Customer, I would like to get my loan application status s...
                         Product Backl...
               672
                                                    As a banking officer, i want to review the information provided by customer so that i can decid...
               670
                          Product Backl...
                                                  > E As a banking officer, i want to capture the customer and loan requirement information so than ...
               675
                          Product Backl...
                                                    As a banking officer, i want to reject the loan application so that i can prevent not eligible pers...
               668
                          Feature
                                               > 🖤 As a Banker i would like to have vehicle loan creation facility so that i can have good custome... 🚥
               684
                          Feature
                                               > 🏆 As a Banker, I would like to Disburse Loan Amount to the Saving Account So that amount is availa...
               688
                                               > 🖤 As a Banker, I would like to Receive Loan Equated monthly installment in Each Month from the Sa...
                          Feature
```

Figure 3-2. Banking system sample backlog

We used a banking application as an example in this lesson to explain how to use the backlog hierarchy.

Lesson 3-2. Defining a Backlog

In this lesson, you'll learn how to create a backlog of work and add it to your team project and teams, which will allow you to extend the understanding you have gained in the previous chapter.

Prerequisites: You need to work through Chapters 1 and 2 and have familiarity with the navigation of and various options available in Azure Boards. You also need to have worked through Lesson 3-1. You have a team project created in Azure DevOps with the Agile template for your team, and you have enabled the Epics, Features, and Stories backlog levels.

Organizing Epics in a Hierarchy

You can create a backlog of work items in the Work Items, Boards, or Backlogs page in Azure Boards. Let's use the Backlogs page so you can define your backlog hierarchically. Click Backlogs, and in the "Backlog work item type" selection drop-down, select Epics. Click the New Work Item button in the middle of the page or in the toolbar, and you will be able to provide the title of the first epic. Enter **As banker I need a banking application to maintain customer savings accounts and lending facilities** as the title in the text box, as shown in Figure 3-3, and click the "Add to top" button. Since this is the first work item, adding it to the top, adding it at the selection, and adding it to bottom will all have the same effect.



Figure 3-3. Creating the first Epic work item

You can click the title of the first epic to view its details. In the epic form/page, inspect the iteration path and area path set by default. As discussed in Chapter 2, you can set the team preference to Default Iteration and Default Area in the Team Configurations page, which the iteration and area will be set automatically for any work item that is created in the context of the team.

Once the first epic is added, you can add a child Feature work item to it by clicking the + sign next to the epic in the backlog. See Figure 3-4.



Figure 3-4. Adding a child Feature work item to the Epic work item

However, before adding features, you need to add child epics because you are going to use two epic levels parent and child to group the requirements.

Tip You can add more backlog levels to avoid creating a parent-child relationship within the same work item type. You'll explore how to add more backlog levels while customizing the process templates.

To add another epic level as a child to an existing Epic work item for the first time, you have to use the "Add link" option in the parent's Epic work item form. Open the epic you just created by clicking the title of it. In the work item form, you will see a section named Related Work. Here when you click "Add link," you will be able to link another work item to the current work item, with one of the predefined sets of relationships. Since you have not created the second-level epic yet, click "New item." See Figure 3-5.

CHAPTER 3 WORKING WITH BACKLOGS AND BOARDS

+ Ad	ld link ~	
S	Existing item	
Ê	New item	

Figure 3-5. Adding a new work item as related work

Set "Link type" to Child and "Work item type" to Epic. Then enter the title **As a banker I need saving account managing facility** and click OK to create the new child epic under the current Epic work item. See Figure 3-6. Then save and close the work item form to save the child-parent link between the two work items.

Add link	
You are adding a link from: You are adding a link from: 1 As banker I need a banking application to r Indated 17 hours and New	naintain customer savings accou
Link type	
Child	~
• Work item type	
Epic	~
Title	
As a banker I need saving account managing facili	ty
Comment	
	OK Cancel

Figure 3-6. Adding a child epic to create two levels of Epic work items

Before proceeding, let's discuss the available relationships between work items in brief.

- **Child-Parent**: This relationship is used to organize work items in a hierarchy using one-to-many relationships.
- Affects-Affected By (CMMI only): This is used to track the change requests for requirements.
- **Duplicate-Duplicate of**: This allows you to define that a work item is a duplicate of another. It is especially useful when you want to add multiple parent work items to a work item, because the duplicate work item can be linked to a different parent work item (only one parent is allowed for any work item in Azure DevOps).
- **Reference By-References**: This is used to link test cases to shared parameters, enabling a repeat of a test with different data. We will discuss this further in the *Hands-on Azure Test* book in this series.
- **Related**: This is used to identify the relationship between work items in the same level.
- **Successor-Predecessor**: This link is used to identify dependencies between work items. It is especially useful to identify a task that should be completed before starting another task work item.
- **Tested By-Tests**: This is a link between test cases and work items such as user stories, features, or epics.
- **Test Case-Shared Steps**: This is used to share common steps between multiple test cases. We will discuss this further in the *Hands- on Azure Test* book of this series.

Note For further information on work item link types, refer to https://docs. microsoft.com/en-us/azure/devops/boards/queries/link-typereference?view=azure-devops#work-link-types.

Now that you have added a child epic for the savings account area in banking under the main banking system epic, you should be able to see that a hierarchical backlog is available within the same work item type in the epic backlog view. It is possible to create this type of hierarchy within any backlog level available; however, as previously mentioned, it is advisable to keep the Stories level as a flat level.

CHAPTER 3 WORKING WITH BACKLOGS AND BOARDS

To add another epic in the backlog view, click "New Work item" and enter the title **As banker I need lending facility to enable granting personal**. Click "Add to bottom." This will add a new Epic work item, but not as a child work item of the main banking system epic. To add this third epic to the first epic as a child, open the work item form of the first epic and click "Add link" in the Related Work section. Then click Existing Item to open the pop-up for adding a link to an existing work item (see Figure 3-5). You can search for the third epic by typing in part of the title or the ID of the work item and then select the correct one from the list that appears. See Figure 3-7. Then save and close the work item form to save the child-parent link between the two work items.

Add link		
You are adding a link from: •		
B 1 As banker I need a banking application to maint Updated 52 minutes ago, New	ain customer sav	<u>ings accou</u>
ink type		
Child		~
Work items to link		
Epic 3: As banker I need lending facility to enable g	ranting personal	loans
✓ Search		
Showing 1 suggestion		
O		
Comment		
	OK	Cancel

Figure 3-7. Adding an existing work item as a child link

Using either of the previously described procedures, add another child epic with the title "As banker I need lending facility to enable granting vehicle loans" to the banking system's main epic. See Figure 3-8.

🗏 TheDarkKnight Team 🗸 🛠								
+ New Wor	k Item 🎯 Vie	ew as Board 🤌 Column Options 🛛 …						
+ - Order	Work Item Type	Title						
+ 1	Epic	✓ ₩ As banker I need a banking application to maintain customer sa						
	Epic	👑 As a banker I need saving account managing facility						
+	Epic	🕌 As banker I need lending facility to enable granting personal I						
	Epic	🕌 As banker I need lending facility to enable granting vehicle loans						

Figure 3-8. Hierarchical epics

Instead of opening the work item form and trying to add the link, you can add a link to any work item using a context menu. See Figure 3-9.

+ N	lew Wor	k Item 🏾 🏵 🕅	/iew as Board 🤌 Column Options 🛛 …	Epics	\sim	≅ 7 🤅	8 4
÷ -	Order	Work Item Type	Title State	Effort	Busin.	Value Area	Tag
	1	Epic	✓ ¼ As banker I need a banking application to maintain customer savings			Business	
+		Epic	> 👑 As a banker I need saving account managing facility 🛛 🚥 🔍 New			Business	
		Epic	👑 As banker I need lending facility to enable granting personal lo			Business	
		Epic	👑 As banker I need lending facility to enable granting vehicle loar 🕺 Assign to	>		Business	
			Copy to clipb	oard			
			× Delete				
			🚍 Templates	>			
			Add link	>	6	> Existing item	
			Move to itera	tion >	Ċ	New item	
			Change pare	nt			

Figure 3-9. Adding a link to a work item via a context menu

You have created subepics for a sample banking system and grouped them as children under a parent to create a hierarchy under the main banking system epic. You can use the Boards view of the epic as well to add child features to a given epic, which we will discuss in Lesson 3-5.

Adding Features to Epics

Now that you have three major epics as requirements of the sample banking application, let's move on to identify how you can create features under these epics. To create new features, you can switch to the feature backlog view by selecting Features in the dropdown at the top right of the Backlogs page. However, if you add features in this manner, you have to manually create the child-parent link with the required epics. Hence, let's stay in the epic backlog view and add features to each epic from the Epics view by clicking the + sign to the right of each epic. Once you click the + sign, a new feature work item form will open and have a parent link with the relevant epic. See Figure 3-10. Provide a feature with the title "Facilitate customers to open savings accounts" and save the feature.

T	TheDarkKnight	+	宫 TheDa	rkKnight Tea	im ∨ 🛧 R ^e					
2	Overview		+ New Wo	rk Item 🎯 V	/iew as Board 🤌 Column Option	ns ···		🗏 Epics 🖂 🚔 🖓 🔘 🖍		
•	Boards		🛨 🖃 Order 1	Work Item Type	Title v 🎬 As banker I need a banking a	pplication to maintain customer s	State	Effort Busin Value Area Tags Business		
Ċ	Work Items		+	Epic	👑 As a banker I need saving	account managing facility	••• • New	Business		
囲	Boards			Epic	👑 As banker I need lending f	acility to enable granting persona	l loans	Business		
99	Backlogs	Enter title	Field 'Title' car	nnot be empty.				2 ×		
Ø.	Sprints	🕲 Unassigned		<i>5</i> 0	comments Add tag			₩ Save & Close * 🖑 🤊 🚥		
	Queries	State Ne	ew	Area	TheDarkKnight					
2	Repos	Reason New		Iteratio	n TheDarkKnight			Details 🕥 🔗 (1) 🗑		
P	Pipelines	Description				Planning		Development		
4	Test Plans	Click to add Description			Priority 2 Risk		+ Add link			
	Artifacts	Discussion						Related Work		
	Add a c		comment. Use # to link a work item. I to link a pull request, or @ to			Effort		+ Add link ~		
		mention a person.				Business Value		Parent		

Figure 3-10. Adding a child feature to an epic

Now add a couple more features to the epic such as "Facilitate savings cash deposit over the counter" and "Facilitate savings cash withdrawal over the counter." You could even go ahead and create another child at the Features level under the saving accounts epic such as enabling ATM transactions, or you could add a child feature level, as we discussed earlier.
Adding Stories to Features

Now that you have epics and features of the sample application organized into a hierarchical grouping, let's add user stories to implement each feature. Again, you can move to the user story backlog view using the drop-down in the Backlogs view page to add new user stories. However, it is recommended that you use the feature or epic backlog view and add the required child stories to Feature work items using the + sign right to each feature (see Figure 3-11) or the context menu of each feature. Or you can use feature board view to add child user stories to Feature work items, which we will discuss in Lesson 3-5.

+	宮 TheDarkKnight Team 〜 📩 🕫								
	+ New Wo	rk Item 🇿 V	liew as Boar	rd 🤌 Column Options			🧧 Epics 🗸 🚔 🏹 🛞 🤘		
	🛨 🖃 Order	Work Item Type	Title			State	Effort Busin	Value Area	Tags
	1	Epic	~ 👑 As	banker I need a banking appl	ication to maintain customer savings	New		Business	
		Epic	~ 🖬 ,	As a banker I need saving acc	ount managing facility	New		Business	
	+	Feature	9	Facilitate customers to ope	en savings accounts	New		Business	
II NEW	USER STORY ()	Field 'Title' canno	t be empty.						2
🕲 Un	assigned		🗗 0 cc	omments Add tag			间 Save &	Close * 🕐	·> ••
Statg	New		Area	TheDarkKnight					
Reason	New		Iteration	TheDarkKnight			Details	D & (1)	0
Descri	ption				Planning		Development		
Click t	o add Descripti	on			Story Points		+ Add link		
					Priority				
Acceptance Criteria				2		Related Work			
Click t	o add Acceptan	ce Criteria			KISK		+ Add link ~		
Discussion			Classification		Parent				

Figure 3-11. Adding a child user story to a feature

Add a couple of user stories to the relevant features. For example, you can add "Facilitate customers to open savings accounts" with user stories such as the following:

- "As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details so that a new customer can be added to the bank"
- "As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account for a customer"
- "As a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit for a new savings account so that the account to get activated"

U-U	E TH	heDar	kKnight Team	ו∨ ☆ x ^e	
	+ Ne	w Wor	k Item 🎯 Vie	w as Board 🧷 Column Options \cdots	
[+ -	Order	Work Item Type	Title	State
-	+	1	Epic	→ 🕌 As banker I need a banking application to maintain customer sa 🚥	New
			Epic	We As a banker I need saving account managing facility	New
			Feature	 Tacilitate customers to open savings accounts 	New
-	+		User Story	As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details •••	New
			User Story	As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account for a	New
			User Story	As a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit fo	New
			Epic	🕌 As banker I need lending facility to enable granting personal loans	New
			Epic	👑 As banker I need lending facility to enable granting vehicle loans	New

See Figure 3-12.

Figure 3-12. Stories added to a feature

Add a couple more features and user stories to fully understand how the child-parent relationship can be used to hierarchically organize the backlog.

Adding Tasks to User Stories

To implement user stories/product backlog items/requirements, you can define *tasks*. To add tasks to a given user story, you can use the user story backlog view or even the epic backlog view. In either view, you can click the + sign to the right of the user story (see Figure 3-13) or use the context menu to select "Add link" and then "New item."



Figure 3-13. Adding tasks to a user story

Add a couple of tasks for each user story so you can see how it looks and understand how it works in the backlog view.

Changing the Parent

You can change the parent of any backlog item except the topmost backlog level (as of now the epic is the topmost backlog level) by using that work item's context menu and selecting "Change parent." See Figure 3-14. You can select multiple work items of the same type and change the parent.

+ New Work Item Over the second seco 🤌 Column Options 🛛 ... 🗧 Epics 🗸 📑 + - Order Work Item Type Title State Effort Busin... 1 Epic Y W As banker I need a banking application to maintain customer savings... I New Epic As a banker I need saving account managing facility New Feature Tacilitate customers to open savings accounts ••• • New User Story > 📕 As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details sc 0 Edit... User Story I As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account for R^R Assign to > User Story I As a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit Copy to clipboard Feature Tacilitate cutomers to close savings account × Delete User Story As a banking officer, I need to perform final cash withdr... Templates > I As a banking officer, I need to close a savings account of a User Story Add link > Epic W As banker I need lending facility to enable granting personal lo Move to iteration > Epic W As banker I need lending facility to enable granting vehicle loar Change parent...

CHAPTER 3 WORKING WITH BACKLOGS AND BOARDS

Figure 3-14. Changing a parent

A pop-up window will allow you to select immediate top level a work item from backlog items, which you can reparent the work item to. See Figure 3-15.

Change parent							
This will replace any existing parent of the 1 selected item(s).							
Epics for TheDarkKnight Tea New parent	am ∨						
\blacksquare 1: As banker I need a banking application to maintai \lor							
	ОК	Cancel					

Figure 3-15. Changing the parent pop-up

Additionally, you can use drag and drop in the backlog view to change the parent of a given work item. You can select multiple work items of the same type and change the parent. See Figure 3-16.



Figure 3-16. Dragging and dropping to change the parent

Using the Work Item Context Menu in the Backlog View

You have already used a couple of options in the work item context menu. Let's explore each available menu action to make sure you understand all of them. See Figure 3-17.



Figure 3-17. Work item context menu in backlog view

1. Selecting Edit will open a dialog that will allow you to edit work item fields selectively. You can select multiple work items from different types and perform bulk edits on all selected work items using this option. You are allowed to add a note while you make the edit to the fields, which will appear in the history of each work item edited. See Figure 3-18.

Field			Value	
Area Path	\sim	=	TheDarkKnight\Dev Team	~
Effort	~	=	10	

Figure 3-18. Editing work item fields

- 2. "Assign to" will allow you to assign selected work items to a user all at once.
- 3. "Copy to clipboard" lets you copy the selected work item's visible columns in the backlog view to the clipboard. When you paste in Word, Excel and so on, in addition to the data, you get a link to a temporary query where you can navigate to a query view of the selected work items.
- 4. Delete allows you to move work items to the Recycle Bin, which can be found via the Work Items page of Azure Boards. A message will pop up to confirm the delete. From the recycle bin you can restore the deleted work items or permanently delete them.
- 5. Template allows you to capture a template from a single work item; we discussed the usage of templates in Lesson 2-2.
- 6. "Add link" lets you add the linked work items as we have been discussing throughout this lesson.
- 7. "Move to iteration" allows you to move selected work items to a given iteration.
- 8. "Change parent" lets you change the parent work item of selected work items as we have been discussing in this lesson.

- "Move to position" lets you move work items in the order of the backlog. It's especially useful when you have a longer backlog and when you want to move an item at the bottom to the top or near to the top.
- 10. "Change type" lets you change the type of work item for selected work items. For example, you might have created a set of items as user stories, but you may want to make them features instead of stories. You can use this option and easily change the work item type without having to re-create each work item.
- 11. You can move selected work items to a different team project in your Azure DevOps organization. You are able to select the target team project, area path, or iteration path, and you can even change the work item type during the move.
- 12. You can e-mail selected work items to the required team members. See Figure 3-19.

Selected Work	ltems					
Note					0/10)24 characters
5 WORK ITEMS						
Subject						
NH nilmini her	rath 🗙 🕑 pushpa.hera	th88@gmail.c	om 🗙 Sea	rch users		
ō						
Send wor	rk items in ema	il				

UD .	Inte	Work Item Type	State	Effort	Business Value	Value Area	lags
2	As a banke	Epic	New			Business	
10	Facilitate c	Feature	New			Business	
11	As a bankin	User Story	New			Business	
12	As a bankin	User Story	New			Business	
5	Facilitate c	Feature	New			Business	



Figure 3-19. E-mailing work items

- 13. "New branch creation" allows you to create an Azure Git repo branch, which we will discuss in the *Hands-on Azure Repos* book of the series.
- 14. "Do exploratory testing" lets you explore the system based on the work item implementation and record test cases. We will discuss more about this in the *Hands-on Azure Tests* book of the series.

In this lesson, we discussed how to organize a backlog hierarchically using the backlog view of Azure Boards.

Lesson 3-3. Exploring Important Work Item Fields

You created a couple of work items of different types in the previous lesson, so it is good time to explore some important fields of a given work item.

Common Important Work Item Fields

Let's take a look at common and important work item fields available for all the work item types.

- Id: This is a unique ID for each work item across all projects in a project collection/Azure DevOps organization.
- **Title**: This is a short description of the work item.
- **Description**: You can provide in-depth information about the work item here.
- Acceptance Criteria: This is available in the Scrum template for the Epic, Feature, PBI, and Bug work items. It is useful to define the criteria for allowing the work item to evaluate for its completion with the Acceptance Critera before closing it.
- **Repro Steps**: You can write the bug-reproducing steps in this field. This is available in a Bug work item.
- Area Path: This is the team area or module of the work item.
- **Iteration Path**: This is the path of the iteration in which the work item belongs currently.

- **Assigned To**: The work item can be assigned to a team member, and the name of the current assignee will be recorded in this field.
- **Discussion**: The Discussion field allows multiple team members to discuss the work item by providing comments in the Discussion field. Each comment made in the Discussion field will be recorded with the date and time, and you are able to use rich text and images in the discussions to make them more useful.
- **Priority**: This is a subjective rating of the work items based on the relatedness to the business process. For example, you can set a value of 1 to denote that the priority is the highest; in other words, without the completion of this work item, the product is not shippable. A low value might indicate this work item can be considered as a "good to have" feature.
- Risk: This is the relative uncertainty on the completion of the story.
- **Severity**: This is the relative value considering the impact to the system.
- Story Points (Agile)/Effort (Scrum)/Size (CMMI): This is the relative size of the work item. In Agile, the relative size is measured with story points.
- **Tags**: Work items can be added with tags, which are discussed in detail in Lesson 4-5.

Go to the user story backlog by selecting the "Backlog Work Item type" selection drop-down in the Backlogs view. Then you can use drag and drop or select "Move to position" in the context menu of the user stories to reorder them according to the business priority.

Open the topmost user stories by clicking each one's title, and fill out the story points. In Agile, you should get your team together and decide on the size of each user story. We will discuss this in Lesson 10-3 of this book. See Figure 3-20 for a sample backlog.

冒 TheDa	🗄 TheDarkKnight Team 🗸 📩 🕫					
+ New Wo	rk Item 🎯 Vie	w as Board 🤌 Column Options \cdots			Stories \vee	
+ - Order	Work Item Type	Title	State	Story	Value Area	
1	User Story	> 📕 As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details so t	New	2	Business	
+ 2	User Story	> 📕 As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account f 🚥	New	3	Business	
+ 3	User Story	📕 As a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash depo 🚥	New	3	Business	
4	User Story	As a banking officer, I need to perform final cash withdrawal	New		Business	
5	User Story	As a banking officer, I need to close a savings account of a c	New		Business	

Figure 3-20. Sample backlog

In addition, clicking a work item will open the work item in any view such as work items, backlog view, or boards view. The work item form can be used to edit a given work item's fields. There is a context menu in each work item to perform several actions for a given work item.

We discussed the most commonly used work item fields in this lesson. Throughout this book series, we will further discuss these fields.

Lesson 3-4. Selecting Work to Move to an Iteration

Now that you have created a backlog in Lesson 3-2, we'll show how you can move work to a time-bound iteration/sprint in this lesson.

Prerequisites: You need to work through Lessons 3-2 and 3-3 of this chapter and have a backlog created.

Open the backlog view for user stories. Then enable the side pane to show the planning view, as you learned in Lesson 1-4. To select stories for an iteration, you can simply drag them to the required iteration in the Planning side pane. See Figure 3-21.

E The	DarkKnight Tea	m 🗸 📩 🕫	handl
+ New	Work Item 💮 V	iew as Board 🤌 Column Options 🛛 …	둘 Stories ∨ 춈 ▽ ⊚
	ler Work Item Type	Title	Diamian
+ 1	User Story	> 🏨 As a banking officer, I need to capture custo	Drag and drop work items to include them in a sprint.
2	User Story	> 🎚 As a banking officer, I need to open a saving	
3	User Story	📕 As a banking officer, I need to perform initial	TheDarkKnight Team Backlog
4	User Story	📕 As a banking officer, I need to perform final -	
5	User Story	As a banking officer, I need to close a saving	No work schedule mythylaman an
			Iteration 2
			No work scheduled yet

Figure 3-21. Dragging and dropping stories onto an iteration

Any child task defined in the user story will also be moved to the iteration automatically when you do this. Additionally, a work item can be moved to an iteration by using the work item's context menu option "Move to iteration" in work items, backlog view, or boards view as well as by changing the iteration path in a work item form.

In the Planning pane, the iteration will show you the number of stories and tasks selected for the iteration. See Figure 3-22.



Figure 3-22. Stories and tasks selected for an iteration

Now go to the iteration backlog view by clicking Sprints on the left-side menu in the Boards section. Click the Capacity tab and set up your team capacity as described in Lesson 2-6. See Figure 3-23.

sldevop / TheDarkKnight / Boa	ards / Sprints			𝒫 Search	1	Ô	
$\dot{\Omega}_{\bullet}$ TheDarkKnight Team \lor	🗙 🛱			May 6 - May 20 11 work days remaining			
Taskboard Backlog Capacity	+ Add user	🕞 Save 🏷 Undo		D. Iteration 1	~ 👬	63	2
User	Days off	Activity	Capacity per day				
Chaminda Chandrasekara	0 days	Development ~	5				
		Testing ~	1				
👐 nilmini herath	0 days	Development ~	4				
		Testing ~	2				
Team days off	0 days	These days off apply to th	e whole team.				

Figure 3-23. Team capacity

Go to the Backlog tab of the Sprint page, and you will be able to see the selected user stories for the current iteration. Expand one level, and you can see the tasks under each story. Enable the side pane with the work details, and you will be able to see the capacity of your team calculated depending on the number of days in each iteration and considering the activity type capacity of team members. See Figure 3-24.

🗘, TheDarkKnight Team 🗸 😒 🕫	May 6 - May 20 11 work days remaining
Taskboard Backlog Capacity + New Work Item 🤌 Column C	Options \cdots Ω , Iteration 1 \lor 🚖 \bigtriangledown 🛞 \checkmark
 Order Title 1 < III As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details Create customer table to store customer information Test case creation : As a banking officer, I need to m Test case execution : As a banking officer, I need to r 	Work details × Drag and drop work items to balance work across your team. Work Team
 Create a screen for list all the available customers wi Edit customer screen 4 As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account 	(0 of 132 h) Work By: Activity • Development
 Create tables for savings accounts Test Case Creation: As a banking officer, I need to cn Test Case Execution: As a banking officer, I need to c Create Screen for scould apaging 	(0 of 99 h) Testing (0 of 33 h)
Create Screen for account opening	Work By: Assigned To • Chaminda Chandrasekara (0 of 66 h)
	NI nilmini herath (0 of 66 h)

Figure 3-24. Sprint backlog view with work details

Now open each task selected for the iteration and define its activity type and remaining work. The "Remaining work" field in the task work item defines how much effort (generally in hours) is required to complete the task. See Figure 3-25. But it is possible for you to use your own unit as well instead of hours. The only condition is that the same unit of measurement should be used in both capacity and in remaining work to make it effective in Azure Boards.

TASK	(13*							2 ×	<
13 0	Create customer ta	ble to store customer information						0	
🕲 Un	nassigned	🗇 0 comments Add tag		🚼 Save & Close	- 1	Follow	U	5	
State	New	Area TheDarkKnight		Updated by	Chaminda (Chandras	ekara 22 mi	inutes ago	
Reason	A New	Iteration TheDarkKnight\Iteration 1			Details	U	S (1)	0	
Descr	iption		Planning	Deve	opment				
Click	to add Description		Priority 2	+ Add Develop	+ Add link Development hasn't started on this item.				
Discu	ssion		Activity Development	Create a new branch Related Work					
	Add a comment. Use #	to link a work item, I to link a pull request, or @ to	Effort (Hours)	+ Add	+ Add link ~				
	mention a person.		Original Estimate 2	Parent ③ 6 As a banking offic Updated 22 minutes ag				o ca	
			Remaining 2						
			Implementation						
			Integrated in Build						

Figure 3-25. Task activity and remaining work

Once you define the remaining work and activity of each task, you will be able to see when the team's capacity is getting filled up and view the work by activity type in the "Work details" side pane. See Figure 3-26. However, you will notice that the team member capacity is not used yet. This is because the team members have not been assigned to any tasks as of now. You will explore how to assign tasks in the boards in Lesson 3-5, and then you can inspect the work details further to see whether a team member's capacity is getting filled with work. If the work assigned exceeds the capacity of the team or a member or an activity type, it will be highlighted and filled with red instead of green.



Figure 3-26. Work details capacity

In this lesson, you explored how to select work for a given iteration and how to use the work details to show the team's capacity with the activity type of each task.

Lesson 3-5. Using Kanban Boards and Task Boards

Now that you have created a backlog and have selected items for the current iteration, let's explore Kanban boards to understand how you can utilize them to perform the work of the team.

Prerequisites: You need to have worked through all the lessons in this chapter and previous chapters. You are ready with a backlog and have picked stories for the current iteration.

Kanban Boards

Click the Boards submenu under the Boards section and select the Epics view from the "Work item type" drop-down. You will be able to see the cards of each epic in the New state column. See Figure 3-27. You can drag and drop the cards to the relevant column, and the state will be automatically updated.



Figure 3-27. Epics board

When you move a work item from the New to Active column in a board, the work item's state changes to Active, and it gets assigned to the person who is logged in and making the change. See Figure 3-28. You can select a different assignee for the work item from your team members in the card itself. Once you make the change, it is automatically saved to the work item.



Figure 3-28. Moving cards in the board

As you can see in Figure 3-28, you can view and add the child work items in the card itself, and the count of child work items shows how many have been completed out of the ones available. Let's skip the features board and move to the stories board by selecting User Stories in the "Work item" selection drop-down of the Boards view. Move the topmost user story to the Active column, and you will see it is assigned to and similar to how the epics board displays the child tasks. See Figure 3-29. You can add tasks or mark them as complete in this view by checking the small box next to each child task; the task state will be changed to Closed. Additionally, notice that the size (story points) of the user story is shown in the card by default. We will discuss customizing the cards in Lesson 4-3.



Figure 3-29. Stories board view

In Figure 3-29 notice that cumulative flow chart and velocity charts are already getting populated with values. We will discuss these charts in detail in Lesson 6-1. In addition, notice that Active and the other in-progress states such as Resolved show the count of cards in each column, with a preset allowing a maximum of five by default. This does not mean you cannot add more than five work items to Active. Once you add more than five work items, the number turns to red, indicating that you have exceed the limit of work items. Customizing these capacity settings and board columns will be discussed in Lesson 4-1.

In the stories board, you can click the context menu of a task to edit the title of the task, delete the task, or open the task. See Figure 3-30. Additionally, you can create a branch in Azure Repos, which we will discuss in the *Hands-on Azure Repos* book of this series. Even clicking the task title or story title in the card will open the relevant work item. This child context menu and the ability to click the title to open a work item's behavior are available for the epic and feature board cards as well.



Figure 3-30. Child work item context menu in boards

Task Boards

Now let's move on to the sprint board view by clicking Sprints in the board section and selecting the Taskboard tab. The task board opens in expanded mode by default, and you can use filters as explained in Chapter 1 to find tasks easily. See Figure 3-31. The same drag-and-drop capability similar to the Kanban boards exists in the task boards.

Q	Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheDarkKnight / Bo	ards / Sprints		P Search	1	Ő	
T	TheDarkKnight +	∴ TheDarkKnight Team ∨	☆ &		May 6 - May 20 11 work days remaining			
۲	Overview	Taskboard Backlog Capacity	+ New Work Item		$\underline{O}_{\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!}$ Iteration 1 \vee $_{\!$	₫ 7	' @	2
	Boards		New 44 h	Active	Resolved	Close	ed	
Ċ	Work Items	6 As a banking officer, I need to capture customer	13 Create customer table to store customer information					Î
m	Boards	details so that a new customer can be added to the bank	Unassigned 2					
3	Backlogs	Chaminda Chan 24 h	State @ New					
O,	Sprints	State • Active	14 Test case creation : As a banking officer, I need to					
₽	Queries		maintain customer details					
2	Repos		State e New					

Figure 3-31. Task board

116

Once a task is moved to the Active column, it will be assigned to the user logged in, and it can be changed in the task card itself to another team member if required. You can enable the "Work details" side pane in the task board view. Notice that a team member's capacity starts filling up once tasks are assigned to the member. See Figure 3-32. Further, the green + sign in the New column for each story scope will allow you to add tasks for a given story in the board.



Figure 3-32. Active tasks and work details

Clicking Collapse All will show a summary view of all the stories in the iteration, and you can expand all of them or one by one individually. See Figure 3-33.



Figure 3-33. Collapsed view of task board

We explored the usage of Kanban and task boards in this lesson to use in the development process. Azure Boards offers you even richer capabilities with customizations to these boards via the board settings pages, which we will discuss in Chapter 4.

Lesson 3-6. Working with a Bug Work Item

You can define how you will work with Bug work items for each team in Azure Boards. You can track them at the same level as tasks, track them at the same level as requirements, or not track them at all. Let's quickly see how each setting works in this lesson.

You can set the preferences of bug behavior in a team's configuration settings on the General tab, as described in Lesson 2-2. Additionally, you can click the Settings cogwheel while you are in any backlog view or in a Kanban or task board view to open the Settings page. In the Settings page's general section, you will see the "Working with bugs" tab where you can specify your preferences. See Figure 3-34.

Settings		×
Cards	Working with bugs	
Fields	Set your team's preference for how they manage bugs. Your selection determines where bugs appear in the	
Styles	hierarchy and on backlogs and boards. Learn more about the bug management setting.	
General	 Bugs are managed with requirements. () Bugs are managed with tasks. () 	
Backlogs	Bugs are not managed on backlogs and boards. ()	
Working days		
Working with bugs		
	Save and close Cancel	
		1

Figure 3-34. Bug behavior settings

Let's explore each behavior.

Managing Bugs with Tasks

By default, in an Agile project template, bugs are set to be managed with tasks. This means you can add bugs as child work items of stories via task boards (see Figure 3-35).



Figure 3-35. Adding bugs in the task board

Figure 3-36 shows how to add bugs in the stories backlog.



Figure 3-36. Adding bugs via the stories backlog

Managing Bugs with Requirements

Setting bugs to be managed with requirements will allow them to be added at the stories level in the stories board (see Figure 3-37).



Figure 3-37. Adding bugs in the stories board

They can also be added in the stories backlog (see Figure 3-38).

+ 1	lew Wor	k Item	🛄 User Story 🛛 🗸			Add to	o top 🛛 🗸
÷ =] Order	Work Item T	🛄 User Story		State	Story	Value Area
+	1	User Story	👼 Bug	officer, I need to capture customer details •••	Active	2	Business
	2	User Story	> 📕 As a banking	officer, I need to open a savings account for a	New	3	Business
	3	User Story	📕 As a banking	officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit fo	New	3	Business
	4	User Story	💷 As a banking	officer, I need to perform final cash withdrawal	New		Business
	5	User Story	🛄 As a banking	officer, I need to close a savings account of a c	New		Business

Figure 3-38. Adding bugs in the stories backlog

Bugs Not Managed with Requirements or Tasks

With this setting, you can add bugs only on work items tab (see Figure 3-39) or while you perform testing, which we will discuss in the *Hands-on Azure Tests* book of this book series.



Figure 3-39. Adding bugs in work items

In this lesson, you explored the Bug work item behavior depending on the team's preferences.

Summary

The chapter covered managing hierarchal backlogs, using common work item fields, assigning work to iterations, and working with boards. Additionally, you explored the bug work item's behavior when team preferences are defined.

In the next chapter, we will show how to start customizing the boards to highlight the rich features you can enable to visualize information in Azure Boards to help your team to work productively.

CHAPTER 4

Work Item Notifications, Tags, and Customization

In the first half of this chapter, you will discover how to use tags in work items and how to subscribe to work item notifications in a team. In the next half of the chapter, you will focus on Azure Boards customizations. Azure Boards allows you to do multiple levels of customizations. In this chapter, you will be exploring how to customize cards in Kanban boards to emit valuable information. We'll also discuss how to change board columns and add boards to customize the workflow of Kanban boards.

Lesson 4-1. Setting Up Work Item Tags

Tags are markers on work items to denote their purpose or identify a specialty for a set of work items. This lesson explains how to add tags to work items and filter and search work items using the added tags.

Prerequisites: You need an Azure DevOps board with multiple work items.

Let's add a new tag first. This lesson shows how to add a tag to a user story. Open a User Story work item's card by clicking the title of it in the Kanban board.

Click the "Add tag" label next to the comments and add a tag value; for example, select Teller to denote this is related to a bank's teller operations. See Figure 4-1. Click the Save & Close button to save the changes. Use a meaningful value when adding the work item tags. For example, if the work item is related to an ATM withdrawal, you can add a tag called ATM.

CHAPTER 4 WORK ITEM NOTIFICATIONS, TAGS, AND CUSTOMIZATION



Figure 4-1. Adding a tag to a work item

It is possible to add more than one tag to a work item. If you want to add more tags, click the + sign next to an added tag value. If you want to remove a tag value, click the X icon on the tag. Since you have learned how to add a tag to a work item, it is worth exploring the uses of tags.

You already know you can add hundreds of work items to a single project. If you need to find a few specific work items among these hundreds of work items, you need an easy way to do that. Azure DevOps provides a lot of filtering options to help you find a work item easily. Filtering by tag is one of the filtering options available in Azure DevOps. You can add your own tag names and filter work items using them.

Click the filter icon, and you will see there is an option to filter work items by tags. Also, you can filter values by selecting more than one filter at once. See Figure 4-2.

CHAPTER 4 WORK ITEM NOTIFICATIONS, TAGS, AND CUSTOMIZATION

A							
× ×.							
						Stor	ries 🗸 🚔 📍
	Types $$	Assign	ned to \smallsetminus	Tags: Teller (+1) 🖂	$_{\rm lteration} \sim$	Area $ \sim $	Parent Work Item
Active		0	Or CDM	And	0/5	Closed	
Ch State	a banking officer, I customer details so r can be added to ti aminda Chandrasek	ara	2	× Clear			
	c Active D ■ 6 As capture costure costure Ch State Teller 2 0/5	Types ~ Active Capture customer details so customer can be adden Chaminda Chandrasek State Teiler © 0/5	Types ✓ Assign Active C Active C Active C Active C Active Conserved etails so C Active Conserved etails so C Active C Active C	Types > Assigned to > Active Active C Active C Active C CDM C Teller C Teller C Chaminda Chandrasskara C C Chaminda Chandrasskara C C Chaminda Chandrasskara C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Types × Assigned to × Tags: Teller (+1) × Active CDM CDM Teller Capture customer details so capture customer details so Chaminda Chandrasskara Clear Chaminda Chandrasskara Clear Chaminda Chandrasskara Chami	Types Assigned to Tags: Teller (+1) Iteration And O/s Active Or And O/s CDM Or Or Or O/s Teller Costorer carbon added to t Costorer carbon added to t Clear Clear Chaminda Chandrassekara Chaminda Chandrassekara State Active	Types Assigned to Tags: Teller (+1) Iteration Area Active Or And O/5 Closed O

Figure 4-2. Filtering work items using tags

Azure DevOps allows to search work items with the tag values in addition to filtering. In the search box in Azure DevOps, type **Tags:** and then the names of tags within double quotes. You'll see a drop-down with suggestions on applying operators and filter fields. See Figure 4-3. After that, press Enter to start searching. You can give multiple tag values using operators.



Figure 4-3. Searching work items using tags

Another feature available in Azure DevOps is that you can highlight these added tags by coloring them. This option is available only in Kanban board cards. Tag colors will be explained in Lesson 4-3 of this chapter.

Azure DevOps also has a feature to query work items based on tags. We will discuss querying work items using tags in Lessons 6-2 and 6-4.

We identified the use and importance of tags in this lesson. Additionally, you learned how to add multiple tags to a work item and how to filter and search work items using tags.

Lesson 4-2. Setting Up Work Item Notifications

When you work as a team, it is important to get notified about the changes happening in the project. Azure DevOps has different types of global notifications, as discussed in Lesson 1-7. Additionally, you explored team notification settings in Lesson 2-2, except how you can subscribe to a notification, which will be covered in this lesson.

Let's add a new notification and send a notification mail to selected members of the team when a work item changes.

Go to the project settings and select Notifications under Project Settings in the required team's scope. Then click "New subscription" to add a new notification. See Figure 4-4.

¢	Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheDarkKnight / S	ettings / Notifications / TheDarkKnight Team ~		Ø Search	iii 🙆 🞯
1	TheDarkKnight +	Project Settings	Notifications + New subscription @ Delivery settings	Help		2
	Overview	General	Bestriction		Type	Notifies
-	Boards	Overview Teams	Build			
9	Repos	Security	Build completes	⊕	Build completed	\varTheta TheDarkKnight Tea
s.	Pipelines	Notifications 2 Service hooks	build completes		(any project)	individual mempers
4	Test Plans	Dashboards	Code (Git)			
A	Artifacts	Boards	Pull request reviewers added or removed Notifies the team when it is added or removed as a reviewer for a pull req	0	Pull request (any project)	O TheDarkKnight Teal Individual members
		Project configuration Team configuration	Pull request changes Notifies the team when changes are made to a pull request the team is a run	0	Pull request (any project)	TheDarkKnight Tear Individual members
		GitHub connections	Release			
		Pipelines	Manual intervention pending Notifies the team when a manual intervention is pending on the team	⊕	Deployment pending (any project)	TheDarkKnight Teal Individual members
		A Agent pools	Deployment to an owned stage failed Notifies the team when a deployment does not succeed and makes a stag	0	Deployment comple (any project)	TheDarkKnight Teal Individual members
0	Project settings 🕚 «	 Parallel jobs Settings 	Deployment to an approved stage failed	⊕	Deployment comple	😵 TheDarkKnight Tea

Figure 4-4. Adding a new notification

A new window will open. You can select a notification category and template from this window. To send a notification for work item changes, select Work in the Category section and select "A work item is changed" in the Template section. See Figure 4-5. Then click Next to move to the next step.

tegory	Template	
uild	A work item is created	
ode (Git)	A work item is changed	
ode (TFVC)	A work item is deleted	
/ork	A work item is restored	
zure Artifacts «tension management elease	A work item is moved from this team project	

Figure 4-5. Selecting a category to create a notification

Let's identify the template items in the Work category.

- **A work item is created**: Mail receivers will be notified when a new work item is added.
- **A work item is changed**: Mail receivers will be notified when a work item is changed.
- **A work item is deleted**: Mail receivers will be notified when a work item is deleted.

Cancel

Next

CHAPTER 4 WORK ITEM NOTIFICATIONS, TAGS, AND CUSTOMIZATION

- **A work item is restored**: Mail receivers will be notified when a work item is restored from the Recycle Bin of Azure Boards.
- A work item is moved from this team project: Mail receivers will be notified when a work item is moved from the team project to another team project.

After clicking the Next button, you will navigate to the window where you can select the notification receivers. See Figure 4-6.

Description 1					Subscriber (2)	
A work item is changed					TheDarkKnight Team	
Deliver to		Roles 4	,		6	
Members of TheDarkKni	ght Team by role 🛛 🗸	Assigned t	o (current), Assign	ed to (previou	s), $\not\leftarrow$ 🔲 Skip initiator	
Filter 6						7
 Any team project 	A specific team project	t		The	DarkKnight	2
Filter criteria 🛛 🕚						
(And/Or	Field		Operator	1	/alue	
		21		20	Lines Charas	

Finish

Cancel

Figure 4-6. Adding a notification receiver

- 1. This is a description of the work item.
- 2. This is the creator of the notification.
- 3. Select the notification receivers from this drop-down. There are several options to select the notification e-mail receivers. See Figure 4-7.

-							
1	-			-	100	۰.	-
	-	111	11	-	Ε.		.)
-	-			-			~



Figure 4-7. Drop-down to select notification receivers

a. A notification is sent to the members of TheDarkKnight team, which has a selectable role. See Figure 4-8. As an example, the notification is sent to a previously assigned user of the changed work item.

1	les		1
	Ass	igned to (current), Assigned to (previous), 4 $^{\succ}$	
		Assigned to (current)	
:		Assigned to (previous)	
		Assigned to (new)	
ĺ		Changed by	
		Created by	
		Authorized as	

Figure 4-8. Roles

- b. "Deliver to" recipients are determined by the delivery setting of the team or group.
- c. A notification is sent to the custom e-mail addresses provided separated by a comma.

CHAPTER 4 WORK ITEM NOTIFICATIONS, TAGS, AND CUSTOMIZATION

- d. All members of the team receive notifications.
- e. SOAP allows you to define a URL where you can develop a web app/API that can receive SOAP messages.
- 4. Here you give values for the "Deliver to" drop-down selections.
- 5. No notification is delivered to the user who initiated the event when "Skip initiator" is cheeked.
- 6. You can use the Filter options to select the team project.
- 7. Select the team project.
- 8. Add queries to define the filter criteria. You can add other fields and change the filter criteria to create a custom notification.
- 9. Create and save the notification.

You can find the newly added work item in the Notifications section. See Figure 4-9.

Notif	ications + New subscription <a> Delivery settings	Help		2
• □■ ↑	Manual intervention pending Notifies the team when a manual intervention is pending on the team	(Deployment pending (any project)	TheDarkKnight Teal Individual members
↑	Deployment to an owned stage failed Notifies the team when a deployment does not succeed and makes a stag.		Deployment comple (any project)	TheDarkKnight Teal Individual members
^	Deployment to an approved stage failed Notifies the team when a deployment team approved does not succeed an		Deployment comple (any project)	TheDarkKnight Tear Individual members
↑	Deployment completion failures Notifies the team when a deployment team requested does not succeed a.		Deployment comple (any project)	TheDarkKnight Tear Individual members
↑	Deployment approval pending Notifies the team when an approval for a deployment is pending on the te		Release approval pe (any project)	TheDarkKnight Tear Individual members
Work				
⊵	A work item is created Modified 5 minutes ago by 🌑 nilmini herath		Work item (project TheDarkKnight)	TheDarkKnight Teal Individual members by role:
Ê	A work item is changed Modified just now by O nilmini herath		Work item (project TheDarkKnight)	TheDarkKnight Tea Individual members by role:
				•

Figure 4-9. Newly added notifications

When you subscribe to notifications, you will receive an e-mail based on the notification settings. For example, you'll receive a notification that a work item has been assigned when someone else assigns you a work item. See Figure 4-10.



Figure 4-10. Work item assigned a notification e-mail

We discussed Azure DevOps team notifications in this lesson. You learned how to create a work item notification and verify notification was sent to the relevant receivers as defined.

Lesson 4-3. Customizing a Kanban Board's Card

Kanban board cards can be customized to visualize the information of the backlog effectively in Azure Boards. In this lesson, you'll learn about the Azure DevOps Kanban card customization capabilities.

Prerequisites: You need a backlog with work items.

Azure DevOps allows to customize epic, feature, and storyboard cards separately. You can have different card views for each board. The main purpose of card view customization is to track the project's progress easily at the team meetings such as the daily standups. Go to the Stories board and click Settings.

The Board settings window will open. You can find the Fields section under Cards. Let's start with the field customization.

Customizing Fields

Azure DevOps provides various cards with customization options. You can select the fields that need to be displayed on the cards.

You will see two main sections in the field customization area. One is the core field area where default fields are displayed. The other area is the "Additional fields" area where you can add new fields to the cards.

There are core fields with a check box to the left of each field name. If you want to remove a core field from the card view, you can deselect the check box next to that core field.

Cards	Fields	
Fields	Show the important information to your team. Fields are editable directly on the	e card.
Styles		
Tag colors	User Story	
Annotations	Core fields	^
Tests	Show ID	
	Show Assigned To as:	
Board	Avatar and full name (default) \sim	
Columns	Show Story Points	-
Swimlanes		

Core fields are ID, assigned to, Story point, and tags. See Figure 4-11.

Figure 4-11. Core fields

You can add any field by clicking the + Field button and selecting a field name from the drop-down. If you want to remove a field, you can remove the field by clicking the red X to the right of the field value. At the bottom of the page you will see a check box that allows you to decide whether empty fields should be displayed on cards. See Figure 4-12.
Cards	Fields	
Fields *	Show the important information to your team. Fields are edita	able directly on the card.
Styles		
Tag colors	User Story	
Annotations	Additional fields	pear on the card
Tests	+ Field	
Board	State 🗸	×
Columns	Work Itom Tuno	~
Swimlanes	work item type	^
Card reordering	Show empty fields	
Status badge	Check if you want to display fields, even when they are	empty.
-		

Figure 4-12. Additional fields

In our example, we have four core fields and two additional fields in the storyboard cards. Let's go to the storyboard and verify the fields on the card. See Figure 4-13.



Figure 4-13. Story board card fields

- 1. Work item ID
- 2. Assigned team member
- 3. Story points
- 4. Tag value
- 5. Work item state
- 6. Work item type

You can see all the selected field values displayed on the story board. If you go to the epic or features board, these field values are not visible on the card.

So far, you have seen how to customize Kanban board cards. If you move to the task board of the sprint, you can add different customizations. Go to the settings of a task board. You can add the same rules to the task, bug, and user story of the task board. See Figure 4-14.

Cards	Fields					
Fields	Show the imp	ortant inform	nation to your team.	Fields are editab	le directly on the card	
Styles	Task	👼 Bug	User Story			
General						
Backlogs	Core fields	D				
Working days	Show /	Assigned To a	as:			
Working with bugs	Avata	ar and full na	me (default)	~		
	Show I	Remaining W	ork			

Figure 4-14. Task board with multiple work item customizations

You have learned about the different board card field customization options available with Azure DevOps. Now let's discuss how to add card-style rules.

Adding Card-Style Rules

Azure DevOps has a board customization feature that allows you to add styling rules to cards. When a work item matches the criteria of more than one rule, the first rule is used and applied to the card. Let's add a few rules to the work items.

Go to a story board and open the Settings dialog. Select Styles in the Cards section. Click the Styling rule to add a new rule.

For the name of the first rule, enter **No recent state change**. Set it up so that the work item card's color changes to red if the card stays in the same state for more than five days. See Figure 4-15.

li

	lame		Preview	Enabled
No reco	ent state change 🏾 🕚		Title	
Rule na	ame			
Name	No recent state char	nge		
Styling Select Card c	your style choices. olor	× 2		
Title st Rule cr	yle <u>A</u> B <i>I</i> <u>U</u> iteria tyling choices apply to	 all work items th 	at match all clause	es of your custom
Your st				
Your st criteria	Field	Operator	Value	

Figure 4-15. Adding the card rule

Let's identify each section of the rule.

- 1. This is the rule name. You can enter any meaningful name.
- 2. You can change the card color. The cards that meet the rule requirements change to this color.
- 3. You can change the card title fonts in this section.
- 4. You can add rule criteria in this section.

For the second rule, enter **Current Iteration Items for the name, and set up the** rule as shown in Figure 4-16.

eration Items			
		Title	
e			
Current Iteration Ite	ms		
ur style choices. ria ing choices apply to Field	all work items Operator	that match all clause Value	es of your custom
Iteration Path V	= ~	@CurrentIteratio	on 🗸
	e Current Iteration Ite our style choices. ria ing choices apply to Field	Current Iteration Items Our style choices. eria ing choices apply to all work items Field Operator	Current Iteration Items Our style choices. Pria Pring choices apply to all work items that match all clause Field Operator Value

Figure 4-16. Rule to view current iteration items in blue

For the third rule, enter **Current Iteration Title Font Change** for the name. Set it up to change the title fonts and colors based on the current iteration. See Figure 4-17.

Rule Name		Name Preview		Enabled
Current	Iteration Title Font Cha	ange	Title	
Rule na	ime			
Name	Current Iteration Tit	tle Fo		
Styling Select	your style choices.			
Card co	olor	\sim		
Title st	yle <u>A</u> B <i>I</i> U			
Rule cri Your st	1 2 3 4 iteria yling choices apply to	all work items	that match all clause	es of your custom
erreerre.				
	Field	Operator	Value	

Figure 4-17. Changing work item title fonts

You can make the following changes to the work item's font:

- 1. Change the font color.
- 2. Use bold for the title text.
- 3. Use italics for the title text.
- 4. Underline the title.

You can add different style rules to the cards and keep rules in the disabled state. These rules are used only when they are in enabled mode. See Figure 4-18.

Rule Name	Preview	Enabled	
Current Iteration Title Font Change	Title		···
Current Iteration Items	Title	V	Clone 2
No recent state change	Title		Move down 🕙

Figure 4-18. Style rules list

Click the three dots on a rule. Then you will be able to see the pane that allows you to perform three actions on the rules.

- 1. Delete the rule.
- 2. Create a clone of the rule.
- 3. Rule order is important because the first one applies when more than one matches for a work item. You can change the order of the rules using this option.

By adding these types of rules, you can easily identify the progress of a project. As an example, if there is a work item in the same state for more than five days, there may be a blocking issue to complete that work. If these types of items are displayed on the board in a different color, team members can easily identify the work item and take the correct action. See Figure 4-19.

 The Darkk night learn View as Backlog 	<u>√ ₩ ₹</u>			開 Stories ~ 鸢 マ ③ イ
view Work K	Developing ⁽ⁱ⁾		1/s Testing	
New item	∽ Expedite			
It As a banking officer, I need to perform final cash withdrawal from a savings account to be closed account so that the account to get deactivated	Doing	Done	Doing	Dune
Chammula chamulte	^			
State @ New Work Ite User Story	Doing	Done	Doing	Done
A sa banking officer, level to open a wings account for a container. Chaminds Chand	If 6 & a banking officer, I need to capture cantomer data bank to capture bank. 2 State • A Active • A Active Work has. User Story 1 Teiler • Active • A Active			
12 As a banking officer, I need to close a savings account of a customer				
- nimeni necada				
Work he User Story				

Figure 4-19. Board customization with rules

So far, we have discussed two card customization options. Let's see another available feature in Azure DevOps.

Go to Boards and open the Settings window. You will see the "Tag colors" section under Cards.

Setting the Tag Color

Click the "Tag color" icon.

Select the tag from the Tag drop-down and select the color of the tag. You can give colors to every tag available in the project backlog items. See Figure 4-20.

Cards	Tag colors				
Fields	Emphasize selected to	ags using colors. Only or	ne color applies to a	tag at	a tim
Styles	+ Tag color			-	
Tag colors *	, .,				
Annotations	Tag	Col	lor	Ena	bled
Tests	Teller	~	~		×
Board	CDM	~	\sim		×
Columns		2	3	4	5
Swimlanes					

Settings

Figure 4-20. Adding tag colors

Let's identify each part of the page shown in Figure 4-20.

- 1. Add new tags.
- 2. Select a tag value from the drop-down.
- 3. Select the color.
- 4. Enable or disable the tag color.
- 5. Delete the tag color.

After adding the tag colors, save the changes. Go to the relevant board. You will be able to see that the tag colors have changed. See Figure 4-21.

×

🚟 TheDarkKnight Team 🗸 😒 View as Backlog 🕅 Stories 🗸 🚔 🍸 🚳 < Developing ⁽⁾ New Work Testing 1/5 t 6 As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details so 1 7 As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account for a customer that a new customer can be added to the bank Chaminda Chandr... 3 NH nilmini herath 2 State • Active State New Work Ite... User Story Work Ite... User Story Teller 8 As a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit for a new savings account so that the account to get activated Chaminda Chandr... 3 State New Work Ite... User Story CDM

CHAPTER 4 WORK ITEM NOTIFICATIONS, TAGS, AND CUSTOMIZATION

Figure 4-21. Tag color changes on the board

Let's discuss the Annotations section of the card customization options. You can find the Annotations section under Cards. Select Annotations.

By default, you will see three annotation values in the card customization section. They are Task, Bug, and Tests. See Figure 4-22.

Cards	Annotations		
Fields	Show visual cues or	n cards.	
Styles	Annotation	Visualization	Enabled
Tag colors			
Annotations *	Task	Ê	
Tests	Bug	æ	•
Board	Tests	4	
Columns			
Swimlanes			
V			

Figure 4-22. Enabling and disabling an annotation

We will discuss bug and tests in the *Hands-on Tests* book of this series. Note that we will discuss how a task's visual cues work here. You can decide whether tasks are displayed on the story card or not. You can enable or disable the task using the check box. If you disable a task from here, tasks are not displayed on the story board's cards. See Figure 4-23.

TheDarkKnight Team	∕ ☆ ¢*		
View as Backlog			🎮 Stories 🗸 🚔 🖓 🥝
Vew Work <	Developing ⁽⁾	1/5 Testing	
7 As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account for a customer	6 As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details so that a new customer can be added to the bank		
Chaminda Chandr 3	NII nilmini herath 2		
State New Work Ite User Story	State Active Work Ite User Story		
<u>8</u> 0/4	Teller		
+ Add Task	<u>iii</u> 0/5		
Create tables for savings accounts			
E Test Case Creation: As a banking officer, I need			
Test Case Execution: As a banking officer, 1			
Create Screen for account opening			

Figure 4-23. Task displayed on the story items

In the epic board, you can enable features as the child item to display on cards, while in feature cards you can display stories as the child item to display, similar to tasks in the story cards.

Customizing Tests

The Tests section in the card customization options will be discussed in the *Hands-on Tests* book of this series.

You learned different card customization features available in Azure DevOps in this lesson. You explored how to add new fields to a card, add card rules, and add tag colors. Finally, you saw how to customize annotations in this lesson.

Lesson 4-4. Customizing a Kanban Board's Settings

The Kanban board in Azure DevOps can be customized using the Settings dialog of the Kanban board. The customizations are limited but powerful when used in combination with the process customization at the project template (Agile/Scum/CMMI/Basic) level, which can be used to introduce new work items or to add new states and fields to work items. We will discuss these process customizations with project templates in Chapter 5. In this lesson, let's look at the available options in the Settings dialog that let you change the board's appearance by introducing new columns, splitting columns into ongoing and done lists, introducing swim lanes, reordering cards, and using status badges. The customizations described here can be applied to any backlog level, namely, epics, features, and user stories/PBI/requirements.

To launch the Settings dialog of a Kanban board, click the cogwheel icon at the topright side when you are on the board's page. Select the stories board view and open the Settings dialog by clicking the cogwheel. See Figure 4-24.



Figure 4-24. Launching the board's Settings dialog

Customizing Columns

By default the Agile team backlog item process flow for epics, features, and user stories is New \blacktriangleright Active \triangleright Resolved \succ Closed. The New state is considered as belonging to the "Proposed state" category, and the Closed state belongs to the "Completed state" category. The in-between states, Active and Resolved, belong to the In Progress states. In the board's column customization settings, you are not allowed to alter the order or state used for the first column or for the last column in the board, which belong to the "Proposed state" and "Completed state" categories, respectively. The only context menu option available for the first column is Insert Right, which will add a new column to the right of the first column. The last column's context menu has an Insert Left option, allowing you to add a column to the left of the last column in the Kanban board. However, you can alter the name of the first and last columns of the Kanban board to suit your preferences. Let's rename the first column to New Work. See Figure 4-25.

-			
50	ttu	na	C
JC	u	ing	5

Cards	Columns
Fields	Columns visualize the flow of work across the board.
Styles	+ Column
Tag colors	
Annotations	New Work Insert right Resolved Closed
Tests	Column name
Board	Name New Work
Columns *	State mapping
Swimlanes	The first column is mapped to the initial state used when a work item is created.
Card reordering	User Story New
Status badge	
- · · ·	
	Save and close Cancel

Figure 4-25. Customizing the first column of the Kanban board

Now let's move to the second column, Active, and do some comparison to the first column as well as some customizations. See Figure 4-26.

×

Settings



X

Figure 4-26. Customizing the in-progress column

- This allows you to add a column to the left of the selected column. When you select the first column and click this button, the new column will be added to the right of the first column.
- 2. The context menu of the In Progress category columns will allow you to remove a column. You can move a column left or right (in Figure 4-26 the column can be moved only to the right since it is next to the first column), and you can insert another column to the left or right side of the current column.

146

- 3. You can rename the column to suit your preferences. Let's rename Active to Developing.
- 4. You can set a limit for the work in progress (WIP) for the column. This means you should not have more work items than the number specified for the WIP limit. However, this does not prevent you from adding more items to the Kanban board column than the specified limit. Rather, it will indicate the work in progress limit has been exceeded by changing the color of the number that appears on top of the column to red. See Figure 4-27.



Figure 4-27. Exceeding the work in progress limit

- 5. Splitting columns into Doing and Done helps you to identify two stages within the same column. Let's select "Split column into doing and done" for the Developing (Active) column.
- 6. The state mapping can be provided for the backlog work item type for the column. Dragging and dropping an item to a given column will make the state change to the specified state. This is useful when new states are introduced to work items that change the process flow, which we will discuss in Chapter 5. There can be multiple work item states to map. For example, if you are managing the Bug work items with the requirements (as you learned about in Lesson 3-6), you have to set both the work item states here. See Figure 4-28.

Columns visualize the flow of work across the board.

New Work		Developing	Resolved	Closed
State map	ping	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
specify the	e state ti	his column maps to.		
Bug	e state ti New	nis column maps to.		

Figure 4-28. Work item state mapping for column

7. You can define a definition of done criteria for when you are considering a work item in this column done. When the item meets the criteria, it will be moved to the column on the right side or to the done area inside the column when it is split into Doing and Done. Let's add a definition of Done such as "All development tasks are closed by meeting the individual task acceptance criteria" to the Developing column. This will set a small information tag near the title of the column in the Kanban board, which will show the definition of Done for the column when you hover the mouse over that icon. See Figure 4-29.



Figure 4-29. Definition of Done in Kanban column

Let's add another column in between Developing and Resolved and name it Testing. Set the user story's state as Active and split the column to Doing and Done.

 Once all the changes are completed, click Save and Close to save the changes to the board columns. The board should look like Figure 4-30.



Figure 4-30. Kanban flow modified

Even though you successfully modified the Kanban workflow of the user story board, the same state of Active for the User Story work item is shared between the Developing and Testing columns. This makes it impossible to change the column to Testing by changing the state of the work item, since it will always move to Developing when the state is set to Active. The only way to move it to the Testing column is to drag and drop it. You can fix this behavior by introducing new states to work items, as will be explained in Lesson 5-3.

Using Swimlanes

Swimlanes allow you to create additional horizontal lanes in between the "Proposed category" state (New) and the "Completed category" state (Closed). In the Kanban board's Settings dialog, select the Swimlanes tab in the Boards section. Then click + Swimlane to add a new swimlane. As an example, you can name it Expedite to denote the work in this lane should be given a higher priority than the work items in other lanes. See Figure 4-31.



Figure 4-31. Swimlanes settings for the Kanban board

150

- 1. This allows you to add a swimlane above the currently selected swimlane.
- 2. You can remove a swimlane (Remove is not available for the Default lane), move a swimlane up or down, and insert a lane above or below the current lane options.

Let's move the newly added swimlane Expedite to the top and then save and close it. This will add the new Expedite lane to the Kanban board. You are able to collapse and expand when you have more than one swimlane in the Kanban board. See Figure 4-32.

TheDarkKnight	Team ~	1 A ^R								
View as Backlog								🛿 Stories 🗸	≩ 7	ي (
New Work	<	Developing 💿	1/5	Testing	0/5	Resolved	0/5	Closed		<
+ New item	Q	^ Expedite								
11 As a banking office to perform final cash with from a savings account to closed account so that the to get deactivated 100 nilmini herath State New Work Ite User Story	tr, I need drawal be e account	Collapse/Expan								
11 7 As a banking officer, to open a savings account customer 110 nilmini herath State New Work Ite User Story	l need t for a 3	Doing G As a banking officer. I need to capture customer details so that a new customer can be added to the bank Chaminda Chandras 2 State Active Work Ike Uker Story	Done	Doing	Done					

Figure 4-32. Swimlanes in Kanban

Reordering Cards

In the Kanban board, the card reordering settings can be used to define the behavior of the card order when you drag and drop a card from a column to another column. To change the card reordering settings, select the "Card reordering" tab in the Boards section in the Kanban board settings. See Figure 4-33.

Settings



X

Figure 4-33. Card reordering settings

- 1. When you drag and drop the work item, depending on the place you are dropping, the work item will reorder in the backlog.
- 2. When you drag and drop, the work item will be automatically moved and positioned on the board depending on the order of work items set in the backlog. This will be the more desirable option if you are new to Azure Boards to prevent accidental reordering of backlog items.

Setting Up a Status Badge

A status badge can be used to quickly communicate the status of Azure Boards in dashboards. The "Status badge" settings can be changed in the Kanban board on the "Status badge" tab in the Boards section. See Figure 4-34.

X



Figure 4-34. Board's "Status badge" settings

- 1. You can allow anonymous access to the status badge.
- 2. You can include all board columns or only the In Progress columns, which will omit the first and last columns from the badge.
- 3. A preview of the badge will be shown.
- 4. Copy the Markdown content, which you can use in the Markdown widget in the dashboard or in a team wiki page.
- 5. An image of the badge can be viewed using this URL.

The "Status badge" settings saved are not the ones getting applied when you are using it in wiki or dashboards. You can set your preferences and copy the Markdown or image URL and use the copied url in a web page or in a wiki page. Then change the preferences and get more Markdown code or an image URL. Both will work at the same time without any issues with different settings.

Let's copy the image URL of the status badge while allowing anonymous access and with all columns. Then paste it in a new browser window's address bar and press Enter. The badge will appear. Change the settings to the In Progress columns, open another browser window, and try accessing the URL. Now you will be able to see the status badge only with the In Progress columns in the board. See Figure 4-35.



Figure 4-35. Status badge image in a browser

The image URL can be used in a readme HTML file or in any other place where applicable to show the status of Azure Boards.

You can add the Markdown code of the status badge to a widget in the dashboard to enable users to view the badge in the dashboard. See Figure 4-36. We will discuss how to use the Markdown widget in a dashboard in Lesson 6-8.



Figure 4-36. Board status badge in the dashboard

In this lesson, we discussed how to change columns, add swimlanes, reorder cards, and use status badges. However, you do use these options to customize the task boards (sprint/iteration boards). Customizations to task boards can be applied only via state changes to task work items, which will be discussed in Lessons 5-3 and 5-4.

Summary

In this chapter, we discussed how to subscribe to work item notifications in Azure Boards. Further, we showed how to set up Kanban board card style customizations including adding fields, changing colors, and using tag colors. We also showed how to change columns, add swimlanes, reorder cards, and use status badges.

In the next chapter, we'll proceed to the process customizations that will allow you to apply more changes to how Azure Boards and work items behave so that you can change Azure Boards to model how you want your process to flow.

CHAPTER 5

Customizing the Process

We discussed how to customize Kanban boards and cards in detail in the previous chapter. Adding on to that knowledge, this chapter will take you further through the journey of customizing Azure Boards. We'll discuss how to customize work items, change work item state flow, introduce new work item types, and show how to add top-level backlogs on top of epics, features, and stories. Additionally, custom work item rules can give you the capability to set up custom behaviors on work item fields to cater to various business scenarios. We will not cover the XML-based template customizations that are available for on-premises versions of Azure DevOps.

Prerequisites: You are the collection admin of the Azure DevOps server or services. (Setting up security will be discussed in Chapter 9.)

Lesson 5-1. Creating an Inherited Process

To customize an inherited process, you first need to create an inherited process template from the existing process templates. There are four process templates available in Azure Boards out of the box, namely, Agile, Scrum, CMMI, and Basic. You can inherit from any these templates to create a custom process.

Since you have used the Agile template throughout the previous chapters, in this lesson you'll create an inherited template of the Agile template. Go to the Azure DevOps home, select your desired organization if you have multiple organizations, and then click "Organization settings." See Figure 5-1.



Figure 5-1. "Organization settings" item

Under Organization Settings on the left, select Process in the Boards section. See Figure 5-2.



Figure 5-2. Process item

Let's identify the areas on the Processes page.

- 1. This shows the process templates available. Out of the box there are four templates.
- 2. All the fields in the work items are listed here. We will discuss this tab in Lesson 5-2.
- 3. In the process template's context menu, you can create a new team project with the template, create an inherited process template, change existing projects to use the template, and manage the security of the template.
- 4. This shows the number of projects that are using the process template.

Let's go ahead and create an inherited process template of the Agile process by clicking "Create inherited process" in the context menu. A dialog box will open, and you can enter a name like **DemoAgileCustom** and a description for the inherited template. Then click the "Create process" button to create the new inherited template based on the Agile process template. See Figure 5-3.

Create inherited process from	Agile	
Create a new inherited process to enable cu	ustomizations.	
Agile [system process]		
문 DemoAgileCustom		
Description Demo Agile custom process template to Azure Boards book	show examples	s for the
Learn more 면		
Crea	te process	Cancel

Figure 5-3. Creating an inherited process

CHAPTER 5 CUSTOMIZING THE PROCESS

Let's inspect the context menu of the newly created inherited process template. See Figure 5-4.



Figure 5-4. Inherited process template context menu

- 1. Create a new team project with the process template.
- 2. Edit the name and description of the process template.
- 3. Create a copy of the current template as an inherited template of the parent template.
- 4. Change a project that is in the parent (Agile in this case) process template or in any of the inherited templates of the parent template to use the current template. You cannot change a project in one of the other parent templates to use the inherited or parent template of the current selection. For example, the Agile template or its inherited templates can be used, but only by the team

projects that are already using Agile or its inherited processes. Moving a project from one of the default templates to another default or its inherited processes is not allowed.

- 5. Set the template as the default for the organization, which will be selected as the default template when you try to create a new team project from the organization home page or on the Projects tab of the organization settings, as described in Lesson 1-2. The "Set as default process" menu option is available in any template context menu other than the current default template context menu.
- 6. You can disable any process template other than the default one. Any existing team projects using the template will work fine after disabling the template. However, you will not be able to create new projects or change existing projects to use a disabled template. Nevertheless, you will be able to create an inherited process from a disabled template if it is an out-of-the-box one, or you can copy the process if it is an inherited one. The context menu options will change once a process template is disabled, and it will let you enable the process via the context menu instead of the disable option.
- 7. Deleting is possible for any inherited custom process template as long as the template is not set as the default template for the organization and the template is not used by any of the team projects.
- 8. Security for the process template can be set here. We will be discussing security options in Lesson 8-4.

Let's try to change the existing team project you have been using throughout this book to use the new custom inherited template by clicking "Change team projects to use DemoAgileCustom." In the dialog that appears, you can select the required project from "Available projects" and click OK to change the process template to the new inherited template. See Figure 5-5.

CHAPTER 5 CUSTOMIZING THE PROCESS

Change process

Change team projects to use the DemoAgileCustom process.

Available projects	Projects that will change process	
AgileTarget [Agile]	TheDarkKnight	
✓ TheDarkKnight [Agile]		
Learn more ഥ		

Figure 5-5. Changing a project to use a given template

You explored the ability to create an inherited process template from the out-of-thebox templates available in Azure DevOps in this lesson. Further, you selected a project that was using the Agile template and changed it to use the inherited Agile custom template.

Ok

Cancel

Lesson 5-2. Editing Work Item Types

You can define how your work item type behaves, how the work item form should look, and what fields are shown in the work item by modifying the work item in the inherited process template. It is possible to introduce new fields to work items or make modifications to fields. Let's explore the options to modify work item types in this lesson.

Editing the Work Item Color and Icon

Clicking the name of the inherited process on the Process tab in the organization settings will open the process's "Work item types" tab. See Figure 5-6.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organization Settings / Process	✓ Search	1 🗂 🤵
Organization Settings		⑦ Help	em type nam
General	Work item types Backlog levels Projects		
Overview	+ New work item type		
Projects	Name	Description	
x ^R Users	H D		
按 Billing	e Bug	Describes a divergence between	required and
Global notifications	👑 Epic	Epics help teams effectively man	age and groo
A. Usage	👳 Feature	··· Tracks a feature that will be relea	sed with the p
Extensions		2 54	
A Azure Active Directory	A Issue	Picelle or progress.	
Security	😢 Task	bisable s to be do	ne.
Policies	Б <u>४</u> Test Case	Server-side data for a set of step	s to be tested.
A Permissions	📴 Test Plan	Tracks test activities for a specific	milestone or
Boards	Test Suite	Tracks test activites for a specific	feature, requir
C) Process	III User Story	Tracks an activity the user will be	able to perfor
Pipelines			

Figure 5-6. Process template work item types

- 1. This is the "Work items types" tab, which will list all the work item types.
- 2. These are the backlog levels of the process template. We'll explore this tab in Lesson 5-5.
- 3. Projects using the template are listed on this tab.
- 4. You can start creating a new work item type by clicking "+ New work item type," which we will discuss further in Lesson 5-4.

CHAPTER 5 CUSTOMIZING THE PROCESS

5. The work item type context menu will let you disable any work item type except Test Case, Test plan, and Test Suite. When a work item type is disabled, any project using the template cannot create new work items of the disabled work item type. However, any existing work items in a team project of the disabled work item type can still be used and updated. Disabled work items can be enabled using the same context menu once disabled; the menu text will change to Enable instead of Disable. Clicking Edit will open a dialog where you can edit the description, icon color, and icon of the work item type. See Figure 5-7.

Edit work item type			
Name *			
Feature			
Description			
Tracks a feature that will be re	eleased with	the product	
Icon T V			
Icon color			
Learn more 🖻			
		Save	Cancel

Figure 5-7. Editing the work item type

Modifying the Layout of the Work Item Form

Clicking a work item type name shown on the "Work item types" tab of the process template (see Figure 5-6) will take you to the Layout tab of the work item type. Let's open the layout of the User Story work item. You can see there is a page named Details and three columns in the layout. See Figure 5-8.

sldevop / Organization Settings / Process	✓ Search	
1 ro 2 es 3 moAgileCustom > User Story		
yout States Rules	0	
4 5 6	<u>د</u> رې	
년 Details 🥑		
C Description	🔁 Planning 1	C Development
Text (multiple lines)	E Story Points	Links 12
E Acceptance Criteria		문 Related Work
Text (multiple lines)	Integer	Links
	문 Risk	
	Text (single line)	
	₽ Classification	
	문 Value area	
	Text (single line)	

Figure 5-8. Work item layout

- 1. This is the Layout tab of the work item.
- 2. This is the States tab where you can change the state workflow of the work item type, which we will discuss in Lesson 5-3.
- 3. This is the Rules tab for defining custom rules for the work item type, which we will discuss in Lesson 5-6.
- 4. You can add a new field, which we will discuss later in this lesson.
- 5. You can add a new group, which we will discuss later in this lesson.

CHAPTER 5 CUSTOMIZING THE PROCESS

- 6. You can add a new page to the work item layout, which we will discuss later in this lesson.
- 7. You can use extensions from the marketplace in the work item layout, which we will discuss in Lesson 10-2.
- 8. You can refresh the layout.
- 9. This is the Details page. It has a context menu, which allows you to click Edit and open a dialog to edit the name of the page.
- 10. The Description and Acceptance Criteria fields both have a context menu, which allows the fields to be hidden from layout and allows you to edit the field's label. However, it is not possible to move the field out from the group that the field is in since it is an inherited field from the parent process. See Figure 5-9. Any other inherited field such as Story Points, Priority, and so on, has the same context menu and has the same restriction that you cannot change the group or column the field is appearing in by default.



Figure 5-9. Inherited fields context menu

11. The Development and Related work fields can be hidden from the page layout but cannot be edited or moved to another position.

>

Editing an Inherited Field

Click Edit in the Description field's context menu. You will be able to edit only the label. See Figure 5-10.

Definition	Choos	e how the field is displayed on the work item form.	
Options	Label	Durativited	
ayout	Laber	Description	_
	Page	Details	
	Select (*)	the column for this group.	

Figure 5-10. Inherited field label editing

On the Options tab of the Edit field, you can set the field to be required and provide a default value for the field. See Figure 5-11.

Edit field D	Description in User Story	×
Definition	Set options for the field	
Options	Required	
Layout	Default value	

Figure 5-11. Inherited field options

The information—namely, the name, type, or description—on the Definition tab of an inherited field cannot be edited.

Editing an Inherited Group

Inherited groups such as Planning have a context menu (see Figure 5-12) that allows you to add a new field to the group and edit the group name via a dialog. However, you can only edit the name of the inherited group and the column; where the group is currently positioned cannot be changed.



Figure 5-12. Inherited group context menu

Adding a New Page to the Layout

On the Layout tab of the work item, you can click "New page" (see Figure 5-8) to add a new page. You can provide a name for the page in the pop-up dialog and click OK to create a new page in the work item layout. The newly created page has a context menu with two options. Edit will allow you to edit the name of the page, and Remove will remove the page. See Figure 5-13.



Figure 5-13. New page in layout

Adding a New Group to the Layout

You can click "New group" while you are in a layout page (see Figure 5-8) to add a new group to the page that is selected. A pop-up window will open, and you can provide a name for the group, select the page to add the group, and define the column that the group should be added to. See Figure 5-14.

Name	
Bank Info	
Page	
Additional Info	~

Figure 5-14. Adding a group

In a group, a few context menu options are available. See Figure 5-15.
All processes > DemoAgileCustom > User Story

Dew field 🖀 New	group 🗋 New page	📋 Get extensions 🕴 💍		
문 Details	Additional Info			
C Description			🔓 Planning	
Text (multiple lines)			C Story Points	;
Bank Info			문 Priority	
			New field Edit	ine
C Acceptance Crite	eria	^	Maura un	
Text (multiple lines)			Move down	io

Figure 5-15. Custom group context menu

"New field" allows you to add a new field to the group. For custom added groups, you can edit and change the name, page, or column of the page where it is added. Edit can change the page of the group such as Details. Remove will remove the group. "Move up" and "Move down" or drag and drop can be used to change the column or position of the custom group within a layout page.

Adding a Custom Field

Let's add a new field to a User Story work item type group. For this you can click the New field in the group context menu or click "New field" on the layout page. On the Definition tab you can specify a name and select the type of data and provide a description. See Figure 5-16. Instead of adding a new field, you can add an existing field that is not already in the work item layout. If you are using an existing field, you are not allowed to change the data type or description. For this example, select a new field, type **Operation Area** for the name, and select "Picklist (string)" for the type. See Figure 5-16.

×

Add a field to User Story

ptions			
	Use an existi	ng field	
iyout	Field	Accepted By	
	Create a field	1	
	Name	Operation Area	
	Туре	Text (single line)	~
		Boolean	
	Description	Date/Time	
		Decimal	
		Identity	
		Integer	
		Picklist (string)	
		Picklist (integer)	
		Text (single line)	
	Learn more	Tout (multiple firms)	

Figure 5-16. Adding a new custom field

When a pick list is selected, you can define values for the picklist. See Figure 5-17.

Name	Operation Area					
Туре	Picklist (string)	~				
Description	Ontionally provide a descrip	tion for the field				
	optionally provide a descrip	tion for the field				
Picklist items	Enter a value	+ Add value				
Picklist items	Enter a value	+Add value				
Picklist items	Enter a value	+ Add value				

Figure 5-17. Picklist type custom field

On the Options tab, you can set the field as required if necessary and set whether to allow user input other than the values in a picklist. Additionally, you can set a default value for the field. See Figure 5-18.

Definition	Set options for the field	
ptions	Required	
Layout	Allow users to enter their own values Default value	
	1	~
	ATM	
	CDM	
	Teller	

Figure 5-18. New field options

The Layout tab of the new field dialog allows you to define where the new field should be positioned by selecting the page and the group in the layout. You can even create a new group from here and add the new field to it. See Figure 5-19.

X

Add a field to User Story

Label	neration Area		
	peration Area		
Page D	etails		~
Select Group	existing group Bank Info		~
Create	new group		
Group	Custom		
Group	Custom		
	Page D © Select Group © Create Group	Label Operation Area Page Details Select existing group Group Bank Info Create new group Group Custom	Label Operation Area Page Details

Figure 5-19. New field layout

You can add or remove values for the picklist data type after creating the field using the Edit field in the field's context menu. However, once a new field is added, it cannot be renamed, and the data type cannot be changed. All other values such as whether it's required, the default value, and layout options can be changed by editing the field. Add the new field and inspect a User Story work item in a team project that is using the template that you modified. The new field should be visible in the work item. See Figure 5-20.

😡 nilmini	herath	₽ (comments	Teller × +		E s	ave	Follow	U	5 .
Stat <u>e</u>	Active	Area	TheDarkKr	night				U	pdated 23 h	no <mark>urs</mark> ag
Reason	🔒 Implementation start	Iteration	TheDarkKr	night\Iteration 1						
							Details	3	\$ (6)	0
Descriptio	on					Planning				
Click to ad	d Description					Story Points				
						2 Drineity				
Bank Info					^	2				
Operation Ar	ea					Risk				
					\sim					
ATM						Classificati	on			
CDM						Classificati	UII			
Teller						value area				

Figure 5-20. New field in user story

In this lesson, you looked at the work item layout change options and how you can add new custom fields to work item types.

Lesson 5-3. Changing the State Workflow of a Work Item

With the knowledge gained in the previous chapter, you know how to introduce a new workflow using Kanban columns. However, we discussed the issue of not being able to make the workflow changes effective when more than one Kanban column is sharing the same state. The change of state will always move the work item to the leftmost column in the board that is utilizing that state. To create effective state workflows, it is useful to have the ability to add or remove states in a work item type.

In Lesson 4-4, we added In Progress Kanban columns called Developing and Testing instead of Active and shared the Active state in both columns. Let's now create the actual Developing and Testing states for the User Story work item.

In the process template, select the User Story work item type and go to the States tab. You can see that the states are categorized into the groups Proposed, In Progress, Completed, and Removed. See Figure 5-21.

: sldevop / Organization Settings / Process	𝒫 Search	i 🗇 🥵
All processes > DemoAgileCustom > Use	er Story	
Layout States Rules		
For each work item type, you can customize the workflow t page you can add and remove custom states as well as hid	to support your team's process. From le inherited states (🖫).	this ⑦ Help
+ New state		
Proposed		
t, ● New		
In Progress	↔ View	
t • Resolved		
Completed		
€ ● Closed		
Removed		
₹, ○ Removed		

Figure 5-21. Work item type states

A context menu allows you to hide any out-of-the-box state except the Closed state. But you must have at least one state available in each state category. Click the "+ New state" button to add a new state. See Figure 5-21. A dialog will appear allowing you to select the existing state name or provide a new state name; select the state category and the color for the state. See Figure 5-22.

Add a state to User Story		X
Name		
Developing		~
state category		
In Progress		~
Color		
learn more @		
	Create	Cancel

Figure 5-22. Adding a new state

Let's add new two states, Developing and Testing, to the Progress category and hide the Active state. See Figure 5-23.

: sldevop / Organization Settings / Process	𝒫 Search	ie 🖞 🌘
All processes > DemoAgileCustom > Use	er Story	
Layout States Rules		
For each work item type, you can customize the workflow to page you can add and remove custom states as well as hide	o support your team's process. From e inherited states (ૡ,).	n this ⑦ Help
+ New state		
Proposed		
t, ● New		
In Progress		
t. ● Active		
₹, ● Resolved		
Developing		
Testing		
Completed		
₹, ● Closed		
Removed		
€ o Removed		

Figure 5-23. Modified user story states

When you view the user stories board in a team project that is using the changed process template, it will display an error message since you have hidden the Active state for the user story while it is already in use in the board columns. See Figure 5-24.



Figure 5-24. User stories board in error

You can follow the instructions in Lesson 4-4 and select the correct states using the Kanban board's Settings page for the columns Developing and Testing. This correction will make the Kanban board work. However, you will notice that the user stories that were in the Active state have disappeared from the board. You can go to the Work Items tab of the team project's Boards section to filter for all the user stories that are in the Active state. See Figure 5-25.



Figure 5-25. Active state user stories

Then you can bulk edit and change them to either the Developing or Testing state appropriately so that they appear on the user's stories board. See Figure 5-26.



Figure 5-26. Stories in new states appearing in the board

In the same way, you can edit the state workflow of any other work item type such as Epic, Feature, or Bug. As explained in Lesson 4-4, the task board does not have the ability to add columns via the Settings page of the task board. However, if you change the state fork flow of the task work item, it will be automatically get applied to the task board columns. See Figure 5-27.



Figure 5-27. Task board with state workflow changed to include Developing state

We discussed how to change the state workflow of work item types in this lesson using inherited process templates.

Lesson 5-4. Adding New Work Item Types

Sometimes your teams may not find the exact type of work items you are looking for in the out-of-the-box templates. For example, you may need a work item to keep track of follow-up work. Or you may want to add a backlog level.

In this lesson, let's try to add a new work item type to the inherited Agile process template named Initiative that you can use in Lesson 5-5 to add as a new backlog level.

On the process template's "Work item types" tab, click "+ New work item type." See Figure 5-28.



Figure 5-28. Clicking "+ New work item type"

Provide a name and description and select an icon and color for the new work item in the pop-up dialog. See Figure 5-29.

Initiative	
Description	
A top level backlog item to t	track broader initiatives of requirement
lcon * ~	
lcon color	
\sim	

Figure 5-29. Creating a new work item type

Once the new work item type is created, you will see the layout page of the new work item. There you can add new fields from existing ones or as new custom ones as per the instructions in Lesson 5-2. Change the state workflow based on your preferences using the instructions in Lesson 5-3. In the Work Items tab of a team project using the modified template, now you can see the new work item type is available for you to add and use. See Figure 5-30.

¢	Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheD	arkKni	ght	/ Boards / Work	Items	✓ Search
	The Dark Knight	+ Work Items					
۲	Overview	Recently updated	d 🗸	-	+ New Work Item $ imes$	→ Open	in Queries
-	Boards	∵ Filter by ke	eyworc	₩ ₩	Bug Epic	Assigned	to \vee States \vee Area
Ď	Work Items	ID	Title	Ŧ	Feature		
12°2	Boards	14	<u>е</u> т	*	Initiative	ng officer, l	need to maintain custome
3	Backlogs	13	<mark>)</mark>	▲	Issue Task	ecustomer i	nformation
Ď,	Sprints	6	 ,	S.	Test Case	capture cus	stomer details so that a ne
=⊽	Queries	2	W 4		User Story	ount manag	ing facility1

Figure 5-30. New work item type

In this lesson, you explored how to create a new work item type using an inherited process template.

Lesson 5-5. Adding a Top-Level Backlog

If you are handling a large project, you may want additional grouping levels for your backlog. With the new work item called Initiative created in Lesson 5-4, let's check how you can get it added as a top-level backlog.

Click the "Backlog levels" tab in the inherited process template. See Figure 5-31.

sldevop / Organization Settings / Process		♀ Search	i				
All processes > DemoAgileCustom							
Work item types Backlog levels Projects							
Portfolio backlogs Portfolio backlogs provide a way to group related items into a hierarchic:	al structure. You can rename and edit any portfolio back	dog level.					
+ New top level portfolio backlog 2							
Backlog	Work item types						
₽• Epics	₩ Epic						
₽• Features ···	🝸 Feature (default)						
Requirement backlog The requirement backlog level contains your base level work items. There Backlog	is only one requirement backlog and it cannot be rem Work item types	oved, but can be renamed and edit	ed.				
₽" Stories ····	User Story						
Iteration backlog The iteration backlog contains your task work items. There is only on Backlog	Vedit/Rename d it cannot be removed. The i	teration bac <mark>klog</mark> does not have an a	associated color.				
Tasks	🔁 Task						
Other work item types 5 Bug work items appear on the requirement backlog or the iteration backlog based on the team's setting. The remaining work item types are not displayed on any backlog or board. Backlog Work item types							
Requirement or Iteration backlog	🐱 Bug						
No associated backlog	* Initiative						
	A Issue						

Figure 5-31. Backlog levels

- 1. This is the portfolio backlog level with the epic and feature levels out of the box.
- 2. You can add more top-level backlog levels to the portfolio backlog level.
- 3. This is the requirements backlog.
- 4. This is the iteration backlog.
- 5. This section contains other work item types. Note that the Bug work item is special, and it can be in a requirement or iteration backlog level. The newly added work item is also in the other backlog levels.

6. A context menu is available for the portfolio, requirement, and iteration backlog levels. Edit/Rename will open a dialog box where you can change the backlog level name, add available work items to the backlog level, and set a default work item type for the backlog level. Clicking "+ New work item type" in the "Edit backlog level" dialog lets you add a new work item type by providing a name icon and an icon color. See Figure 5-32.

Edit backlog level	
The following fields are automatically added to all work item types of Stack Rank, Story Points	n the Requirement backlog:
Name Stories	
Work item types on this backlog level	
+ New work item type	
Default work item type	
	~

Figure 5-32. Editing the backlog level

e da la selencia la sel

7. The Reset menu option will remove all custom changes made to the backlog level.

Let's click "+ New top level portfolio backlog" to create the Initiatives top-level backlog for the Initiative work item you created. In the dialog box that opens, provide a name for the backlog level, select a color, and check the Initiative work item. You can select the default work item of this level as Initiative. Click Save to add the backlog level. See Figure 5-33.

Cancel

Save

Add portfolio backlog
The following fields are automatically added to all work item types on the Portfolio backlogs: Stack Rank
Name
Initiatives 🗸
Work item types on this backlog level
+ New work item type
Default work item type
Initiative \checkmark
Save Cancel

Figure 5-33. Creating a new top-level portfolio backlog

Once the backlog level is added in a team project that is using the modified process template, go to the board settings, and on the Backlogs tab of the General section, select the new backlog level for the team. Save and close the Settings page. See Figure 5-34.

×

Settings

Annotations	Backlogs	
Tests		
Board	See only the backlogs your team manages. Backlog navigation levels	
Columns	Initiatives	
Swimlanes	Epics	
Card reordering		
Status badge	Features	
Charts	✓ III Stories	
Cumulative Flow		
General		
Backlogs *		
Working days		
Working with bugs		
	Save and close	Cancel

Figure 5-34. New backlog level in board settings

The Initiatives backlog will be available for the team, and you will be able to add child Epic work items to it. See Figure 5-35.

¢	Azure DevOps	sldevop / Th	neDarkKnight /	Boards / Backlogs	𝒫 Search		1	Ô	۲
Т	TheDarkKnight +	冒 TheDar	kKnight Team	~ 🗙 x ^a					
2	Overview	+ New Wor	k Item 🎯 View	v as Board 🤌 Column Options 🕠	🗏 Initiatives	~ ₫	7	۲	2
	Boards	+ - Order	Work Item Type	Title		State		Effort	Busin
		+ 1	Initiative	🗸 🗚 As banker I need a banking applicat	ion to maintain cust •••	New			
Ċ	Work Items	Add: Epic	Epic	🗸 👑 As a banker I need saving accour	nt managing facility1	Resolve	d		
m	Boards		Feature	> 🍷 Facilitate cutomers to close sa	vings account	New			
з	Backlogs		Feature	> 🝸 Facilitate customers to open s	avings accounts	New			
_	g.		Epic	🕌 As banker I need lending facility	to enable granting perso	New			
Ø,	Sprints		Epic	🕌 As banker I need lending facility	to enable granting vehicl	New			
≣	Queries								

Figure 5-35. New backlog level in use

In this lesson, you learned how to add work items to backlog levels and how to create a top-level portfolio backlog level.

Lesson 5-6. Defining Custom Work Item Rules

As another level of customization to the process, you can define custom rules for each work item type in Azure Boards. The custom rules may help to control flow or make it mandatory to capture some valuable information based on the business requirements.

Prerequisites: You need to have performed all the previous lessons in this chapter. In this lesson, let's explore how to define custom rules. Click the inherited process template User Story and select the Rules tab. See Figure 5-36.



Figure 5-36. Work item rules

Clicking "New rule" will show the rule setup page. See Figure 5-37.

All processes > DemoAgileCusto ayout States Rules	m ≥ User Story		
[Unsaved] New rule			
	A rule allows you to specify actions on w conditions, you can control when the sys fields. Learn more about work item rules	ork item fields to automate their bo tem applies these changes to the t	ehavior. By defining
	Name Operation Area mandatory for	or Developing	
	Conditions © 3		
	When • A work item state is	 ✓ 	eloping ~
	+ New condition		
	Actions () 5		
	Then 🖙 Make required	✓ Operation	tion Area 🗸 🗸
	+ New action 6		

Figure 5-37. Custom work item rule

- 1. Once the first rule is added, "+ New rule" can be used to add more rules.
- 2. You can enter the name of the rule.
- 3. These are the conditions of the rule. You can select conditions from a predefined set of conditions available in the drop-down.
- 4. You can add additional conditions with an AND operator to the conditions.
- 5. These are actions to perform when the condition is true. Actions can be selected from a predefined actions set.
- 6. You can add more actions.
- 7. Save the rule.

As an example, select the condition that states when a user story state is Developing, make the new custom field Operation Area be a required field, and save the rule. If you haven't added the custom field, make the Description field required. In a team project where the modified process template is used, try to change a user story state to Developing without selecting the Operation Area/Description field. When trying to save the story, you will see an error saying the Operation Area/Description field cannot be empty. See Figure 5-38.



Figure 5-38. Custom rule applied to user story

Once you fill in the Operation Area/Description field, you will be able to save the story with a Developing state.

In this lesson, you explored how to define custom work item rules.

Summary

In this chapter, you learned about doing process customizations such as changing the work item layout, adding new custom fields, adding new work item types, and adding portfolio backlog levels. These lessons will be useful when creating your own process flow with Azure Boards.

In the next chapter, let's look at visualizing data using out-of-the-box reporting and using various custom queries, charts, and dashboards.

CHAPTER 6

Visualizing and Reporting in Azure Boards

Visualizing and analyzing your team's work in the various reports and charts that are available in Azure Boards will help you to decide how to improve the way your team works. There are several out-of-the-box chart types available in Azure Boards, such as velocity, cumulative flow, burndown, and so on, that allow you to monitor and track the progress of your team's work and forecast the future deliveries based on trends. In the first lesson of this chapter, you will discover the out-of-the-box reports and charts in Azure Boards. In the next few lessons of the chapter, you will focus on queries and visualizing project progress with different types of reports and charts that you can create based on the queries. You will explore how to write queries, how to create charts using queries, and how to add the generated charts to the Azure DevOps dashboards. Finally, we will discuss the dashboard widgets available in Azure DevOps, which are useful for visualizing various aspects of your project.

Lesson 6-1. Exploring the Out-of-the-Box Reporting of Azure Boards

Azure Boards provides really useful charts that display a team's progress, and those charts are an important part of monitoring team progress and predicting trends.

Prerequisites: You need to have a board in Azure Boards with work items on it.

Go to Azure Boards. You will see two charts in the top-right corner of the page. See Figure 6-1.



Figure 6-1. Azure Boards charts

Velocity chart: This type of chart shows fully completed and done 1. stories and bug fixes, and the accumulated size gives the velocity of the iterations that have been completed. In Azure DevOps, the velocity chart provides information on completed sizes as well as in-progress sizes. It is arguable whether team velocity for a completed iteration should be considered in the progress velocity as well. However, in reality, in-progress work adds no value to the customer, and considering that, a team's velocity has no validity. This chart further helps you to identify how much work your team can complete during a sprint. By referring to the data in the velocity chart, you can identify the average velocity of the team, which makes it possible to make decisions such as how much work your team can handle during a future iteration. The velocity chart also shows how a team has progressed over a couple of iterations. See Figure 6-2. You can see the completed work displayed in green and the remaining work in blue. Sprint 2017.32, which is a completed iteration, has met a velocity of 135 points, while 14 points are in progress, so the actual team velocity for the iteration is 135 points.



Figure 6-2. Velocity chart

There is a widget that provides more insights into the velocity, which we will discuss in Lesson 6-9.

You can use the average velocity in the forecast of the backlog to predict how many iterations will be required to complete a prioritized and sized backlog. Enable Forecasting in the View options and provide the average velocity to see the forecasting. See Figure 6-3.

+ New Work	Item (View as board	Column Options			≥ Stories ∨
precasting base	d on velo	city of 7				Parents
Forecast	+ - c	Irder Work Item Ty	pe Title	State	Story	Off
IM-Iteration 2	1	User Story	> 🕕 As a teller I need to close an account of a customer	New	5	Forecasting
	2	User Story	> 🏨 As a teller i need to open an account for anew customer	New	3	On On
IM-Iteration 3	+ 3	User Story	> 🅕 As a customer I need to transfer mony to my other accounts using online sy	New	3	la Dana la marti
	4	User Story	> 🛄 As a customer I need to withdraw money from bank branch	New	5	in Progress Items
	5	User Story	> 🛄 As a customer I need to withdraw money from ATM	New	3	On On

Figure 6-3. Forecasting

2. **Cumulative flow chart**: This type of chart shows the progress of the count of work items in each column of the Kanban board over time. It shows how many New, Developing, Testing, Resolved, and Closed work items are in the board as of a given date. See Figure 6-4.



Figure 6-4. Cumulative flow chart

You can click Edit in the cumulative flow chart to configure the chart with your preferences in the Cumulative Flow Diagram settings. You can set a date to start the chart drawing. This date should be a date within the last 30 weeks because the maximum allowed period to show in the chart is 30 weeks. You can define whether to include the first and last columns of the Kanban board in the chart using the settings. See Figure 6-5.

×

~				
5	۵Ť	tır	201	C
5	υL	uı,	14	5

Cards	Cumulative Flow Diagram	
Fields	Visualize your lead time, work in progress, and any bottlenecks in your process.	
Styles	Start date	
Tag colors	Leave blank to display the last 30 weeks of activity.	
Annotations	Date Date	
Tests	✓ Include the first column of the Kanban board	
Board		
Columns		
Swimlanes		
Card reordering		
Status badge		
Charts		
Cumulative Flow	1	
•		
	Save and close	Cancel

Figure 6-5. Cumulative flow chart settings

The cumulative flow chart settings allow you to understand a team's progress via several aspects. Let's take a look at each option.

How the Work Is Progressing?

In general, work in progress should have mostly thin parallel lines because of the principle of limiting work in progress in Agile practices. The last column should be increasing, gradually showing the work getting completed. If there is a widening gap in the work in progress (WIP), that indicates work is not getting completed, and the team is working on too many items in parallel. In other words, it is not a good sign. The team should take action to get work completed together as a team without starting on other new work. See Figure 6-6.



Figure 6-6. WIP increasing in cumulative flow

Bulges in Cumulative Flow

When some part of the work is not getting completed as expected, bulges may occur in the cumulative flow. For example, a bulge may occur in the development completed state if testing work is happening more slowly than the development work. Normally a bulge indicates an issue in the next stage (state) of the process rather than the state the bulge is shown in. In this example scenario, you could support your testing team members by having the development members also participating in the testing activity. This is a major reason that cross-functional and multiskilled teams are valuable in Agile practices. See Figure 6-7.



Figure 6-7. Budge in cumulative flow

Flat Lines and Scope Changes

A flat line in a cumulative flow diagram (CFD) may occur when the team takes more time than planned to get work moving from one process state to another. It could be that a team has not updated the work items regularly, which may have caused the flat lines. A similar effect can happen even in burndown and burn-up charts if a team does not update work items regularly, which we will discuss later in this lesson. You should always encourage the team to drag the work items to the relevant column in the Kanban boards, and the daily Scrum meeting is a good time to check whether a work item is in the right column. Flat lines occur when multiple process states are not progressing as planned, and if one state progresses while the other is not, then a bulge as explained in the previous section may occur. See Figure 6-8.



Figure 6-8. Scope changes and no progress in cumulative flow

If you go to sprint section, you will be able to see another important chart display in the top-right corner of the Sprints page. This is the sprint burndown chart. It shows the remaining work of a sprint. The burndown chart will help the team to figure out whether they are on track to complete all the work items in the sprint. Let's look at the maximized view of this sprint burndown chart. See Figure 6-9.



Figure 6-9. Sprint burndown chart

You will see the chart has two lines. One is the available capacity line. It shows the team's total capacity for the sprint and how it will change over the sprint. In other words, it shows how many working hours remain to complete the team's work.

An ideal trend line shows how much work should take place in each day in order to complete all the work planned for the sprint. If your team's actual remaining work is maintained below or close to the ideal trend line, it indicates that the sprint is progressing as planned, and you will be able to complete all the work. When the actual remaining work is above the ideal trend line, it indicates the team has not progressed as expected because of some reason that should be rectified as soon as possible. If the actual remaining time or ideal trend line goes above the available capacity line, it indicates that the team capacity is not sufficient for the workload.

Charts provide you and the team with valuable information on how well your team is progressing with the work. It is important that you communicate to the team the meaning of these charts and how to interpret them. By understanding the information in these charts, the team can make the required improvements to add value to your end users (clients) rapidly and with quality.

Lesson 6-2. Creating Personal Queries

In this lesson, let's discuss the querying capability of Azure DevOps. In Azure DevOps, you are able to create your own queries as My Queries, which you can save for your use only. You may need to filter work items for different purposes. For this purpose, you can create your own queries and save and reuse them to filter work items according to different needs.

Let's see how to create a personal query.

Go to Queries in the Boards section in the left menu and click "New query." Then navigate to the My Queries section where you can create a new query. See Figure 6-10.



Figure 6-10. Adding a new query

- 1. You can move to the Results page where the results of the query will be displayed.
- 2. The editor allows you to add/edit queries.
- 3. You can create charts from the query results, and those charts will be displayed on the charts page.
- 4. You can run a query using the "Run query" icon.
- 5. You can add new work items by clicking the New icon and selecting the work item type. Then the work item creation window will open, where you can give values and create a work item.
- 6. After you add the query filters, you can save the query by clicking the "Save query" icon. After clicking the "Save query" icon, a popup will open where you can give the query name and the location. See Figure 6-11.

Enter name	
citter name	
Folder *	
My Queries	\sim
∽ My Queries 🕒	
✓ My Queries No sub-folders.	

Figure 6-11. Saving the query

- a. Provide a name for the query.
- b. From the folder, you can select the location to save the query. If you select My Queries, the query will be saved as a personal query.
- c. By selecting the Shared Queries option, you can save the query as a shared query that can be accessed by other team members.
- 7. You can revert the changes done to the query by clicking the "Revert changes" icon.
- 8. Query results display in tabular form, and you can add or remove columns from the results using this "Column options" section.
- 9. After running a query, you will be able to see the filtered results. Sometimes you may need to edit the values of these filtered work items by using the work item context menu's Edit option or by clicking each work item and editing them on the review pane. When such an edit is made, you can use the "Save items" button to save changed work items.
- 10. When you click the three dots, you will get access to more commands. See Figure 6-12.



Figure 6-12. More commands

a. You can send the query results through mail using the "Email query" option. A pop-up window will open. See Figure 6-13.

To						
NH r	nilmini herath 🗙 S	earch users 🛛 🔥				
Subje	ct					
All w	ork items	в				
Note Sele	ct all the available v	vork items in all the state	s 🕓		53/1024 cha	racters
Select Select	ct all the available v	vork items in all the state	s 🕒		53/1024 cha	racters
Select	ct all the available v ted Work Items	vork items in all the state	s C	State	53/1024 chai	racters
Select 1	ct all the available v ted Work Items Title As banker I nee	vork items in all the state Work Item Type Initiative	s C	State New	53/1024 char	racters
Select ID 2	ted Work Items Title As banker I ne	vork items in all the state Work Item Type Initiative Epic	s C	State New Resolved	53/1024 chai	racter:
Select D 1 2 3	ct all the available v ted Work Items Title As banker I ne As a banker I ne As banker I ne	vork items in all the state Work Item Type Initiative Epic Epic	S Contraction Cont	State New Resolved New	Tags	racter:
Select D 1 2 3 4	ted Work Items Title As banker I nee As banker I nee As banker I nee	work items in all the states Work Item Type Initiative Epic Epic Epic Epic Epic	s C	State New Resolved New New	Tags	racter:

Figure 6-13. Query result mail

- A. Provide the mail receivers.
- B. Give a subject for the mail.
- C. Add a note to the mail.
- D. These are the filtered work items returned by the query.
- E. Send the mail by clicking this button.

We have discussed how to send a query result mail. Now let's go back to the commands section.

b. "Copy query URL" allows you to copy the URL of the query. After clicking this icon, a window will open where you can copy the query URL. See Figure 6-14.

Copy to clipboard	×
Below is a clipboard-friendly view of your selection. To copy to the clipboard, either right-click and choose 'Copy' from the browser's context menu or enter CTRL-C.	
Note: The query URL will expire in 90 days.	
sldevop/TheDarkKnight/_queries?tempQueryId=69506117-e602-44ca-a09f-9a2ad7f3c4	7 f
٠	Þ.
Close	

Figure 6-14. Copying the query URL

c. You can export the work items to a CSV file by clicking the Export to CSV icon.

1

- 11. You can expand the page by clicking this icon.
- 12. Select the check box next to "Query across multiple projects" to create queries to filter the values of all the projects.
- Select the query type. Azure DevOps has three query types. See Figure 6-15.



Figure 6-15. Type of queries

- a. Flat list of work items
- b. Work items and direct links
- c. Tree of work items

These are three different ways to write queries. We'll discuss these in Lesson 6-4.

- 14. You can remove the query lines by clicking the red X, and you can add query lines by clicking the green + sign.
- 15. Select the field to query.
- 16. Select the operator to query.
- 17. Select the value for the filter.
- 18. Add a new field to the query.

In this lesson, you learned about the options available for you to create a query in Azure Boards.

Lesson 6-3. Sharing Queries with the Team

This lesson will explain you how to create a query and share it with the team. We discussed the features available in Azure DevOps to create a query. You can create queries that can be used by the creator of the query only, or you can create queries to share with team members. Let's see how to create a shared query.

Go to the All tab of Queries. You will be able to see the My Queries section and the Shared Queries section. If you hover the mouse over My Queries or Shared Queries, you will see dots that you can click to access more actions. See Figure 6-16.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheDarkKnight / Boards / Queries	
TheDarkKnight +	Queries	
Overview	Favorites All + New query 🛱 New folder	
🕄 Boards	Title	Last modified by
🛱 Work Items	 My Queries Assigned to me 	nilmini herath updated 3/24/2019
Boards	■ Followed work items	nilmini herath updated 3/24/2019
Backlogs	 Shared Queries 	
ර, Sprints	E Query1	+ New query 1 vdated 14 minutes ago
≕ Queries		New folder 2
😢 Repos		Security 3
Pipelines		

Figure 6-16. Queries

- 1. Click to add a new query to any shared query section.
- After clicking this, a window will open that allows you to create a new folder in the My Queries or Shared Queries section. See Figure 6-17.

The Dark Knight Shared Queries	
older *	

Figure 6-17. Creating a new folder in the Shared Queries section

3. You can navigate to the security control window of the shared queries by clicking the Security drop-down option. We will discuss more about security in Chapter 8.

To move a query from My Queries to Shared Queries, you can use drag and drop on the All queries tab of the Queries page. See Figure 6-18.

Queries	
Favorites All + New query 🛱 New folder	
Title	
~ My Queries	
目 Assigned to me	
目 Followed work items	
目 GroupDemo2	
田 test	
✓ Shared Queries	
留 Direct Links1	
目 GroupDemo1	

Figure 6-18. Dragging and dropping to Shared Queries

You can drag and drop a query from Shared Queries to My Queries as well. However, this should be done only if you want to other team members to not to see a query in Shared Queries anymore.

Favorite Queries

In addition to My Queries and Shared Queries, there is an option to make a query your favorite or a team favorite. A query can be set to be on your favorites list by clicking the star that appears next to each query. Using the context menu of shared queries, you can add a query to the team favorites. See Figure 6-19.



Figure 6-19. Adding to the favorites

You can remove a query from the team favorites once it is added as a team favorite in the same context menu. Your favorite queries can be added and removed by clicking the star. The favorite queries are shown on the Favorites tab of the Queries page.

In this lesson, you learned how to share queries with teams and add and remove queries to and from your favorites and the team favorites.
Lesson 6-4. Writing Complex Queries

So far, we have discussed the basic querying features available in Azure DevOps. This lesson will guide you to create complex queries to filter work item values. There are three types of queries in Azure DevOps.

• Flat list of work items: Using this query type, you can filter user stories in the New and Closed states with Teller or CDM tags. Also, you can filter bugs in the Developing and New states with Teller or CDM tags. See Figure 6-20.

Querie	es	>	Shared Qu	ries 🗁 🖽 GroupDemo1 🗸 🖕					3 work items 1 selected
esults	E	dito	r Charts	▷ Run query + New ∨ 🗟 Save query 🔂 Sa	ive a	s 🛋 Rename	7 Revert	changes	2
pe of c	query	⊞	Flat list of work	ems				(Query across projects 📋
ers for	top	level	work items						
n an m		_	And/Or	Field		Operator		Value	
×		[#=		Work Item Type	V	=	~	User Story	~
×		[::	And	State	\sim	-	~	New	~
×			Or	State	\sim	=	~	Closed	~
×			Or	Work Item Type	\sim	=	~	Bug	\sim
×		1::	And	State	~	=	~	Developing	~
×			Or	State	\sim	-	~	New	~
×		-	And	/ Tags	~	Contains	~	Teller	~
×			Or	 Tags 	\sim	Contains		CDM	~
Add	new	clau	se						
		Wor	k Item Title			Assigned To	State	Tags	
		Use	r Story 🛄 A	a banking officer, I need to capture customer details so that a n		nilmini herath	Closed	Teller	
		Use	r Story 🛄 A	a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit for a new	ia	Chaminda Chandr	Closed	CDM	
		Rug	A Te	st Run2			@ New	Teller	

Figure 6-20. Flat list query

• Work items and direct links: Work item direct links allow you to create a query in two levels. You can define the top query level criteria and define another criterion for the second level. The first and second levels can be linked with the relationships available in work items. See Figure 6-21.

CHAPTER 6 VISUALIZING AND REPORTING IN AZURE BOARDS

Queries >	My Querie	s						14 work item 3 top level, 11 link and 1 selected
Results Edit	or Charts	Run query -	+ New \vee 🗟 Save query 🍏 Reve	rt chang	ges 🤌 Column o	ptions	Save items	
Type of query	Work items and	direct links					Qu	ery across projects
Filters for top lev	el work items							
I Ar	nd/Or	Field		perator		Value		
+ X 🔲		Work Item Type	2	•		✓ User Sto	Ŋ	~
+ × 🛛 A	nd V	State	× :			✓ [Any]		~
Add new cla + X = + Add new cla Filter options Only return it Return all top Only return i	nd/Or use ems that have m tems that have m p level items tems that do not	Field Work Item Type tching links atching links bave matching links 7	Types of links Return links of any type Return selected link type Affects Child Duplicate Of Parent)perator =		Value Value Task		v
	Work Item	Title			Assigned To	State	Tags	
6	User Story	As a banking office	cer, I need to capture customer details so that	a •••	nilmini herath	Closed	Teller	
13	Task	😫 Create custome	er table to store customer information		Chaminda Chandr	• Develo		
14	Task	🔒 Test case creati	ion : As a banking officer, I need to maintain o	usto	nilmini herath	• Develo		
16	Task	😫 Test case execu	ution : As a banking officer, I need to maintain	custo		New		
17	Task	😫 Create a screen	n for list all the available customers with edit I	outton		New		
18	Task	Edit customer s	screen			New		
7	User Story	As a banking office	er. I need to open a savinos account for a cu	tomer	Chaminda Chandr	Closed		
	Tech	Create tabler fr	or equipor accounts					

Figure 6-21. Work items and direct link query

- 1. This is the type of query selected as a work item and direct links.
- 2. This is the query criteria for the top level.
- 3. This is the query criteria for the second level.
- 4. This is a list of link types of the top and second levels. You can set this to use any link type or select specific link types based on your preferences.
- 5. Considering the link type, only the top-level items with matching link types will be returned.
- 6. This returns all top-level items matching the top-level query criteria regardless of whether they have a matching link in the second level.

CHAPTER 6 VISUALIZING AND REPORTING IN AZURE BOARDS

- 7. This returns top-level items that do not have matching linked items in the second level.
 - **Tree of work items**: The "Tree of work items" type allows you to write queries that can retrieve work items as a hierarchical structure depending on their Parent/Child or Duplicate Of/ Duplicate link types. See Figure 6-22.

Querie	es	> Shared Q	ueries 🔌 🖼 Direc	ct Links1 🗸 🙁 📩				11 work items 4 top level, 7 linked and 1 selected
Results	E	ditor Charts	Run query	+ New 🗸 🗟 Save query 😽 Sa	ve as 📼 🕅	Rename 🦻 Ren	vert changes	2
Type of a	query	Tree of work i	tems 🚺					Query across projects 📃
Filters for	r top	level work items	-					
		And/Or	Field		Operator		Value	
+ ×			Work Item Type	2 ~	=	~	Epic	~
$+ \times$		And 🗸	State	~	=	~	[Any]	~
Filters for	r link	ed work items And/Or	Field Work Item Type	3	Operator	~	Value	~
+ ×		Or 🗸	Work Item Type		=	~	User Story	~
+ Add new clause Filter options Match topslevel work items first Match top-level work items first Match linked work items first			ist 5	Type of tree Parent/Child Duplicate Of/Duplicate Parent/Child				

	Work Item	Title	Assigned To	State	Tags
2	Epic	We have a banker I need saving account managing facility1	nilmini herath	• Resolved	
5	Feature	✓		New	
6	User Story	As a banking officer, I need to capture customer details so that	nilmini herath	 Closed 	Teller
7	User Story	As a banking officer, I need to open a savings account for a cus	Chaminda Chandr	Closed	
8	User Story	As a banking officer, I need to perform initial cash deposit for a	Chaminda Chandr	Closed	CDM
10	Feature	 Tacilitate cutomers to close savings account 	nilmini herath	New	

Figure 6-22. Tree of work items

- 1. The type of query is set to "Tree of work items."
- 2. This is the top-level query criteria.
- 3. This is the second-level query criteria.
- 4. The link type is Parent/Child or Duplicate Of/Duplicate.

- 5. The top-level criteria is applied first, and then the matching items are found for the second-level criteria satisfying the link specification. This will make all top-level items be returned with or without second-level criteria items.
- 6. The second-level criteria is matched first to find the work items of the top-level criteria that satisfy the link specification. This will return top-level work items only if the second-level criteria items are found with the links.

In each type of query, you can use multiple groupings of criteria to create complex queries.

In this lesson, you explored how to set up three different query types: flat list, work item direct links, and tree of work items. These queries are useful to retrieve work items with various criteria to visualize them in a useful way.

Lesson 6-5. Creating Charts with Queries

You created several queries in the previous lessons. Now let's see one of the most important uses of queries, which is to create charts. You can use queries to filter work items in different ways, and Azure DevOps has features to visualize these query results as charts.

Go to Queries and select a query. Then move to the Charts tab and click "New charts" to create a new chart. The chart creation window will open. See Figure 6-23.



Figure 6-23. Creating a query chart

- 1. Azure DevOps provides a facility to create different types of charts. Here you can see the different types of charts that you can create.
- 2. This is the name of the query.
- 3. You can select how you group your data using this drop-down. When you create a pie chart, you can group work items by the "Assigned to," State, and "Work item" types or other output columns in your query.
- 4. You are going to create a chart for the work items count. This shows up in the Aggregation section.
- 5. You can sort chart values using labels or values in ascending or descending order.
- 6. You can customize the colors of each section of the chart.

Note A pivot table chart lets you select row and column fields, which allows you to count the work items matching both fields.

In this lesson, you learned how to create a chart using a query in Azure DevOps.

Lesson 6-6. Adding Charts to the Dashboard

We discussed how to create a chart from a query in the previous lesson. This lesson will explain how to use the created chart in a dashboard. You can add only shared queries to a dashboard as private queries in My Queries are visible only to you.

Go to the Charts section of the query. Hover your mouse over the chart, and you will see three dots appear. Click the dots to see the configuration options. See Figure 6-24.



Figure 6-24. Chart configuration

- 1. Click the Edit icon to edit the chart.
- 2. Click Delete to delete the chart.
- 3. Click "Add to dashboard." A pane will open on the right side of the page. Select the dashboard from the drop-down where you need to display this chart and click OK. See Figure 6-25.



Figure 6-25. Selecting the dashboard to add a chart

Now if you move to the relevant dashboard, you will be able to see the chart. See Figure 6-26. Hovering your mouse over a chart will display additional information, and if you click the chart, the query will be opened.



Figure 6-26. Added chart on TheDarkKnightTeam dashboard 212

×

In this lesson, we discussed how to add charts to dashboards to enable the visualization of the work item queries you have created for your team. These visualizations will allow you to create a holistic view of the team progress.

Lesson 6-7. Creating Dashboards

Azure DevOps lets you add multiple dashboards to the project. This allows a team to visualize their performances or progress in different ways. As an example, teams can have a dashboard to display CI/CD pipeline data and another one to display work item details. Also, it is possible to create separate dashboards for each team. Each team can decide how they want to visualize team performances and progress.

Let's see how to create new dashboards.

Go to Dashboards and select "New dashboard" from the drop-down. See Figure 6-27.



Figure 6-27. Creating a new dashboard

After clicking "New dashboard," a window will open where you can provide the details to create the new dashboard. See Figure 6-28.

CHAPTER 6 VISUALIZING AND REPORTING IN AZURE BOARDS

Name *			
WorkItems Status			
feam *			
TheDarkKnight Team			~
Description			
Enter a description			
Automatically refresh the da	hboard every 5 minut	tes	

Figure 6-28. Creating the dashboard

- 1. Provide a name for the dashboard.
- 2. Select the team of the dashboard.
- 3. Add a description for the dashboard.
- 4. Select the check box to refresh the dashboard every five minutes.

After providing the dashboard details, click Create to create a dashboard for the selected team. After successfully creating the dashboard, you will be able to find the dashboard in the dashboard drop-down.

Having multiple dashboards as described in this lesson is useful to visualize the progress of each team separately as well as to create consolidated views of all teams and to visualize different aspects of work such as work items, CI/CD pipelines, test execution, and so on. Note that we will discuss CI/CD and test execution visualizations in the other books of the series.

Lesson 6-8. Adding Widgets to a Dashboard

We discussed how to create a new dashboard for a team. This lesson will discuss how to add widgets to a dashboard.

Open the dashboard you need to add widgets to and click the Edit button. See Figure 6-29.



Figure 6-29. Dashboard's Edit button

Dashboard edit mode will enabled, and you will see the side pane where you can search for widgets and add them to the dashboard. See Figure 6-30.



Figure 6-30. Dashboard's edit mode

- 1. Search for widgets using a search text box or select from the list below and click the Add button to add widgets to the dashboard.
- 2. If you can't find the widget you want from the given list, you can click "Extension gallery." This will take you to the marketplace where you can find more widgets. Adding extensions will be discussed in Chapter 10.
- 3. You can save and exit from edit mode using this button.
- 4. After clicking the cogwheel icon, the chart's configure pane will open. You can edit the basic chart configurations in this pane, and you can change the size of the chart.
- 5. Remove the chart from the dashboard.

If you want to change the location of the chart, you can do it in the dashboard's edit mode by dragging and dropping the chart to your preferred location. Some widgets allow you to customize how many blocks of squares you want the chart to use as its width and height.

Let's add the Azure Boards badge as a widget to learn how to add a widget to a dashboard. You can find the Markdown content of the board's badge on the board's Settings page. Copy the Markdown content. See Figure 6-31. We discussed board settings in Lesson 4-4.

×

Save and close Cancel

settings		
Annotations	Status badge	
ests	Summarize your board in a badge that can be included in a ReadMe file or on a dashboard.	
loard	Allow anonymous users to access the status badge.	
olumns	Settings	
wimlanes	Configure the details for a badge and copy the resulting URL or Markdown to display the badge with these settings.	
ard reordering	Show "In Progress" columns only	
tatus badge	Include all columns	
	Preview	
harts	III Amon Baneda Developing 2 Testing 1 Developed 0	
umulative Flow	og kzare boards beveloping z resang 1 resolved o	
	Sample Markdown	
ieneral	[![Board Status](https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/d1a581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/bbc992dd-e113-491d-a8d8-17e950cb6b92/_apis/w	0
acklogs	lasas (ID)	
Vorking days		~
Norking with bugs	nttps://dev.azure.com/sidevop/d1a581e9-d64e-4834-b861-5/88/bdb44a3/bbc992dd-e113-491d-a8d8-1/e950cb6b92/_apis/work/boardbadge	45

Figure 6-31. Status badge of Azure Boards

Catting

In the team dashboard, click Edit. Then in the widgets, search for Markdown, select the Markdown widget, and click the Add button. Then click the cogwheel icon to configure the widget. Add the title for the badge with the Markdown syntax and paste the Markdown content copied from the board's Settings page. See Figure 6-32. Define a size for the badge and click the Save button to add the Azure Boards status badge widget to the dashboard.

Configuration $ imes$
Size
3 x 1 ~
Custom markdown
DarkKnight Team - Board State - All
[![Board Status](<u>https</u> :// <u>dev.azure.com/sldevop</u> /
< →
Learn about Markdown 🖸
Select a markdown file
Save Close

Figure 6-32. Adding Azure Boards status badge to the dashboard

If you click the status badge in the dashboard, it will open the relevant Azure Kanban board.

In this lesson, you explored how to add widgets to dashboards to use them to visualize work.

Lesson 6-9. Using Widgets to Visualize Work Items

Various useful widgets are available in the Azure DevOps dashboards, which can help teams to visualize team information on the dashboard.

• **Chart for work items**: This widget visualizes work items using the shared work item queries. The chart in Figure 6-33 displays the work items in the current iteration.



Figure 6-33. Pivot chart of work items in current iteration

- **Cumulative flow**: We have already discussed the cumulative flow diagram in the first lesson of this chapter. You can add the cumulative flow widget to the dashboard in addition to the cumulative flow diagram available by default in the boards and backlogs.
- **Velocity**: This widget allows you to visualize more information about the velocity of the team than the out-of-the-box chart available in the team backlogs and boards. You can configure date thresholds to consider work as planned or completed late in this widget. The chart shows you planned, completed, and completed late work as well as incomplete work. See Figure 6-34.

CHAPTER 6 VISUALIZING AND REPORTING IN AZURE BOARDS



Figure 6-34. Velocity widget

- Lead time and cycle time widgets: Identifying the lead time and cycle time of your team helps you to determine how long it takes for work to go through the development and testing process to get it completed. You will be able to see the deviations from the median cycle and lead times in the charts. The bigger the work item type colored circles in the charts in Figures 6-35 and 6-36, the higher the work item counts. If you click any chart work item colored circle, you will be taken to a custom query that is autogenerated and filtered to the relevant work items.
- **Cycle time**: This is the time taken to complete the work item from the time that active work was started on it. See Figure 6-35.



Figure 6-35. Cycle time

• **Lead time**: This is the total time taken to complete the work item from the time it was created. See Figure 6-36.



Figure 6-36. Lead time

- **Burn Down and Burn Up**: The burndown and burn-up widgets provide many options to display valuable information about your team's progress such as release burndown and so on. It is important to configure these charts as per your team requirements and understand the meaning of each of the values and lines shown.
 - **Total Scope**: The scope changes of the project are shown when considering the completed work as well. In Figure 6-37, there is a significant increase in scope shown.
 - **Burndown**: The burndown line plotted in the chart shows how fast your team completes the work. In Figure 6-37, the average burndown shows as a minus value because the burndown rate has decreased as an average due to increased remaining work or a significant scope increase in the project.



Figure 6-37. Burndown widget

The burn-up chart provides another view of how the work has progressed over the said period. Even though the scope has increased, the team has completed a significant amount of work. The total scope increase is almost 50 percent, which justifies the minus burndown average in Figure 6-38.



CHAPTER 6 VISUALIZING AND REPORTING IN AZURE BOARDS

Figure 6-38. Burn-up chart

We discussed a few useful widgets in this lesson. You can explore more work item widgets and even get work item widgets as extensions from the Visual Studio marketplace. We will discuss adding extensions in Chapter 10.

Summary

In this chapter, we discussed visualizing work in different ways. You explored the out-ofthe-box charts and creating work item query-based charts. Further, we explained how to use dashboards and add custom charts and widgets to them. Additionally, we explored a few of the useful widgets to give you more insights into the visualization capabilities of Azure Boards.

In the next chapter, we'll discuss how to configure Azure Boards to handle large teams, which will be required when you have to work with much larger application implementations.

CHAPTER 7

Handling a Large Team in a Team Project

Agile principles and modern iterative software development practices suggest that a software development team should consist of six to nine members. However, because of the complexity or size of a software project or the demanding client deadlines, you might have to accommodate more team members to meet the required targets. In this sort of a scenario, what Agile practices suggest is to divide the software project into modules, which can be handled by ideally sized Agile teams of six to nine people. This means multiple teams work together to achieve the project goal.

In this chapter, we'll first cover the needs of large teams and how to organize a large team into multiple subteams effectively. Then we'll cover how you can utilize the capabilities of Azure Boards to organize and manage a group of teams to achieve a single project goal.

Lesson 7-1. Understanding the Requirements of Multiple Teams

In some scenarios, you have to manage a pretty large team, maybe because of the complexity or because of the tight deadlines of the project/product. Large teams aren't recommended by Agile practices, because they can lead to various complications in terms of teamwork, collaboration, communication, and other issues.

Dividing the work among subteams is the best way to handle the situation when a team gets too large and the amount of work to be delivered is huge or critical. You might choose a technical approach to divide the work into multiple teams, such as allowing one team to handle database changes, another team to handle the back-end code writing such as data access logics, another team to write business modules, and another

to take care of the user interface implementation. However, this sort of division of work is not recommended and often results in unsuccessful projects. In addition, these sorts of technical-focused teams are a total violation of the concept of Agile, which recommends having a multiskilled and cross-functional team. For example, when you have a team of experts only working on the database, the other teams have to wait to get started until the database team completes their work. This siloed mind-set will be created and lead to less collaboration to get the work completed to achieve the requirement.

Hence, make sure you focus on business modules rather than technical reasons when you divide teams. You want teams that are cross-functional and can focus on getting a business requirement done on their own. The individual team's contributions should create components in a much larger software system and should be loosely coupled with the other teams' work as much as possible.

It is also essential that you make sure to monitor the work in progress for all teams at all times. If you do not, it is likely that you will miss the deadlines or that you will run into last-minute impediments or risks within the software development process. Miscommunication among stakeholders from different subteams is another thing to keep an eye on. It is dangerous not to have a clear vision of where the project is heading. Also, when the teams start to release each of the components of the system and do the integrations between them, if you did not lay the proper plans well in advance, things can get worse. In the following lessons, we'll discuss how to divide a large team and manage it effectively and efficiently while leveraging the features of Azure Boards.

As we discussed in Chapter 2 for small teams, you start by creating the team project. This step is pretty much the same regardless of your team size. As we discussed, you can choose any out-of-the-box templates (Agile, Scrum, Basic, or CMMI) or use any custom process template to create the team project. To avoid managerial complexities, you must decide how to execute the project/product development in the early stages of the process. For instance, let's assume the project is complex and has several modules, such as membership management, events management, finance management, case management, and so on. In such scenarios, what is the ideal way to proceed? You should modularize the development process so that all application modules are developed in parallel by multiple teams. Having said that, the challenge is to decide on how to divide your team to deliver modules in parallel. There are various ways of doing this, and we'll discuss the best solution that gives the most business value quickly to your product/ project end users. Technically inspired team members might want to divide the team based on the technical aspects. For instance, they might want to divy up the work into categories like the following: front-end development, business process and plugin

development, database development, and so on. The danger of this approach is that the whole team might eventually lose the focus of the project's business purpose and continue to focus only on its technical aspects. At all times, the aim of the team should be to deliver value to the end users. With divisions like this, you and the team are not releasing the value to the end users. Instead, your team is focused on merely completing the work assigned to them. As a result, the integration becomes tedious and causes unnecessary delays.

Therefore, the most appropriate way of dividing a team is based on the business functions of the project. For instance, you can create different teams to develop membership management, finance management, case management, events management, and so on. Each team has its own set of developers and testers and its own Scrum master. You can create two different teams to handle development work and support work. Similarly, you can create the relevant teams under the main team project and assign the team members to each team you created. You may want to have both a development subteam and a support subteam for each team. See Figure 7-1.



Figure 7-1. Nested team structure

However, nested teams are not a possibility in Azure Boards, which means you cannot have a team structure like the one shown in Figure 7-1. In fact, it is not necessary to have such a complex team structure. Obviously, for a large team and a complex project, you might be able to have one or two separate support teams that are working on all modules' support activity. So, you could set up a team for each module and then

set up a support team or two under the root team. Having said that, what should you do if you really want to have both a dev team and a support team for each of the modules because you are handling each individual module in a totally decoupled manner technically and each has independent release cadences of its own? A work-around for this is to create all required teams with areas assigned to them and then move the required module dev or support team areas under the relevant module areas as children. Does this sound confusing? Let's simplify it in the next lessons of this chapter by practically implementing a solution.

As with ideally sized teams, you must define the delivery cadence for the project/ product development for large teams. Remember, this is tricky since different teams are going to be working on the features of each module they are assigned to, and the work they undertake might have different levels of complexity. Some of the teams might demand a longer delivery cadence based on the functionality on which they are working. For example, one team might like to have a three-week delivery cadence, and another team might like to have a four-week delivery cadence. Even though Azure Boards supports different lengths of iterations, if you do not properly set up iterations and manage the work, your project delivery targets and quality of delivery may well end up in chaos. So, to make your work simpler, you can set up a delivery cadence of the same length that every team will be aligned with. This is handy when it comes to integration because you will be releasing fully baked goods to the clients. However, this decision again depends on the technical architecture and platforms your team chooses to deliver to the project. It is important to plan well and define what the delivery cadence is for each of your teams before you start the project. For this, you need to get the support of your technical teams and consider all aspects; for example, if you have a loosely coupled module design that has the ability to support previous versions of other modules with newer versions of a different module, you can consider having different delivery cadences for each module. Or, you might want to work with different iteration cycles in each module but maintain the same delivery cadence for all modules. For this, you can share one level of iterations with all modules to denote releases and then have different child iterations for each module team. These are just a few ideas, but to make your iteration setup really work, you need to figure out how you want it and then manipulate Azure Boards to behave the way you want the iterations to behave. Let's practically set this up in next lessons of this chapter so you can understand the possible implementations in practical terms.

When you start executing the project/product development work, it is extremely important to know the current status of your teams. When you are executing large projects, it is vital to identify any setbacks or delays as early as possible so you can take corrective actions to mitigate the issues. As explained in Chapter 6, Azure Boards comes with a set of reporting tools such as queries, charts, Kanban boards, and dashboards; these enable you to stay in touch with your teams.

Lesson 7-2. Configuring Areas and Teams to Isolate Backlogs

You can isolate the backlogs of each team in a single team project using the area path setup. Even though nested teams are not supported, the area path can be used as a work-around to achieve a hierarchical team structure. Further, you can share the area path with multiple teams to share a common backlog. Let's explore the options to set up a large project's team structure using areas and teams in a team project.

Isolating the Backlogs

Let's try to isolate the backlog of each team using area paths. For this, first create a new team project named **TheEndGame**. Then in the project setting of the team project, go to the Teams tab in the General section and click New Team. Name the team **Avengers**. Make sure to create an area path with the name of the team. See Figure 7-2.

Team name Avengers Description Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area © Create an area path with the name of the team.		TTINGS	*
Team name Avengers Description Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area Image: Contribution of the team.	FROMEL DE	111(3)	
Avengers Description Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area Image: Create an area path with the name of the team.		Team name	
Description Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area © Create an area path with the name of the team.		Avengers	
Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area Team area ☑ Create an area path with the name of the team.	1 Y C	Description	
Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area I create an area path with the name of the team.			
Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area W Create an area path with the name of the team.			
Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area © Create an area path with the name of the team.			
Permissions You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area © Create an area path with the name of the team.			-11
You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions. [TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area @ Create an area path with the name of the team.		Permissions	
[TheEndGame]\Contributors Team area I Create an area path with the name of the team.		You can add your team to any existing security group to automatically inherit permissions.	
Team area ☑ Create an area path with the name of the team.		[TheEndGame]\Contributors	- 1
Create an area path with the name of the team.		Team area	
		Create an area path with the name of the team.	-

X

Figure 7-2. Creating a new team

Create another team named **IronMan** with an area path with the team name. You should have three teams in the team project now: the TheEndGame team, which is the root team (the default team of the team project) of the team project, and the two new teams you just created, Avengers and IronMan. See Figure 7-3.

s	ildevop / TheEndGame / Settings / Teams						
	Project Settings	Teams New team しひ					
-	General						
	Overview	Team Name ↑	Members	Description			
	Teams	Avengers	1				
	Security	😵 IronMan	1				
	Notifications	😚 TheEndGame Team	1	The default project team.			
	Service hooks						
	Dashboards						

Figure 7-3. Teams

Let's inspect the area path setup in the team project by selecting "Project configuration" and going to the Areas tab. You should see the root area path is set to TheEndGame, and there are two child areas, Avengers and IronMan. See Figure 7-4.

: / TheEndGame / Settings	/ Project configuration	✓ Search	i 🗇 🌘			
Project Settings	Boards This pr item ty	oject is currently using the Agile proce pes, go to the process customization p	ss. To customize your work age.			
General	Iterations Areas					
Overview	Create and manage the areas for this project. These areas will be used by teams to determine what shows up on the team's backlog and what work items the					
Teams	team is responsible for.	team is responsible for. Learn more about customizing areas and iterations				
Security	To select areas for the team, go to the default team's settings.					
Notifications	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
Service hooks	New New child	€				
Dashboards	Areas	Teams				
Boards	✓ TheEndGame					
bourds	Avengers	Avengers				
Project configuration	IronMan	IronMan				
Team configuration						
GitHub connections						

Figure 7-4. Project area configuration

Then select "Team configuration" and select the TheEndGame team, which is the default or root team. The default area for the team should be set to TheEndGame, and it is already selected under the selected areas of the TheEndGame team. Let's click the context menu of the selected area TheEndGame and click "Include sub areas" to make all the backlog items in this team project visible to the TheEndGame team. When you include subareas, there will be a warning message appear saying all work items of the team project will be shown in this team. Click OK because this is the desired behavior you are going to implement. The resulting area configuration of the TheEndGame team visible to the root/default team so that you can monitor the overall project progress from the perspective of the default team, TheEndGame.



Figure 7-5. The root/default team area path set to include subareas

Select the Avengers team to view the Areas settings of the team Avengers. For the time being, you do not have to select "Include subareas for this team" because you are not yet going to implement nested teams, as described in Lesson 7-1. Just make sure the Avengers team has the default area set to TheEndGame\Avengers. See Figure 7-6.



Figure 7-6. Avengers team area setup

Verify the Ironman team area path is set to use TheEndGame\IronMan as the default area path and that subareas are not included.

Go to the Iterations tab of the default team, TheEndGame, and set the Default iteration to TheEndGame by changing the current selection, which is @currentiteration. You are doing this because you want the new backlog items to be in the Backlog iteration, which is the root-level iteration TheEndGame, instead of the current active iteration. See Figure 7-7. We have described these options in detail in Lesson 2-2.

sldevop / TheEndGame / S	Settings / Team configuration / TheEndGame Team \vee \mathcal{P} Search $إ$	۲					
Project Settings	Boards O This project is currently using the Agile process. To customize your work item types, go to the process customization page.						
General	General Iterations Areas Templates						
Quantinu	O To manage iterations for the project, navigate to Project settings						
Teams	Iterations						
Security	Teams plan and track work at regular time intervals, commonly referred to as an iteration or sprint. Here you can manage th	e					
Notifications	iterations for your team. Learn more about customizing areas and iterations						
Service hooks	Default iteration ①						
Dashboards	TheEndGame Change						
Boards	Backlog iteration ①						
Project configuration	TheEndGame Change						
Team configuration The iterations selected below will appear in the Sprints hub for your team. Each iteration will have a backlog and boar							
GitHub connections	you tean pan and manage work.						

Figure 7-7. Root iteration set as default and backlog iterations

TheEndGame should be set as the backlog and default iterations for the two teams Avengers and IronMan as well, as shown in Figure 7-7. This will make sure any item you added from any team will have the iteration path set to the root iteration, which is TheEndGame. Do not worry about the selected iterations for any of the teams yet since we will discuss sharing common iterations to follow the same delivery cadence for all teams in Lesson 7-3. We will discuss having a separate delivery cadence for each team using separate iteration paths in Lesson 7-4.

Now let's add a few backlog items to the team TheEndGame. For now, you can skip the Epic and Feature work items and add just user stories to the backlog using the board or the backlog view. For example, see Figure 7-8.

日 T 日	heEnd	lGame Team $\scriptstyle{ imes}$	🗙 x ^e	
+ N	lew Wor	k Item 🎯 View	as Board 🧷 Column Options \cdots	
+ -	Order	Work Item Type	Title	State
+	1	User Story	III As a teller I need to close an account of a customer ····	New
	2	User Story	III As a teller i need to open an account for anew customer	New
	3	User Story	III As a customer I need to transfer mony to my other accounts using online system	New
	4	User Story	As a customer I need to withdraw money from bank branch	New
	5	User Story	III As a customer I need to withdraw money from ATM	New

Figure 7-8. Stories for the system in the root team backlog

Let's say from the backlog the teller module is developed by the Avengers team and the customer module is a transaction module is developed by the IronMan team. If you inspect each team's backlogs, you will not be able to see any user stories as of now in the Avengers team or in the Ironman team's backlog view. See Figure 7-9.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheEndGame	e / Boards / Backlogs			
TheEndGame +	🖹 Avengers 🗸 😒	r x ²			
Cverview	+ New Work Item	∋ View as Board			
Boards					
🖒 Work Items	Man Stories Backlog - Board: 🗙	+			
🕅 Boards 🖌 🔶	C https://dev.azure.c	com/sldevop/TheEndGame/_backlogs/backlog/lronMan/Stories			
🗏 Backlogs 🔁 Az	Azure DevOps sldevop / TheEndGame / Boards / Backlogs				
D, Sprints	EndGame +				
⇒ Queries	, Indoanie	E IronMan ∨ ¥ x			
😰 Repos 📑 Ov	erview	+ New Work Item ③ View as Board 🖉 Column Options …			
Pipelines 😽 Bo	ards	_			
D We	rk items				
Bo Bo	ards	4			
Artifacts 🗵 Ba	klogs	-	-		

Figure 7-9. Empty backlogs for Avengers and IronMan

Let's move back to the boards of the TheEndGame team and assign the teller user stories to the Avengers area path and the customer user stories to the IronMan team area. Even after assigning them to the teams, the stories still appear in the root team's backlog, as you have set up the root team to show all work items of the subareas of the root area. See Figure 7-10.



Figure 7-10. Stories assigned to respective team areas

If you now inspect the backlogs of the Avengers and Ironman teams, you will be able to see only the relevant stories appear in their backlogs, as per the area settings for each team. See Figure 7-11.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheEndGame / Boards / Backlogs					
TheEndGame +	宮 Avengers ∨ 📩 🕫					
Overview	+ New Work Item ④ View as Board 🤌 Column Options …					
Boards	+ 🖃 Order Work Item Type Title					
	+ 1 Us	er Story	As a teller I need to close an account of a customer			
🗇 Work Items	2 Us	er Story	As a teller i need to open an account for anew customer			
Azure DevOps TheEndGame +	sidevop / Th	neEndGame / I	Boards / Backlogs			
TheEndGame +	Inernationame					
View as board of Column Options						
Boards	🛨 🖃 Order	Work Item Type	Title			
1	+ 1	User Story	As a customer I need to transfer mony to my other acco •			
D Work Items	2	User Story	📕 As a customer I need to withdraw money from bank branch			
🕅 Boards	3	User Story	📕 As a customer I need to withdraw money from ATM			

Figure 7-11. Teams showing only backlogs relevant to each team

This example scenario shows how you can use the area path to isolate backlogs from each individual team and let the team focus on their own work without worrying about another team's work items. The root/default team, however, will help you to track the entire project and review the progress of the project from the boards view or any charts, and so on, in dashboards.

Achieving a Hierarchical Team Structure

Let's look at a scenario where both the Avengers team and the IronMan team that you have used need to have separate developer and support teams, as we discussed in Lesson 7-1. To achieve that nested team structure , which is not available for teams,

you can use hierarchal areas. First create another four teams, AvengersDev, AvengersSupport, IronManDev, and IronManSupport, and create area paths for those teams. This will create a flat team structure under the TheEndGame team area. See Figure 7-12.

sldevop / TheEndGame / Setting	gs / Project configuration		♀ Search	i 🗂 🌘
Project Settings	Boards 1 This project is current	tly using the Agile process. To customize	your work item types, go to the proces	s customization page.
General	Iterations Areas			
Overview	Create and manage the areas for the backlog and what work items the te	is project. These areas will be used am is responsible for. Learn more	by teams to determine what show about customizing areas and itera	vs up on the team's tions @
Teams	To select areas for the team, go to t	he default team's settings.		
Security				
Notifications	New New child 🛨 🖃			
Service hooks	Arear	Taxma		
Dashboards	 TheEndGame 	reams		
Boards	Avengers	Avengers		
Project configuration	AvengersDev	AvengersDev		
Team configuration	AvengersSupport	AvengersSupport		
GitHub connections	IronMan	IronMan		
	IronManDev	IronManDev		
Pipelines	IronManSupport	IronManSupport		

Figure 7-12. Project team areas

You can drag and drop the AvengersDev and AvengersSupport areas to the Avengers area and drag and drop the IronmanDev and IronManSupport areas to the IronMan area to create a hierarchical area structure, as shown in Figure 7-13.

Idevop / TheEndGame /	Settings / Project configura	ition		𝒫 Search	1	Ô	
Project Settings	Boards O This pr	oject is currently us	ing the Agile process. To customize yo	ur work item types, go to the process	customizatio	on page.	
General	Iterations Areas						
Overview	Create and manage the backlog and what work	Create and manage the areas for this project. These areas will be used by teams to determine what shows up on the team's backlog and what work items the team is responsible for. Learn more about customizing areas and iterations to					
Teams	To select areas for the t	To select areas for the team, go to the default team's settings,					
Security							
Notifications	New New child	÷ =					
Service hooks			T				
Dashboards	 TheEndGame 		leams				
Boards	~ Avengers		Avengers				
Project configuration	AvengersDev		AvengersDev				
Team configuration	AvengersSuppo	rt	AvengersSupport				
GitHub connections	~ IronMan		IronMan				
	IronManDev		IronManDev				
Pipelines	IronManSuppor	t	IronManSupport				

Figure 7-13. Hierarchical area structure

Now you have to go to the team area settings of the Avengers team and the IronMan team and include subareas for the selected team area in each team. This change will allow you to monitor any work assigned to AvengersDev or AvengersSupport from the Avengers team. The same is true for the IronMan team. The TheEndGame team can be used to monitor the entire project progress.

Sharing the Same Backlog with Multiple Teams

If you need to share the same backlog with multiple teams and let them work on any of the work items, you can do so by selecting the same area path for both teams.

In this lesson, we discussed how you can use the area path to isolate or share backlogs in a multiple team setup.

Lesson 7-3. Sharing the Same Iteration with Multiple Teams

Sharing the same delivery cadence with different teams can make monitoring the overall project much easier. You will learn how to share a common delivery cadence with iteration paths in this lesson.

Let's go to the project settings, select "Project configuration," and go to the Iterations tab to set up the iteration's hierarchy, as shown in Figure 7-14.



Figure 7-14. Project iterations

Then go to each team and select the defined iterations for the teams. For example, the Avengers team's iterations can be set as shown in Figure 7-15.

sldevop / TheEndGame /	Settings / Team configuration /	Avengers \vee	✓ Search	i 🗇 🌘
Project Settings	Boards This project is page.	currently using the Agile process. T	o customize your work item types, go to th	e process customization
General	General Iterations Areas	Templates		
	(i) To manage iterations for the p	project, navigate to Project settings		×
Overview				
Teams	Iterations			
Security	Teams plan and track work at	regular time intervals, commo	nly referred to as an iteration or sprir	nt. Here you can
Notifications	manage the iterations for you	r team. Learn more about cus	tomizing areas and iterations 🖾	
Service hooks	Default iteration ()			
Dashboards	TheEndGame	Change		
Boards	Backlog iteration ()			
Project configuration	TheEndGame	Change		
Team configuration	The iterations selected below	will appear in the Sprints hub	for your team. Each iteration will have	e a backlog and board
GitHub connections	to help your team plan and m	anage work.		
Pipelines	+ Select iteration(s) × Re	move New New child		
Service connections	Iteration		Start Date	End Date
🖧 Agent pools	TheEndGame\Iteration 1		5/20/2019	6/3/2019
Parallel jobs	TheEndGame\Iteration 2		6/4/2019	6/17/2019
Settings	TheEndGame\Iteration 3		6/18/2019	7/1/2019

Figure 7-15. Iterations selected for Avengers

Once all teams are set up with iterations, you can define the capacity for each team. Here you can add all the members of all teams to the root/default team. Then you can add individual team members. This helps you to set up the capacity planning for the whole project iteration as well as individual teams. In Figure 7-16, for simplicity's sake, only two members were added to each team ,and all four members were added to the root team. Then the capacity for iteration 1 is planned correctly considering the activity type as well as all three teams. You learned how to set up capacity in Lesson 2-5.



Figure 7-16. Capacity planning when multiple teams are sharing iterations

Now move all the stories you defined in Lesson 7-2 to iteration 1 from the TheEndGame team. Then go to each team iteration board and add a few tasks for each story with remaining work and the relevant activity type. See Figure 7-17, for example. You learned how to add tasks and work with boards in Chapter 3.

```
sldevop / TheEndGame / Boards / Sprints
 🗘 Avengers 🗸 📩 🕫
 Taskboard Backlog Capacity + New Work Item
                New 58 h
 Collapse all
 As a teller I need to close an account of a customer 5 not started (25 h)
     II 31 As a teller i need to ....
                              38 Test execution
    open an account for anew
                               Unassigned
    customer
                                              5
    Unassigned 33 h
                               State
                                       New
                               Remaini... 5
     State New
                               Activity Testing
                               🔁 39 test case writing
                               Unassigned
                                                  8
                               State
                                      New
                               Remaini... 8
                               Activity Testing
                               40 Develop db and
                               functionality
                               Unassigned
                                               12
                               State
                                      New
                               Remaini... 12
                               Activity Development
                               🔁 41 Develop UI
                               Unassigned
                                                8
                               State 

New

                               Remaini... 8
                               Activity Development
                              +
```

Figure 7-17. Tasks added to team's user stories

Now when you look at the work details for iteration 1 in the teams Avengers and IronMan, you can see the capacity and added work by work type. If you start working in the iteration by assigning tasks to members, each individual capacity usage also will be shown. See Figure 7-18.



Figure 7-18. Work details of individual teams

In the default/root team, you will be able to see an overview of both teams' capacity and usage for iteration 1. See Figure 7-19.



Figure 7-19. Overall capacity and usage view for iteration

You now understand how to share iterations with multiple teams and set up capacity planning to allow you to use the default team to enable an overview of the subteams' progress. You can use the same approach for hierarchical teams and get an effective overview of each team by following the same principles when sharing the same release cadence.
Lesson 7-4. Working with Different Release Cadences for Teams

Let's try to implement a different release cadence for the same two teams you used in Lesson 7-3.

As a prerequisite, move all the backlog items back to the backlog from iteration 1 using the root team. See Figure 7-20.



Figure 7-20. Moving all work items to the backlog

Set up the iterations for the team project configuration, as shown in Figure 7-21. The prefix is used to identify the team that the iteration belongs to.

sldevop / TheEndGame / Settings / Project configuration ✓ Search 繮 ŕìì **Project Settings** Boards This project is currently using the Agile process. To customize your work item types, go to the process customization page Iterations Areas General Create and manage the iterations for this project. These iterations will be used by teams for Overview iteration planning (sprint planning). Learn more about customizing areas and iterations Teams To select iterations for the team, go to the default team's settings. Security Notifications New child + -New Service hooks Start Date End Date Iterations Dashboards TheEndGame Boards Avengers Iterations A-Iteration 1 5/20/2019 6/3/2019 Project configuration A-Iteration 2 6/4/2019 6/17/2019 Team configuration 6/18/2019 A-Iteration 3 7/1/2019 **GitHub** connections IornMan Iterations Pipelines IM-Iteration 1 5/20/2019 6/10/2019 IM-Iteration 2 6/11/2019 7/1/2019 Service connections IM-Iteration 3 7/2/2019 7/22/2019 옮 Agent pools

CHAPTER 7 HANDLING A LARGE TEAM IN A TEAM PROJECT

Figure 7-21. Iterations for teams with different cadences

Then you can select the individual team iterations (see Figure 7-22) and set up the capacity and work items in each team (Avengers and IronMan) separately. You can obtain each team's work details progress within an individual team. However, obtaining a consolidated view for the capacity is not possible when you have a different delivery cadence in each subteam.

CHAPTER 7 HANDLING A LARGE TEAM IN A TEAM PROJECT



Figure 7-22. Different iterations for each team selected

You can set up the root team to use iterations from both teams. See Figure 7-23.

This allows you to see both iteration views, such as work details and planning, via the root team as well. Even though this is not as useful as the consolidated view when using the same delivery cadence, it is still useful information.

CHAPTER 7 HANDLING A LARGE TEAM IN A TEAM PROJECT

/ Settings / Team configura	tion / TheEndGame Team ~ 🖉 Search	ji 🗇 🌘
Project Settings	Boards This project is currently using the Agile process. To customi to the process customization page.	ize your work item types, go
General	General Iterations Areas Templates	
Overview	The iterations selected below will appear in the Sprints hub for your will have a backlog and board to help your team plan and manage v	team. Each iteration vork.
Teams		
Security	+ Select iteration(s) X Remove New New child	
Notifications	Iteration	Start Da
Service hooks	TheEndGame\Avengers Iterations\A-Iteration 1	5/20/20
Dashboards	TheEndGame\lornMan Iterations\IM-Iteration 1	5/20/20
Boards	TheEndGame\Avengers Iterations\A-Iteration 2	6/4/201
Proiect configuration	TheEndGame\lornMan Iterations\IM-Iteration 2	6/11/2(

Figure 7-23. Iteration selection in the root team

In this lesson, you learned how to set up different release cadences for individual teams. However, this approach should be avoided as much as possible, as we discussed in Lesson 7-1. Further, setting up a different delivery cadence will not allow the consolidated view, which is useful for a single software project's planning and execution. However, if an organization is handling multiple projects within one team project using different teams, the ability to have different release cadences is useful. Then a project team can be considered the root team, and it may have subteams using area path hierarchies so that each project can have consolidated views of subteams' iterations of that given project team, using the same concepts explained in Lesson 7-3.

Lesson 7-5. Sharing a Team Member Across Multiple Teams

Sharing team members across multiple teams can be useful when you don't have enough skilled resources, even though Agile principles do not encourage you to share resources across teams. However, for practical needs, you may have the same team member working in different teams.

Let's look at what you need to consider when assigning the same team member to multiple teams.

CHAPTER 7 HANDLING A LARGE TEAM IN A TEAM PROJECT

Adding a user to any team is really straightforward, and Chapter 8 gives you more details on how to set up security. As long as the user is added to the relevant team, the user will be able to work with the work items in that board.

However, the capacity of a single person per day is limited. If you are using hours as your work unit, Agile practices recommend using a maximum of 6.5 hours for planning capacity for a given day as the rest of the time in the day might be required to balance the time it takes for Agile ceremonies such as sprint planning, daily standups, reviews, and retrospectives. So, when you set the total capacity, be mindful of how the capacity assigned in each team adds up for a single person. For example, the user Chaminda in Figure 7-24 is assigned to both the Avengers and IronMan teams, but the total capacity is less than 6.5 hours.

🗘 Avengers 🗸 📩 🕫							
Taskboard Backlog Capacity	+ Add use	er 🖪 Save 🦻 Und	do				
Jser	Days off	Activity	Capacit	ty per day			
👷 Chaminda Chandrasekara	0 days	Development	 ✓ 3 				
		Testing	× 1				
P pushpa.herath88@gmail.com	0 days	Development	√ 3				
		Testing	~ 3				
eam days off つ IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Capa: × - → C	0 days + e.com/sidevop/1	These days off apply	to the whole to	eam. Dev/TheEn	☆ 🌆	-	
aam days off ☐ IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Capa: × - → C	0 days + e.com/sldevop/1 / Boards /	These days off apply TheEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints	to the whole to bacity/IronMan	eam. Dev/TheEn earch	☆ <i>Б</i>	- 0 7	
aam days off IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Capa: × - → C https://dev.azur Isldevop / TheEndGame ↓ IronManDev ∨ ↓	0 days + e.com/sidevop/T / Boards /	These days off apply "heEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints	to the whole to pacity/IronMan	eam. Dev/TheEn earch May 20 - Ju	★ Lo	- - -	• •
aam days off IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Capa × - → C https://dev.azur Isldevop / TheEndGame ∴ IronManDev ∨ 3 Taskboard Backlog Ca	0 days + e.com/sldevop/7 / Boards / x x ^Q pacity +	These days off apply TheEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints Add user 🔛 Save	to the whole to bacity/IronMan \mathcal{P} Si	Dev/TheEn earch May 20 - Ju 16 work days r Ô, IM	★ ♪ ine 10 emaining	- @ /4	
eam days off IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Capa: × - → C Anttps://dev.azur Isldevop / TheEndGame 	0 days + e.com/sldevop/I / Boards / A A ^Q pacity + Day	These days off apply TheEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints Add user 📮 Save rs off Activity	to the whole to bacity/IronMan	Dev/TheEn earch May 20 - Ju 16 work days r <u>Q</u> IM Capacity pe	★ Do emaining -Iteration 1 ∨ er day	- E	
eam days off IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Cape × → C Anttps://dev.azur SIdevop / TheEndGame ∴ IronManDev ∨ S Taskboard Backlog Ca User © nilmini herath	0 days + e.com/sldevop/I / Boards / & x ^R pacity + Day 0 d	These days off apply TheEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints Add user 📑 Save rs off Activity ays Developm	to the whole to bacity/IronMan P Si 	eam. Dev/TheEn earch May 20 - Ju 16 work days r ①, IM Capacity pe	★ Lo ine 10 remaining -Iteration 1 ∨ er day		
eam days off IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Cape: × → C https://dev.azur SIdevop / TheEndGame ∴ IronManDev ∨ S Taskboard Backlog Ca User © nilmini herath	0 days + e.com/sldevop/T / Boards / g g g pacity + Day 0 d	These days off apply TheEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints Add user 📮 Save rs off Activity ays Developm Testing	to the whole to pacity/IronMan ent	Dev/TheEn earch May 20 - Ju 16 work days r Q, IM Capacity pe 4 2	★ Lo ine 10 emaining -Iteration 1 ∨ er day		
eam days off ↓ IronManDev IM-Iteration 1 Cape: × ← → C	0 days + e.com/sldevop/I / Boards / A A ^Q pacity + Day 0 da ra 0 da	These days off apply TheEndGame/_sprints/cap Sprints Add user 🕞 Save rs off Activity ays Developm Testing ays Developm	to the whole to bacity/IronMan ent	Dev/TheEn earch May 20 - Ju 16 work days r ①, IM Capacity pe 4 2 2	★		

Figure 7-24. Assigning multiple teams' capacity

246

In this lesson, you looked at the considerations when assigning the same person to multiple teams. However, it is recommended not to do this as much as possible since it will make the person less productive due to context switching, as well as the difficulty of focusing on work in multiple teams and so many other reasons as mentioned in Agile practices recommendations.

Summary

In this chapter, you explored the reasons you may need to set up multiple teams to handle larger projects in a single team project. The options to isolate backlogs and obtain consolidated views with shared iterations were explained in detail. Further, we discussed setting up different delivery cadences along with sharing team members across multiple teams. Using the knowledge gained in this chapter, you can try different setups of the area path and iteration path to come up with solutions that meet your specific needs. Azure Boards is flexible and customizable; by using teams, areas, and iterations, you can solve almost any need a modern software development team may come across.

In the next chapter, you will look at the available security options in Azure Boards; you will learn how to set up proper access rights in each area such as teams, projects, or even groups to properly organize the permission structure.

CHAPTER 8

Azure DevOps Security Options

Azure DevOps comes with a wide range of access control and security features. You can control who accesses projects, teams, source code, build-deployment pipelines, work items, and so on, with the Azure DevOps permissions, which are applicable to individuals and groups of users. The permissions in Azure DevOps range from organization-level permissions to team project permissions to team permissions to individual user permissions. Additionally, each feature area has security-related options. For example, area paths, iteration paths, and queries come with their own security settings and permissions.

In this chapter, you will look at each of the security and permission options available related to the Azure DevOps organizations, team projects, and teams, as well as the overall permissions related to Azure Boards. We will skip the other permission areas such as pipelines, repos, and test management since we will be discussing them in the relevant books of this series.

Lesson 8-1. Adding Users to Azure DevOps

This lesson will explain how to add users to Azure DevOps and how to manage different access permissions for each of those users.

Under Organization Settings, select Users in the General section. You will see the user management page. See Figure 8-1.

Organization Settings	g ^R Manage users			
General	All users Group rules	Summary + Add new users	£xport users	
I Overview				
E Projects	Name			Access Level
ศ ^ล Users	Name 1	Extensions	Access Level	Last Access
₩ Billing				
Pa Auditing	Chaminda chaminda_cham	Chandrase drasekara@yat	Visual Studio Enterprise subscription	6/22/2019
Global notifications	•			
Rr, Usage	chandrasel	kara.chamii	Basic	5/31/2019
	chandrasekara.	chaminda@gm		
A Azure Active Directory	nilmini her	ath	Partie	6/22/2010
Security	pnherath@yah	policom	Dasic	0/22/2019
security	auchas ha	ath 00		
E Policies	P pushpa.herath	8@gmail.com	Basic	5/25/2019
R Permissions	-			

Figure 8-1. User management of an Azure DevOps organization

- 1. In this section, you will see all the existing users of the Azure DevOps organization.
- 2. You can define group rules, and those group rules will be displayed here.
- 3. The left pane will show a group rule summary.
- 4. Click the "Add new users" link to add new users to the Azure DevOps organization. A pane will open where you can enter details for the new user. See Figure 8-2.

Cancel

Add

Users * a Search users Access level * b	
Search users	
Access level * 🕒	
Basic	\sim
Add to projects	
Projects C	
Azure DevOps Groups 0	
Project Contributors	\sim

Figure 8-2. Adding new users

- a. Enter the username. You can search by username or by e-mail address.
- b. Select the access level.
 - **Basic**: Get basic-level user access to features such as version control and tools for Agile, Java, and build and release management.
 - **StakeHolder**: This access permission allows users to manage work items and approve builds and releases.
 - **Visual Studio subscriber**: At this permission level, users get all the access, including basic-level feature access. For example, the test management feature is allowed in addition to the basic user features for Visual Studio subscriber users.

- c. Select a project from the list.
- d. Select the Azure DevOps group where this user needs to be added. The following are the available groups:
 - **Project contributor**: The user has permission to contribute to the project code and work item tracking.
 - **Project Readers**: The user has permission to view project information but no permission to modify it.
 - **Project Administrators**: The user has permission to administer all teams and projects.
- e. Enable the "Send email invites" option to send an invitation to the added user.
- 5. The "Export users" option allows you to download the user details as a CSV file.

When you select the group policy section, you will see that the menu items have changed. See Figure 8-3.



Figure 8-3. Group rule menu items

Click the "Add a group rule" link to add a new group rule. After clicking it, the leftside pane will open, and you can enter the group rule details. See Figure 8-4.

lad a group rate	~
zure DevOps or AAD group * 🧕	
Search groups	
eate a new Azure DevOps group b	
Basic	\sim
 Add to projects 	
ojects	
zure DevOps Groups	
Project Contributors	\sim

Add

Cancel

Figure 8-4. "Add a group rule" pane

- a. Create a new Azure DevOps group or select a group in Azure DevOps or Azure Active Directory (AAD).
- b. Change the options to add users to the group from AAD and Azure DevOps.
- c. The group rule can have three access levels.
 - **Basic**: Get basic-level user access to features such as version control and tools for Agile, Java, and build and release management.
 - **StakeHolder**. This access permission allows users to manage work items and approve builds and releases.
 - **Visual Studio subscriber**. At this permission level, users get all the access.

- d. You can select and add a project to the group rule.
- e. After selecting the project, the Azure DevOps groups section will be enabled. You can select the user permission—Project Contributors, Project Readers, and Project Administrators—from the drop-down.

The "Re-evaluate rules" option allows the facility to reevaluate the rules. If there are any changes in AAD, the changes will affect the group after re-evaluating it. This process takes about ten minutes to complete.

In this lesson, we discussed how to add users to Azure DevOps and how to define group rules, which will help you set access levels based on groups.

Lesson 8-2. Setting Up Azure DevOps Organization-Level Security Policies and Permissions

Azure DevOps allows you to control security with different levels. For example, you can control security at the organization level or the project level. This lesson will explain the security features available at the organization level.

Prerequisites: You need to have an Azure DevOps organization.

Go to the Azure DevOps organization settings. You will see a security section with Policies and Permissions items. Select the Policies section to identify the policy capabilities. You will see the "Application connection policies" and "Security policies" sections on this page. See Figure 8-5.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organization Settings / Policies		P Search	i
Organization Settings	Policy			
General	Application connection policies			
D Projects	Alternate authentication credentials 🗳	(1) On	~	
a [®] Users	Third-party application access via OAuth	2 On	~	
문 Billing	SSH authentication t	3 On	~	
Auditing				
Global notifications	Security policies			
Extensions	Allow public projects	4 On	~	
A Azure Active Directory				
Security				
B Policies				
A Permissions				
Boards				
C) Process				
Dinalinar				

Figure 8-5. Organization policies

Azure DevOps provides the capability to integrate other apps with its services and resources. When building a connection with these types of tools, Azure DevOps introduces three authentication mechanisms that allow you to access Azure DevOps without providing user credentials multiple times. You can see there is a drop-down in front of each policy with the values On and Off to enable or disable each policy.

- 1. Alternate authenticate credentials: We will explain this in Lesson 8-8.
- 2. **Third-party application access via OAuth**: Authorize the app using the OAuth 2.0 protocol and generate the token for the access, which allows you to call a REST API from the app.
- 3. **SSH authentication**: You can setup SSH access for Azure DevOps by enabling this option.
- 4. **Allow public projects**: As discussed in Chapter 1, you can control the project authentication by creating public and private projects in Azure DevOps. You get the capability to create public projects only after enabling this policy.

Let's move to the Permissions section now. Two tabs are available on this page: Groups and Users. Several groups are listed in this page. See Figure 8-6. Let's identify each group.

sldevop / Organization Settings / Permissions	🔎 Search 🗐 🗇
Permissions	+ New Group
Groups Users	R Search groups or users
Name	Description
[sldevop]\Project Collection Administrators	Members of this application group can perform all privileged operations on t
[sldevop]\Project Collection Build Administrators 2	Members of this group should include accounts for people who should be abl
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Build Service Accounts 3	Members of this group should include the service accounts used by the build
[sldevop]\Project Collection Proxy Service Accounts	This group should only include service accounts used by proxies set up for thi
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Service Accounts 5	This application group contains Team Project Collection service accounts.
[sldevop]\Project Collection Test Service Accounts	Members of this group should include the service accounts used by the test c
PU [sldevop]\Project Collection Valid Users 7	This application group contains all users and groups that have access to the T
SG [sldevop]\Security Service Group 8	Identities which are granted explicit permission to a resource will be automati

Figure 8-6. Permission groups

- 1. **Project Collection Administrators**: This group's members have permission to perform all the actions available in Azure DevOps.
- 2. **Project Collection Build Administrators**: This group's members have permission to view instance-level information, create workspaces, administer build resource permission, manage build resource, and view build resources.
- 3. **Project Collection Build Service Accounts**: This group's members have almost all the permissions that the Project Collection Build Administrators group has. They have permissions to view instance-level information, create workspaces, administer shelved changes, manage build resources, use build resources, and view build resources.
- 4. **Project Collection Proxy Service Accounts**: This group's members have permission to view instance-level information, create workspaces, and view build resources.

- 5. **Project Collection Service Accounts**: This group's members have almost all the permissions except permission to delete a team project.
- 6. **Project Collection Test Service Accounts**: This group's members have permission to view instance-level information, create workspaces, and view build resources.
- 7. **Project Collection Valid Users**: This group's members have permission to view instance-level information, create workspaces, and view build resources.
- 8. **Security Service Group**: This group's members have the same permissions that the Project Collective Valid Users group has.

Double-click any of the groups to see the permissions of the group. Also, on the Members tab, you will see the existing members of a group and can add new users to a group. Using the "Member of" tab, you can add the selected group as a member of another group. See Figure 8-7.

Azure DevOps sidevop	Organization Settings / Permissions			
Groups [sldevon]\Project Collection Administrators				
8 Search groups	Permissions Members Member of			
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Admini	General			
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Build A	Alter trace settings	Allow	\sim	
	Create new projects	Allow	\sim	
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Build S	Delete team project	Allow	\sim	
PA [stdevon]\Project Collection Provy S	Edit instance-level information	Allow	\sim	
[siderop] (risject concetton rioxy sin	View audit log	Allow (system)	\sim	0
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Service	View instance-level information	Allow	\sim	
PA [sldevop]\Project Collection Test Ser	Service Account			
	Make requests on behalf of others	Not set	\sim	
PU [sldevop]\Project Collection Valid U	Trigger events	Allow	\sim	
	View system synchronization information	Allow	\sim	
[sidevop]\Security Service Group	Boards			

Figure 8-7. Group permissions

Let's see how you can add a group to the "Member of" tab. Go to the "Member of" tab and click the "Add members of" button. On the left side of the page, you can search for and add an existing group as a member of the selected group. See Figure 8-8.

Add groups	×
To add this user or group as a member of other groups, type	
aliases or display names of the groups that you want to add to	
Azure DevOps Group	
A secu	

Figure 8-8.	Adding a group	as a member	of another group
-------------	----------------	-------------	------------------

If you want to add a new member to the group, go to the Members tab and click the "Add members" button. The left side of the pane will open where you can search for and add Azure DevOps users as members to the selected group. See Figure 8-9.

Cancel

Save

Invite members to Project Collection $\qquad imes$

Administrators

Search and add users and/or groups to your group

R pu	
P pushpa.herath88 pushpa.herath88@gmail.com	AT

Cancel	Save

Figure 8-9. Adding a new group member

In this lesson, we discussed the security features available in the Azure DevOps organization settings. You learned how to set Azure DevOps control policies and permissions at the organization level in this lesson.

Lesson 8-3. Enabling Access to External Users in Organization-Backed Azure DevOps Accounts

If you have created an Azure DevOps organization and connected it to the Azure Active Directory (AAD) of the organization, you may want external stakeholders to be able to access your Azure DevOps organization without having an AAD account. In this lesson, let's look at how to grant external users access to AAD-backed Azure DevOps organizations.

You can identify whether the Azure DevOps organization is backed by Azure Active Directory by selecting Azure Active Directory under Organization Settings. Go to the General section. See Figure 8-10.



Figure 8-10. Azure DevOps backed by an organization AAD

In the Azure DevOps organization security policies, which can be found in the Security section of the organization settings, you have to set "External guest access" to On. See Figure 8-11. Note that you need to have project collection administrator permissions to make this policy change.

Azure DevOps	tstXam / Organization Settings / Policies	
Organization Settings	Policy	
General	Application connection policies	
I Overview I Projects	Alternate authentication credentials 🖪	On
R ^A Users	Third-party application access via OAuth 🖻	On
安 Billing	SSH authentication 🖪	On
Global notifications		
冬 Usage		
Extensions	Security policies	
A Azure Active Directory	Allow public projects 🗳	Off
Security	Enable Azure Active Directory Conditional Access Policy Validation 🖪	Off
Policies		
ද ⁸ Permissions	User policies	
Boards	External guest access 🖾	On
O Process		

Figure 8-11. External guest access enabled

On the Users tab of the General section of the organization settings, click "Add new users." When you type in the username, the organization users will be listed, and you can quickly add the organization users to Azure DevOps. However, when you type in an e-mail address of one organization user, there will be a warning message saying that you are inviting an external user. The warning further says that the external user has to click the link in the e-mail sent by Azure DevOps to start using the Azure DevOps organization. Make sure to check the option to send an e-mail invitation and click "Add users." You can set the access level to Basic, Stakeholder, or Visual Studio Subscriber according to the user's licensing. See Figure 8-12.

Azure DevOps	tstXam / Organization Settings / Users	
Organization Settings	م R ^A Manage users	Users *
General	All users Group rules = Summary + Add new us	sers) (chandrasekara.chaminda@gmail.com)
T Overview		
E Projects	Name	Access level *
AR Users	Name † Extensions	Dasic
₩ Billing		Add to projects
Global notifications	CC Chaminda Chandrase	Projects
ዲ Usage		
Extensions		Azure DevOps Groups
A Azure Active Directory		Project Contributors
Security		Send email invites
Policies		
A Permissions		You are inviting users from outside your directory. The user(s) chandrasekara.chaminda@gmail.com will need to click the link in their
Boards		invitation e-mail to be able to access the organization and its resources. Learn more.
O Process		
Pipelines		
Agent pools		Adding 1 user Add Cancel

Figure 8-12. Adding an external user to AAD-backed Azure DevOps

An invitation e-mail will be sent to the external user. The external user can then click the Join button to access the organization. See Figure 8-13.



Figure 8-13. Invitation to join AAD-backed Azure DevOps

When prompted, the external user has to provide the credentials and login information using their Microsoft account. Then a review permission dialog will appear, granting access to the organization to capture activities such as logging in to the Azure DevOps organization. See Figure 8-14.

Γ Νιι crosoπ chandrasekara.chaminda@	amail.com
	5
Review permissio	ons
C town	
The organization	; would like to:
✓ Sign you in	
✓ Read your name, email	l address, and photo
You should only accept if you tru you allow this organization to ac create, control, and administer ar policies. has not pro	st S. By accepting, tess and process your data to account according to their ovided a link to their privacy
statement for you to review.	; may log information ve these permissions at
https://myapps.microsoft.com/	s.com
Cancel	Accept

Figure 8-14. Accepting permissions

Once they've been accepted, the external user needs to provide some additional information, as shown in Figure 8-15.

Ve ne	ed a few more detai
Your name:	
Chaminda	Chandrasekara
We'll reach y	ou at:
chandrase	kara.chaminda@gmail.com
Sri Lanka I would lii Microsoft Visual Stu products	ke to receive information, tips, and resources related to developer tools and services, including Azure DevOps, idio, Visual Studio Subscriptions, and other Microsoft and services.
	Continue
0	To keep our lawyers happy:

Figure 8-15. Additional information captured

With that, the external user will be able to log on to the AAD-backed Azure DevOps organization.

In this lesson, you explored the steps required to add external users to the organization's AAD-backed Azure DevOps. This will be especially useful when you want to add external stakeholders such as product owners or your software project clients.

Lesson 8-4. Granting a License for Extended Paid Features

Many extensions are available in the Visual Studio Marketplace for Azure DevOps. (In fact, we will discuss setting up extensions in Chapter 10.) Many of them are free, but some of them come with a paid user license. For such extensions, users need to be granted the available licenses. Let's look at the steps required to grant access for paid extensions in Azure DevOps.

On the Users tab in the General section of the organization settings, all the users of the organization are listed. Select a user and click the three dots to get the user's context menu. See Figure 8-16.



Figure 8-16. Managing extensions for the user

In the user extension management pop-up, you can see that the paid extensions are listed on the Extensions tab. If you have available licenses, you can select a check box for the required extension to grant the user access to the extension. See Figure 8-17.

Manage user		×
chandrasekara.cc	haminda da@gmail.com	
Access level	Last Access	
Basic	9/10/2018	
ndepend (1 missing)	Buy more 💍	A
ndepend (1 missing)	Buy more 🕐	*
ndepend (1 missing) Timetracker (1 missin Package Management	Buy more 🖒 ng) Buy more 🖒 (5 available)	•

Figure 8-17. Granting access to extensions

The user will be able to use the additional features of the extension after you click "Save changes."

In this lesson, we discussed the steps required to grant access to users for the paid extensions in Azure DevOps.

Lesson 8-5. Setting Up Organization-Level Security Options for a Process Template

As you know, Azure DevOps provides four out-of-the-box process templates: Basic, Scrum, Agile, and CMMI. In addition to using these templates, you can create customized process templates based on the existing templates. Azure DevOps has a feature to control the access permission of each of these process templates so that users can customize them. Let's learn the process template security options available in this lesson. Go to the organization settings, and select Process in the Boards section. You will be able to see the process templates. Click the three dots in front of the process template name and select Security.

The permission window will open where you can grant permission for the users. See Figure 8-18.

Permissions for Agile

+ Add		ACCESS CONTROL SUMMARY Shows information about the permissions being granted to this identit		
Search	Q	Create process	Not set	
Azure DevOps Groups Devicet Collection Administrators		<u>Clear explicit pe</u>	rmissions	
Visers		Remove	Save changes	Undo changes
P pushpa.herath88				

Figure 8-18. Security of the process template

By default, you can't edit the permission of Project Collection Administrators. Add a new user and change the "Create process" permission for this user by clicking the "Not set" value. By clicking this value, you can change the permission value to Allow or Deny. Also, you can use three buttons to update the permission.

- Remove: Removes the selected user from the permission grid
- Save changes: Saves the permission changes
- Undo changes: Undoes changes to the permission

You have learned what type of permissions you can set up for process template users. But when it comes to customizing process templates, you have more permission options. Let's see how to control the permission of a customized process template. Go to the process template area. Click the three dots in front of the customized process template name and select Security. You can add a new user to control the process permissions using this window. See Figure 8-19.



Figure 8-19. Custom process template permission

You can control three type of access for custom templates using this window.

- Administer process permission: Full control permission
- Delete process: Permission to delete the process template
- Edit process: Permission to edit the process template

This lesson walked you through the security options available in the process template settings so you can control the permissions of Azure DevOps users.

Lesson 8-6. Setting Up Project-Level Security Options

Team projects are mostly used to scope client software projects or products in Azure DevOps. Some organizations use a single team project to manage all their software projects. In either case, identifying the security options available on the team project level is vital to setting up the access permissions and to controlling who can access which functionality. Let's look at each of the project-level security options available in Azure DevOps.

Project security can mainly be set up on the Security tab of the project settings. See Figure 8-20.



Figure 8-20. Project security

- This allows you to create a security group. A group can be made a member of other groups and can contain other groups or members.
- 2. For each team there will be a group created. Generally, a new team is added as a member of the Contributors Azure DevOps group so that permission to contribute work to the project is granted to the team.
- 3. Built-in Azure DevOps groups and custom groups are available here.
- You can edit the selected group's name, description, and image using the dialog that opens when you click the Edit link. See Figure 8-21.

Edit Azure	DevOps Services group	×
PROFILE		
0	Group name Contributors	
Edit Azure DevOps Services group PROFILE Group name Contributors Description Members of this group can add, modify, and delete items within th team project. Save changes Cancel		
Change picture	Members of this group can add, modify, and delete items within the team project.	
	Save changes Cancel	

Figure 8-21. Editing a group

- 5. A team's project-level permission specification is available here. You can change the permissions for groups other than the Project Administrators group.
- 6. On the Members tab, you can add individuals or groups or teams as members of the selected group. See Figure 8-22.



Figure 8-22. Adding members to a group

7. You can view the groups the currently selected group or team is a member of. You can make the current group or team a member of another group or team if required. See Figure 8-23.

Create group		TheDarkKnight > Cor	ntributors Edit 🝷	
Filter users and groups				
~ Teams		Permissions Members N	Aember of	
> 🚱 Dev Team		+ Add 💍 Sear	ch	
> 🔠 TheDarkKnight Tean	n	Display Name	Username Or Scope	
 Azure DevOps Groups 		Project Valid Users	[TheDarkKnight]	Remove
> 🚱 Build Administrators	s			
> 😵 Contributors				
> 🚱 DevGroup				×
> 🚱 Project Administra	Add users a	and groups		
> 🚱 Project Valid User				
> 🚱 Readers	To add this user or	group as a member of other gro	oups, type aliases or display n	ames of the groups that
> 🗛 Release Administr	you want to add to			
-	User or group	[thedarkknight]\b		
			d Administrators	RI
		Showing 1 result		
			Save ch	anges Cancel

Figure 8-23. Making a group a member of another

The Project Administrators group in a team project is granted all the permissions for the team project, and those permissions cannot be altered.

In Azure DevOps, permissions are inherited from groups that users are a member of. When a permission is inherited, it will be shown as Allow (Inherited). Clicking Why? next to the permission shows which group the permission was inherited from. See Figure 8-24.

Create group	TheD	TheDarkKnight > Dev Team Edit				
Filter users and groups		Permissions Members Member of Development team area				
> 🚱 TheDarkKnight Team	Bypass					
 Azure DevOps Groups 	Chang	e process of team project.	Not set			
> 🕾 Build Administrators	Create	tag definition	Allow (inherited) Why?			
> 🚱 Contributors	-			×		
> 🚱 DevGroup	Irace peri	mission				
> 🚱 Project Administrators	TIDIK					
> 🚱 Project Valid Users	TheDarkK	heDarkKnight				
> 🚱 Readers	TRACE INHERI	ACE INHERITANCE RESULTS				
> 🚱 Release Administrators	Permission	Create tag definition				
	Effective value	Allow (Inherited)				
	Identity	[TheDarkKnight]\Dev Team				
	lacinity	(mebankknight) (ber team				
	GROUP MEMB	ER INHERITANCE				
	The permission groups	value is being inherited through y	our direct or indirect membership in	these		
	[TheDarkKnigh	t]\Contributors Allow				

Figure 8-24. Inherited permissions

You can click individual permissions, and they will rotate from Not set to Allow to Deny. If the given permission is inherited from a group, the inherited Allow gets applied when the permission isn't explicitly set to Allow or Deny. Deny permission overrides any Allow inherited from a group to an individual or a group.

Iteration Permissions

On the project's configuration tab, you can click Iterations. Then in each iteration you can set the security options by clicking Security in the context menu of the iteration. You can set permissions to create child nodes, delete the current node, edit the current node, and view the permissions of the node. You can save the permission changes to available users, add a new user or group and set their permissions, or even remove the groups or users who already have permissions. Clicking "Clear explicit permissions" will remove the Allow permissions of the selected user or group and make them as "Not set." The Save button gets enabled when you do this action, and you can save or you're your changes. See Figure 8-25.

Permissions for TheDarkK	night	ACCESS CONTROL	SUMMARY		
+ Add		Shows information about the permissions being granted to this identity			
Search	P	Create child no	des	Not set	
Chaminda Chandrasekara		Delete this node	e	Not set	
Microsoft VisualStudio Services TES		Edit this node		Not set	
U militaria di statisti		View permission	ns for this node	Not set	
		<u>Clear explicit pe</u>	ermissions		
		Remove	Save changes	Undo changes	

Figure 8-25. Iteration permissions at the project level

Area Permissions

In a project's configuration options, you can select the Areas tab and set permissions for an individual area by clicking Security in the context menu of each area. The actions you can perform with the area permissions are similar to the iteration permissions. However, there are additional permissions such as for editing work items in a given area path. See Figure 8-26.

Permissions for TheDarkKnight

+ Add		ACCESS CONTROL SUMMARY Shows information about the permissions being granted to this identit		
Search	Q	Create child noc	les	Not set
 Azure DevOps Groups 		Delete this node	2	Not set
A Project Collection Test Service Accounts		Edit this node		Not set
Build Administrators		Edit work items	in this node	Allow
🚱 Contributors		Manage test pla	tes	Allow
😚 Readers		View permission	ns for this node	Allow
~ Users		View work items	in this node	Allow
Azure Boards	Clear explicit permissions			
With Soft Visual studio. Services. IPS		Remove	Save changes	Undo ch

Figure 8-26. Area permissions at the project level

×

 \times

Shared Queries Permissions

The shared queries permissions can be set at the team project level. You can click Security in the context menu of an individual shared query or in the shared queries folder, which you can reach via the Queries page's All tab. The users/groups can be allowed to contribute, read, delete, and manage permissions for the shared queries folder or for individual shared queries. See Figure 8-27.

TheDarkKnight	+ Queries				
🛃 Overview	Favorites All + New query 🛱 New	v folder			
Boards	Title			Last modified by	
Work Items Reards	 My Queries Assigned to me 	Permissions for Shared Queries			
Backlogs	目 Followed work items 目 GroupDemo2	+ Add	ACCESS CONTROL SUM Shows information about	MARY the permissions bein	g granted to this identity
D. Sprints	≣ test	Search P	Contribute	Allow	
Rueries	 Shared Queries 	Azure DevOps Groups Project Collection Administrators	Delete Manage Permission	Allow s Allow	
Plans Plans	個 Direct Links1	Build Administrators	Read	Allow	
② Estimate	E GroupDemo1	Contributors	Clear explicit permis	sions	
Panos	目 Query1	Project Administrators	Remove	Save changes	Undo changes
Pipelines	옆 Tree demo 聞 Users Stories in current Iteration	Readers Users Project Collection Build Service (sidevop)			

Figure 8-27. Shared queries permissions

In this lesson, you explored the permissions at the team project level including the permissions applicable to iterations and areas at the project level. Additionally, we discussed the shared queries permissions at the project level.

Lesson 8-7. Setting Up Team-Level Security

Azure DevOps has the capability to create multiple teams, and when you have multiple teams, it is important to control the access permission of each team. You can group users with the same permission on different teams.

Go to the project settings and select Teams in the General section. Click a team. You will be able to see the team profile, where you can add the team administrators. See Figure 8-28.

Team Profile	TheDarkKnight Team			
•	Members			
	+ Add ඊ		membership direct	
\mathbf{U}	Display Name	Username Or Scope		
Name	Chaminda Chandrasekara	chaminda_chandrasekara@yah		
TheDarkKnight Team	nilmini herath	pnherath@yahoo.com		
Description	Pushpa.herath88	pushpa.herath88@gmail.com		
The default project team.				
Administrators				
pushpa.herath88				
+ Add				

Figure 8-28. Team profile

Go to the Team Configurations section on the project settings page. You will see the boards section with the General, Iteration, Areas, and Templates tabs. Go to the Iterations tab.

Click the three dots in front of the iteration value and select the Security setting. The iteration permission control window will open. See Figure 8-29.



Figure 8-29. Iteration permission

- 1. You can add new users and groups to the permission.
- 2. You can enable or disable the inheritance.

You can control the following permissions to each of the users or groups added to the iteration permission window.

- 3. The "Create child nodes" permission allows or denies the capability to add a child note.
- 4. The "Delete this node" permission allows you to delete the selected node.
- 5. The "Edit this node" permission allows you to edit the selected node.
- 6. You can view permissions for this node.

Close this permission window and go back to the Boards section; then go to Areas. You will see area values at the bottom of the page. Click the three dots in front of the area value and select Security. The area permission window will open. See Figure 8-30.

+ Add	ACCESS CONTROL SUM Shows information about	ACCESS CONTROL SUMMARY Shows information about the permissions being granted to this identity		
Search	P 1 Create child nodes	Not	set	
 Azure DevOps Groups 	2 Delete this node	Not	set	
Project Collection Test Service Accounts	3 Edit this node	Not	Not set Allow Allow Allow	
Build Administrators	4 Edit work items in t	his node Allo		
Contributors	Manage test plans	Allo		
🚱 Readers	View permissions for	or this node Allo	w	
✓ Users	8 View work items in	this node Allo	w	
Azure Boards	Clear explicit permissions			
MICrosoft, Visual Studio, Services, IFS	Remove	Save changes	Undo changes	

Permissions for TheDarkKnight

Figure 8-30. Area permission

 \times

- 1. Permission to add new nodes
- 2. Permission to delete the selected node
- 3. Permission to edit the selected node
- 4. Permission to edit the work items in the selected node
- 5. Permission to manage test plans
- 6. Permission to manage test suites
- 7. Permission to view the permission of the selected node
- 8. Permission to view the work items of the selected node

Lesson 8-8. Setting Up User-Level Security Options

You have a few ways to provide alternative access credentials in Azure DevOps. You can use personal access tokens, alternate credentials, and SSH public keys. In this lesson, let's look at these available options.

Log on to Azure DevOps, click the user avatar in the top-right corner, and click the Security menu option. See Figure 8-31.



Figure 8-31. User security 278
In the "User settings" menu, select Security, and you will see three alternative credential options. See Figure 8-32.

Azure DevOps
User settings
General
About
Time and Locale
Notifications
Theme
Usage
Security
Personal access tokens
Alternate credentials
SSH public keys

Figure 8-32. Alternative credential options for a user

Personal Access Token

The *personal access token* (PAT) in Azure DevOps is an alternate password that you can use to authenticate with Azure DevOps. When a PAT is created for a user, it can be set to have the same access level of the user. You can also narrow the scope of access if required. Let's take a look at the steps involved in creating a PAT in Azure DevOps.

On the Personal Access Tokens tab, you can click "+ New Token" to create a new token. Existing tokens can be filtered by view so that you can see the active, all, revoked, and expired tokes as well. See Figure 8-33.

CHAPTER 8 AZURE DEVOPS SECURITY OPTIONS

Azure DevOps			م	Search II	i û 🌘
User settings General	Personal Access Tokens These can be used instead of a password for applications like Git or o + New Token	can be passed in the au	thorization header to access REST A	\PIs	本 车 Active
Time and Locale	Token name	Status 1	Organization	Expires or All Tokens	
Notifications	Chaminda Chandrasekara Code (Read, write, & manage); Code (Read & write); Packaging (Read)	 Active 	All accessible organizations	4/18/2020 Active	
Usage	All Scopes Full access	 Active 	chamindac	6/1/2020 Expired	
Security	WorkItemReadWrite	 Active 	sidevop	9/20/2019	
Personal access tokens	Work Items (Nead & write)				
Alternate credentials SSH public keys	Git: https://chamindac.visualstudio.com/ on MYPESCONBIT Code (Read & write): Packaging (Read)	 Active 	chamindac	7/26/2019	

Figure 8-33. Personal Access Tokens tab

Once you click "+ New Token" to create a new PAT, a pane will open allowing you to create the token. You can provide a name and set an expiry date for the token. The scope of the token can be set to "Full access," which allows the user to access all the features that they normally have access to. Or you can narrow the scope to a specific access level for a given token. See Figure 8-34.

Create a new personal access token		\times
Name		
WorkItemRead		
Organization		
sldevop		~
Expiration (UTC)		
30 days 🗸 🗸	Tue Jul 23 2019	
Work Items		^
Read Read & write Read, write, & manage		
Code Source code, repositories, pull requests, and notifications		
Show all scopes (26 more)		
Create Cancel		

Figure 8-34. Creating a PAT

Once you click the Create button, a PAT is created for the defined scope, and you must copy the PAT value and save it in a secure location, as it will be shown only once. See Figure 8-35.

Succe	ess! ×
You have WorkIte	successfully added a new personal access token. Copy the token now! mRead token
4	cfq:
Δ	Warning - Make sure you copy the above token now. We don't store it and you will not be able to see it again.
	Close

Figure 8-35. PAT created

After creating the PAT, you can select it on the Personal Access Tokens tab. Once a PAT is selected, you can regenerate the token for it. However, if you are already using the previously generated token value, you have to replace it with the newly generated value in each place it is used after regenerating a token. You can revoke a token as well by selecting a PAT on the Personal Access Tokens tab. To edit the scope, name, and expiry date of a given token, click Edit button. See Figure 8-36.

Personal Access Tokens

These can be used instead of a password for applications like Git or can be passed in the authorization header to access REST APIs

+ New Token 🦻 Revoke 🖌	🖉 Edit 🜔 Regenerate			
Token name		Status ↓	Organization	Expires on
Chaminda Chandrasekara Code (Read, write, & manage); Cod	de (Read & write); Packaging (Read)	 Active 	All accessible organizations	4/18/2020
All Scopes Full access		 Active 	chamindac	6/1/2020
WorkItemReadWrite Work Items (Read & write)		 Active 	sidevop	9/20/2019

Figure 8-36. Editing, revoking, and regenerating PAT

Personal access tokens are really useful when using an Azure DevOps REST API and when performing various integrations with third-party applications. Chapter 9 will cover how to use PATs with a REST API.

Alternate Credentials

You can set up alternate credentials to work with Azure Git Repos. Unlike with PATs, the alternate credentials do not have expiry dates. See Figure 8-37.

Azure DevOps	
User settings	Alternate Credentials
General	
About	Create an alternate user name and password to access your Git repository using alternate credentials. Unlike personal
Time and Locale	tokens, this login doesn't expire and can't be scoped to limit access to your Azure DevOps Services data. Use alternate
Notifications	credentidas as a last resort when you can't use personal access tokens of sont keys.
Theme	Primary
Usage	Username
Security	chaminda_chandrasekara@yahoo.com
Personal access tokens	
Alternate credentials	Secondary
SSH public keys	Username
	chamindac
	Password
	•••••
	Confirm Password

Figure 8-37. Alternate credentials

SSH Public Keys

You can use the SSH keys generated in Linux, macOS, and Windows running Git for Windows to authenticate Azure DevOps. For further details on SSH key usage with Azure DevOps, refer to https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/devops/repos/git/use-ssh-keys-to-authenticate?view=azure-devops.

In this lesson, we discussed alternative credential options available for users in Azure DevOps. Out of the options, the personal access tokens are commonly used, and you will learn more about them along with the REST APIs in Chapter 9.

Summary

We discussed the security options available in Azure DevOps specifically related to Azure Boards in this chapter. Organization-level permissions and team project and team permissions were described in detail so that you will be able to set up users with access levels based on your team requirements. Further, we explored how to add external users to AAD-backed Azure DevOps organizations and how to grant licenses to individual users for paid extensions. We also describes process template permissions so that you can control who is allowed to extend and customize the process of your Azure DevOps organization. In addition, you explored the project level, team level, and individual userlevel permissions including how to create personal access tokens to use with the REST APIs and other third-party application integrations.

In the next chapter, we will discuss the REST APIs and Azure DevOps command-line interface, which allows you to develop extensions, integrate Azure DevOps with other tools, and manage Azure DevOps services and resources in a flexible and faster way.

CHAPTER 9

Working with REST APIs and the CLI

Azure DevOps comes with some Representational State Transfer (REST) APIs, which are service endpoints that support HTTP operations. These HTTP methods in Azure DevOps allow you to create, retrieve, update, and delete resources in Azure DevOps. The REST APIs can be used to develop extensions for Azure DevOps or to integrate various third-party applications with Azure DevOps. You may be using an application such as ServiceNow to manage tickets, and if you want ServiceNow and Azure DevOps to be integrated, you can leverage the capabilities in a REST API. The Azure Pipeline application (https://store.servicenow.com/sn_appstore_store.do#!/store/ application/fa788cb5dbb5630040669c27db961940) for ServiceNow is a good example of using REST APIs for integration. Many extensions available to Azure DevOps in the Visual Studio Marketplace also use the REST API capabilities to extend and enhance the features of Azure DevOps.

For example, an Azure command-line interface (CLI) extension is available that provides command-line access to Azure DevOps. You can use an Azure DevOps command-line form of Windows, macOS, and Linux. The Azure DevOps CLI allows you to work with commands to perform various tasks on Azure DevOps without worrying about GUI flows. A CLI can be a faster and more flexible way to interact with Azure DevOps.

In this chapter, let's further understand the Azure DevOps REST APIs and CLI and explore how you can use them with practical lessons.

Lesson 9-1. Understanding the REST API Components

There are a few components in a REST API request/response pair. Let's look at each of these components in this lesson.

The Request URI

The request URI of an Azure DevOps REST API can be identified as follows:

```
VERB https://{instance}[/{team-project}]/_apis[/{area}]/{resource}?api-
version={version}
```

Verb: This is an HTTP GET, POST, HEAD, PUT, or PATCH, and it is a required HTTP method.

Instance: This is the Azure DevOps Services organization or the TFS/Azure DevOps Server collection.

- For Azure DevOps Services, this would be dev.azure.com/ {OrganizationName}.
- For Azure DevOps Server/TFS, this would be {server:port}/tfs/ {CollectionName}.

Resource path: This is the path to the Azure DevOps resource in the format _apis/ {area}/{resource}, as in _apis/wit/workitems.

API version: This is the version of the REST API to be used. Depending on the Azure DevOps Services or Azure DevOps Server version you are using, the REST API version should be specified with a call to the REST API. The following are examples:

- api-version=5.0
- api-version=5.1-preview.3

HTTP Request Message Header Fields

The header fields will be the HTTP verb (which is required) and the authorization header details for the HTTP method.

HTTP Request Message Body

This optional component is required in order for the HTTP POST and PUT methods to support the HTTP operation. For example, to create a work item, you have to pass the details of the work item in the request body to the work item. In addition, some of the services require you to define the Multipurpose Internet Mail Extensions (MIME) type such as application/json.

HTTP Response Message Header Fields

HTTP response status codes will be returned after a REST API call. The response code 2xx gives the success state, where 4xx and 5xx give error responses. Instead of generic response codes, a service-specific response code can be returned, as specified in the API documentation. Additional response header fields can be included to support the response such as content-type.

HTTP Reponses Message Body Fields

Response objects can be returned in the HTTP response body in situations such as when a GET request is returning data. Typically, returning objects will be JSON or XML data, and the type will be indicated in the response header field's content-type field.

In this lesson, you looked at the components in a REST API call to gain an understanding of a REST API call. This information will be useful in the following lessons in this chapter.

Lesson 9-2. Using a REST API from a Browser

The simplest way to invoke a REST API GET request is via a browser instance. In this lesson, let's explore how you can retrieve information from an Azure DevOps REST API using the Chrome browser.

Prerequisites: You need to have an Azure DevOps organization with projects and work items.

Use the following URI to call the Azure DevOps REST API to get a list of the available work items. Replace {organization} with your Azure DevOps organization name.

CHAPTER 9 WORKING WITH REST APIS AND THE CLI

Replace {project} with your team project's name. Replace {ids} with the commaseparated work item IDs of your team project that you want to retrieve.

```
https://dev.azure.com/{organization}/{project}/_apis/wit/
workitems?ids={ids}&api-version=5.0
```

Here's an example:

```
https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/TheDarkKnight/_apis/wit/
workitems?ids=52,56,57&api-version=5.0 Open a chrome browser instance.
```

Launch a Chrome browser, copy the REST API URI to the address bar, and press Enter to invoke the REST API GET request. Once prompted, log in with your credentials to the Azure DevOps organization. You should be able to see that the work item data of the specified work items is retrieved to the browser as JSON content. See Figure 9-1.



Figure 9-1. List work items using the REST API in a browser

To enhance the view of the returned JSON content in the Chrome browser, you can add an extension such as a JSON formatter or JSON viewer. Once the extension is added to the browser, you will see a formatted view of the returned JSON from the Azure DevOps REST API. See Figure 9-2.



Figure 9-2. Formatted JSON after REST API call

You can pass several additional parameters to a REST API call in Azure DevOps. Let's look at a few useful parameters you can use with a REST API call to get a list of work items.

• **fields**: This allows you to specify the fields of the work item to retrieve as a comma-separated list.

Here's an example: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/ TheDarkKnight/_apis/wit/workitems/6?fields=system. title,system.id&api-version=5.0.

- **asof**: You can define the date and time that the work item should be retrieved by. This would be useful to retrieve work item details as of a given date instead of retrieving the latest state of the given work items.
- **\$expand**: This lets you define the scope of the retrieved work item details.

In this lesson, you explored how you can invoke an Azure DevOps REST API call from a browser to execute GET requests. Using REST API calls in a browser is useful to understanding the content of the retrieved data quickly and for testing the REST API calls before you use them in the application, extension, or program you are implementing.

Lesson 9-3. Using a REST API with PowerShell

You can use PowerShell in many ways to interact with an Azure DevOps REST API easily. For example, you may want to perform certain activities during CI/CD pipelines to retrieve and update data from Azure DevOps. (CI/CD pipelines will be discussed in another book of this series.) You can even create extensions and additional tasks for CI/CD pipelines with PowerShell while using a REST API. Let's take a look at how to get started using PowerShell to call an Azure DevOps REST API.

Authorization

When a REST API is called from PowerShell, you need to provide header information to authorize the request. For this purpose, you can create a personal access token as described in Lesson 8-8. The scope of the PAT can be set to work item read/write because you are going to use the REST API calls for reading and updating work items in this lesson and in the next one. See Figure 9-3. Keep the PAT saved in a file in a secure location for use in the lesson.

Edit a personal access token	\times
Name	
WorkItemReadWrite	
Organization	
sldevop	\sim
Expiration (UTC)	
Custom defined \checkmark Fri Sep 20 2019	
Scopes Authorize the scope of access associated with this token Scopes O Full access (Custom defined	
User Profile Write to profile Read Read & write	
Variable Groups Read, create and manage	
🗌 Read 🦳 Read & create 📄 Read, create, & manage	
Wiki Read, create, and update	
C Read C Read & write	
Work Items Work items, queries, backlogs, plans, and metadata Image: Read Read, write Read Read, write, & manage	_
Show less scopes	
Save Cancel	

Figure 9-3. Work item read/write PAT

Open a PowerShell ISE window and add a new script file. In the script file, add the following code segment to prepare a header for authorization with the Azure DevOps REST API:

```
param(
   [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
   [string] $token,
```

```
[Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
```

```
CHAPTER 9 WORKING WITH REST APIS AND THE CLI
[string] $collectionUri,
[Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
[string] $teamProjectName,
[Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
[string] $workitemIDs,
[string] $restAPIversion = '5.0'
)
$User=""
# Base64-encodes the Personal Access Token (PAT) appropriately
$base64AuthInfo = [Convert]::ToBase64String([Text.Encoding]::ASCII.
GetBytes(("{0}:{1}" -f $User,$token)));
$header = @{Authorization=("Basic {0}" -f $base64AuthInfo)};
```

We'll discuss the parameters other than the \$token later in the chapter. The token is used with the username (which can be an empty string) to generate the Base64-encoded authorization token. Then it is added to a variable named \$header in order to pass it as the header of the REST API call.

Calling the REST API

Add the following two lines of code to prepare the URI and invoke the REST API. Notice that the header is passed to the Invoke REST method.

```
$Uri = $collectionUri + '/' + $teamProjectName + '/_apis/wit/
workitems?ids='+ $workitemIDs + '&api-version=' + $restAPIversion
$workItems = Invoke-RestMethod -Method Get -ContentType application/json
-Uri $Uri -Headers $header
```

The content type to get is defined as application/json. Let's add a few more code lines to loop through the retrieved work items, as shown here:

```
foreach($workitem in $workItems.value)
{
    Write-Host ("Work item - Id:{0} Title: {1}" -f $workitem.id, $workitem.
    fields.'System.Title')
}
```

The code will loop through each of the work items and print the ID and title of each work item.

The complete code of the previous sample is as follows:

```
param(
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $token,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $collectionUri,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $teamProjectName,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $workitemIDs,
  [string] $restAPIversion = '5.0'
)
$User=""
# Base64-encodes the Personal Access Token (PAT) appropriately
$base64AuthInfo = [Convert]::ToBase64String([Text.Encoding]::ASCII.
GetBytes(("{0}:{1}" -f $User,$token)));
$header = @{Authorization=("Basic {0}" -f $base64AuthInfo)};
$Uri = $collectionUri + '/' + $teamProjectName + '/ apis/wit/
workitems?ids='+ $workitemIDs + '&api-version=' + $restAPIversion
$workItems = Invoke-RestMethod -Method Get -ContentType application/json
-Uri $Uri -Headers $header
foreach($workitem in $workItems.value)
{
 Write-Host ("Work item - Id:{0} Title: {1}" -f $workitem.id, $workitem.
 fields.'System.Title')
}
```

Executing the Script

Save the script file; you can change the directory of the PowerShell ISE to the script's saved folder. Then to execute the script, use the following syntax:

```
.\GetWorkItems.ps1 -token 'patvalue' -collectionUri 'collectionuri'
-teamProjectName 'teamprojectname' -workitemIDs 'workitemids'
```

Here's an example:

```
.\GetWorkItems.ps1 -token 'h6gayknpatvalueml7qi74luna' -collectionUri
'https://dev.azure.com/sldevop' -teamProjectName 'TheDarkKnight'
-workitemIDs '52,56,57'
```

When you execute the script, you will see that the work items are retrieved and the ID and title are printed. See Figure 9-4.



Figure 9-4. Retrieving work items using a REST API in PowerShell

WIQL

The sample used earlier is a simple one that retrieves work items by ID. It is also possible to implement REST API calls to retrieve work items using the Work Item Query Language (WIQL). For example, the following code passes some WIQL and retrieves and prints work item IDs and the REST API URI of each work item matching the query criteria:

```
param(
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $token,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $collectionUri,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $teamProjectName,
```

```
[Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $wiql,
  [string] $restAPIversion = '5.0'
)
$User=""
# Base64-encodes the Personal Access Token (PAT) appropriately
$base64AuthInfo = [Convert]::ToBase64String([Text.Encoding]::ASCII.
GetBytes(("{0}:{1}" -f $User,$token)));
$header = @{Authorization=("Basic {0}" -f $base64AuthInfo)};
$Uri = $collectionUri + '/' + $teamProjectName + '/ apis/wit/wiql?api-
version=' + $restAPIversion
$requestBody = '{"query":"' + $wiql + '"}'
$workItems = Invoke-RestMethod -Method Post -ContentType application/json
-Uri $Uri -Body $requestBody -Headers $header
foreach($workitem in $workItems.WorkItems)
{
 Write-Host ("Work item - Id:{0} url: {1}" -f $workitem.id, $workitem.url)
}
```

You can pass WIQL to the script and execute it as follows:

```
.\GetWorkItemswithWIQL.ps1 -token 'h6gayknpatvaluexbml7qi74luna'
-collectionUri 'https://dev.azure.com/sldevop' -teamProjectName
'TheDarkKnight' -wiql 'Select [System.Id], [System.Title], [System.
State] From WorkItems Where ([System.WorkItemType] = "Task" AND [State] <>
"Closed")'
```

Once executed, the script prints the ID and URI of each work item. See Figure 9-5.

2 Windows PowerShell	-		×
PS C:\Users\Chaminda\OneDrive\MyBooks\HandsonAzureDevOps\AzureBoards\images\Chapter 09> .\GetWorkItemswi n 'h6gay 'TheDarkKnight' -wigl 'Select [System.Id], [System.Titel, [System.State] From WorkItems Where ([System	thWIQL -teamP	.ps1 - roject	Name
<pre>'Task' AND [State] 'Closed')) Work item - Id:13 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work</pre>	Items/	13	
work item - Id:14 url: https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/d1a581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work work item - Id:16 url: https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/d1a581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work	Items/ Items/	14 16 17	
<pre>work item - Id:18 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work work item - Id:19 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work hork item - Id:20 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work</pre>	Items/ Items/	18 19 20	
Work item - Id:21 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b661-57887bdb44a3_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:22 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b661-57887bdb44a3_apis/wit/work	Items/ Items/	21	
<pre>Work item - Id:23 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:24 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:33 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work</pre>	Items/ Items/ Items/	23 24 33	
<pre>Work item - Id:34 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:35 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:36 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work</pre>	Items/ Items/	34 35 36	
Work item - Id:37 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:38 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work	Items/ Items/	37 38	
work item - Id:39 url: https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/d1a381e9-d64e-4834-b661-57887bd6443/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:40 url: https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/d1a581e9-d64e-4834-b661-57887bd6443/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:41 url: https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/d1a581e9-d64e-4834-b661-57887bd6443/_apis/wit/work	Items/ Items/ Items/	39 40 41	
<pre>Work item - Id:42 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:43 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:44 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work</pre>	Items/ Items/ Items/	42 43 44	
<pre>Work item - Id:45 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work Work item - Id:46 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work tork item - Id:47 url: https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/dla581e9-d64e-4834-b861-57887bdb44a3/_apis/wit/work</pre>	Items/	45	
work item - 10:4/ uri: http://dev.azure.com/sidevop/dla>81e9-d64e-4834-D861-5/88/Dd044a3/_apis/wit/work. PS C:\Users\Chaminda\OneDrive\MyBooks\HandsonAzureDevOps\AzureBoards\images\Chapter 09>	ITEMS/	47	

Figure 9-5. Executing WIQL with the REST API

We went through the steps required to authorize and invoke an Azure DevOps REST API GET request using PowerShell in this lesson. You can use this knowledge to create custom scripts to generate reports by querying the work items with a REST API of Azure DevOps. You can learn about other options for REST APIs via the REST API documentation at https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/rest/api/azure/ devops/?view=azure-devops-rest-5.0.

Lesson 9-4. Creating a Work Item with a REST API

We discussed how to retrieve work items using a REST API in the previous lessons of this chapter, so let's now look at how you can use a REST API to create a new work item.

Prerequisites: You need to have performed the previous lessons of this chapter and have a good understanding of calling REST APIs with PowerShell.

Open a PowerShell ISE and create a new script. Use the following code as sample code to create a work item with the REST API:

```
param(
```

```
[Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
[string] $token,
[Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
```

```
[string] $collectionUri,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $teamProjectName,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $workitemType,
  [Parameter(Mandatory=$true)]
  [string] $workitemTitle,
  [string] $restAPIversion = '5.0'
)
$User=""
# Base64-encodes the Personal Access Token (PAT) appropriately
$base64AuthInfo = [Convert]::ToBase64String([Text.Encoding]::ASCII.
GetBytes(("{0}:{1}" -f $User,$token)));
$header = @{Authorization=("Basic {0}" -f $base64AuthInfo)};
$Uri = $collectionUri + '/' + $teamProjectName + '/ apis/wit/workitems/$' +
$workitemType + '?api-version=' + $restAPIversion
$requestBody = '[{
  "op": "add",
  "path": "/fields/System.Title",
  "from": null,
  "value": "' + $workitemTitle + '"
 }]'
```

\$workItemCreated = Invoke-RestMethod -Method Post -ContentType application/ json-patch+json -Uri \$Uri -Body \$requestBody -Headers \$header

Write-Host \$workItemCreated

Notice the REST API URI is set to use a parameter value of a given work item type name. The parameter \$workitemType should be supplied with the exact work item type name. For example, User Story, Bug, Product Backlog Item, and Task are a few valid work item types. The request body in the previous code is defined with the work item title as the supplied parameter. Another change that the REST method invokes is that the content type is set to application/json-patch+json. You can call the previous script with the following syntax to create a new work item:

.\CreateWorkItem.ps1 -token 'h6gayknpatvalueluna' -collectionUri 'https://
dev.azure.com/sldevop' -teamProjectName 'TheDarkKnight' -workitemType 'User
Story' -workitemTitle 'created with api 01'

Once the script executed, a new work item (a user story in this example) gets created in the team project. See Figure 9-6.

👌 Worl	rk items - Boards	× +			-	
\leftrightarrow \rightarrow	C 🔒 htt	ps://dev.azure.com/sldevop/TheDarkKnight/_worki	tems/recentlyupdated/	*		
C si	ildevop / The	eDarkKnight / Boards / Work Items			1	۵
+	Recently upda	ted \lor $ $ + New Work Item \lor $ ightarrow$ Open in	Queries 🤌 Column Options	🙆 Recycle B	Bin 🚔	7
+	Recently updat	ted ∨ + New Work Item ∨ ♂ Open in keyword Types	Queries P Column Options V Assigned to V	Recycle E Area	lin 🚔	▼ ~ >
+	Recently updat	ted ∨ + New Work Item ∨ ♂ Open in keyword Types Title	n Queries 🤌 Column Options	Recycle E Area ed To	lin 🚔	∽ > Sta
+	Recently updat Filter by ID © 60	ted ∨ + New Work Item ∨ ↔ Open in keyword Types Title III created with api 02	n Queries 🖉 Column Options	 Recycle E Area ed To nassigned 	lin 🚔 Tags ∖	♥ ✓ > Sta

Figure 9-6. Creating a work item using a REST API

In this lesson, you used a REST API to create new work items in Azure DevOps. You can further implement the ability to update or delete work items with a REST API by following the documentation available at https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/rest/ api/azure/devops/?view=azure-devops-rest-5.0.

Lesson 9-5. Getting Started with the Azure DevOps CLI

The command-line interface for Azure DevOps allows you to perform various tasks in Azure DevOps without worrying about GUI flows. With the Azure DevOps CLI, you can execute commands against Azure DevOps in a flexible and fast manner. The Azure DevOps CLI is an extension to the Azure CLI. In this lesson, let's look at the steps required to get your machine ready to use the Azure DevOps CLI.

As the first step, you have to make sure that your system is set up with Azure CLI 2.0.49 or later. You can open a PowerShell window and execute az --version to check the Azure CLI version. See Figure 9-7.

PS C:\WINDOWS\system32> az --version azure-cli (2.0.54)

Figure 9-7. Checking the Azure CLI version

If Azure CLI is not installed in your machine, install it by following the instructions at https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/cli/azure/install-azure-cli?view=azure-cli-latest.

To add the Azure DevOps CLI extension, execute the following command in PowerShell:

az extension add --name azure-devops

Executing az --version now will show the extension is added to your machine. See Figure 9-8.



Figure 9-8. Azure DevOps CLI extension added

Showing a Work Item

Now that you have set up the Azure DevOps CLI, let's execute a simple command to see how it works. You need to log into your Microsoft/organization account, which is connected to the Azure DevOps organization in order to use the CLI. You can do this by using the az login command. Provide your credentials when prompted and complete the login. Then in the PowerShell window, you can execute the following command to show a given work item data:

```
az boards work-item show --id workitemid --org azuredevopsorganization
Here's an example:
```

```
az boards work-item show --id 60 --org https://dev.azure.com/sldevop
```

This command gives you the details of the work item, as shown in Figure 9-9.

Windows PowerShell PS C:\> az boards work-item show --id 60 --org https://dev.azure.com/sldevop "fields": Terus : 1 "Microsoft.VSTS.Common.Priority": 2, "Microsoft.VSTS.Common.StateChangeDate": "2019-06-22T10:39:45.46Z", "Microsoft.VSTS.Common.ValueArea": "Business", "Scatem ArozId": C. Microsoft.Vs15.Common.ValueArea : "Business", "System.Arealevel1": "TheDarkKnight", "System.AreaPath": "TheDarkKnight", "System.ArteaPath": "TheDarkKnight", "System.ArteaPath": { "links": { "avatar": { "href": "https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWRlOWUtM2M5OCO3MWQxLTllYmYtNT YONDhmYWIzZTMO" },' "descriptor": "msa.MmU1NWR10WUtM2M50C03MWQxLT11YmYtNTYONDhmYWIZZTM0", "displayName": "Chaminda Chandrasekara", "id": "2e55de9e-3c98-61d1-9ebf-56448fab3e34", "imageUrl": "https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWR10WUtM2M50C03MWQxLT11YmYtNT YONDhmYWIZZTM0", "bttps://dev.azure.com/s1devop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWR10WUtM2M50C03MWQxLT11YmYtNT YONDhmYWIZZTM0", "chaminda chandrascklang@vahoo_com" "uniqueName": "chaminda_chandrasekara@yahoo.com", "uniqueName": "chaminda_chandrasekara@yahoo.com", "uri": "https://spsprodcus3.vssps.visualstudio.com/Adf617216-cab2-4313-99e9-3cc07de67e51/_apis/Identities/2e55de9e -3298-61d-9ebf-56448fab3e34" }, "System.AuthorizedDate": "2019-06-22T10:39:45.462", "System.BoardColumn": "New Work", "System.BoardColumnDone": false, "System.changedBy": {
 "_links": {
 "avatar": {
 "avatar": {
 "href": "https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWRlOWUtM2M5OCO3MWQxLTllYmYtNT
YONDhmYWIZZTMO" } "descriptor": "msa.MmU1NwRlOWUtM2M50C03MwQxLTllYmYtNTYONDhmYWIZZTM0", "displayName": "Chaminda Chandrasekara", "id": "2e55de9e-3c98-61d1-9ebf-56448fab3e34", "imagulr1": "https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NwRlOWUtM2M50C03MwQxLTllYmYtNT YONDhmYWIZZTM0", "unagulr1": "chaminda chandrasekara@vahoo com" YONDhmYW1ZZIMO", "uniqueName": "chaminda_chandrasekara@yahoo.com", "unl": "https://spsprodcus3.vssps.visualstudio.com/Adf617216-cab2-4313-99e9-3cc07de67e51/_apis/Identities/2e55de9e -3c98-61d1-9ebf-56448fab3e34"), "System.ChangedDate": "2019-06-22T10:39:45.46Z", "System.CommentCount": 0, "System.CreatedBy": { "links": { "avatar": { "href": "https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWRlOWUtM2M5OCO3MWQxLTllYmYtNT "href": "https://dev.azure.com/sldevop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWRlOWUtM2M5OCO3MWQxLTllYmYtNT YONDhmYWIzZTMO },' "descriptor": "msa.MmU1NWR10WUtM2M50C03MWQxLT11YmYtNTYONDhmYWIZZTM0", "displayName": "Chaminda Chandrasekara", "id": "2e55de9e-3c98-61d1-9ebf-56448Fab3e34", "imageUrl": "https://dev.azure.com/s1devop/_apis/GraphProfile/MemberAvatars/msa.MmU1NWR10WUtM2M50C03MWQxLT11YmYtNT YONDhmYWIZZTM0", "cheminda chandraselence", " "uniqueName": "chaminda_chandrasekara@yahoo.com", "uniqueName": "chaminda_chandrasekara@yahoo.com", "uni": "https://spsprodcus3.vssps.visualstudio.com/Adf617216-cab2-4313-99e9-3cc07de67e51/_apis/Identities/2e55de9e -3c98-61d1-9ebf-56448fab3e34" "System.CreatedDate": "2019-06-22T10:39:45.46Z", "System.Id": 60, "System.IterationId": "System.Id": 60, "System.IterationId": 1, "System.IterationLevel1": "TheDarkKnight", "System.IterationPath": "TheDarkKnight", "System.NodeName": "TheDarkKnight", "System.Reason": "New", "System.RevisedDate": "9999-01-01T00:00:00Z", "System.RevisedDate": "9999-01-01T00:00:00Z", "System.State": "New", "System.State": "TheDarkKnight", "System.State": "TheDarkKnight", "System.State": "TheDarkKnight", "System.Watermark": 281, "System.WorkItemType": "User Story", "WEF_075A0860A5E4A8CAA34BA57894495D0_Kanban.Column": "New Work", "WEF_075A0860A5E4A8CAA34BA57894495D0_Kanban.Column.Done": false, "WEF_075A0860A5E4A8CAA34BA57894495D0_System.ExtensionMarker": true "id": 60, "relations": null,

Figure 9-9. Showing the work item with the Azure CLI

Updating a Work item

You can easily update a work item in the Azure CLI. Let's try to edit the title of a work item with the following command syntax:

az boards work-item update --id workitemid --title "updated title" --org azuredevopsorganization

For example, you can update the title of a user story as shown here. See Figure 9-10.

az boards work-item update --id 60 --title "title updated with CLI" --org https://dev.azure.com/sldevop



Figure 9-10. Updating the work item title with the Azure DevOps CLI

In this lesson, we discussed how to get started using the Azure DevOps CLI. You can use the Azure Boards documentation available at https://docs.microsoft.com/ en-us/cli/azure/ext/azure-devops/boards?view=azure-cli-latest to identify the various commands available and use them to view and update work items, boards, areas, iterations, and so on.

Summary

In this chapter, we discussed how to use a REST API with a browser and with PowerShell. Further, you learned how to use the REST API to retrieve and create work items. Additionally, we introduced the Azure DevOps CLI and showed how to get started with the CLI. We showed how to use the CLI for displaying and updating work items, and you know where to find the documentation for both REST APIs and the Azure DevOps CLI to do further exploring. Both the REST APIs and the CLI in Azure DevOps can be useful when integrating with other tools, developing extensions, or performing quick tasks on work items or boards.

In the next chapter, you'll look at using extensions from the Visual Studio Marketplace for Azure DevOps. You will explore a couple of useful extensions as well as see how to get the GitHub and Azure Boards integration to work.

CHAPTER 10

Using Extensions with Azure Boards and Linking with GitHub

You can add simple add-ons to Azure DevOps to customize and extend the capabilities of Azure DevOps. The extensions are written in HTML, JavaScript, CSS, and PowerShell, and they use REST APIs to interact with Azure DevOps Services as well as other applications and services. The Azure DevOps extensions are published in the Visual Studio Marketplace (https://marketplace.visualstudio.com/azuredevops). Specifically, Azure DevOps extensions can be used to provide custom views in dashboards as widgets; add tasks to CI/CD pipelines; extend the functionality of work item forms; develop new actions to run on hubs in Overview, Boards, Repos, Pipelines, or Test experiences; and create new hubs to perform new actions.

In this chapter, we'll show how you can add extensions from the marketplace to your Azure DevOps organizations and how to use some specific extensions to enhance the functionality of Azure Boards.

GitHub is a subsidiary of Microsoft, and it is a popular place to discover, share, and build software. It is a web-hosted source control platform based on Git and has been widely embraced by the open source developer community. Azure DevOps has close integrations with GitHub, and now you can use Azure Boards within GitHub.

In this chapter, we'll discuss how you can use Azure Boards with GitHub and use the integrations to provide a great project execution experience within GitHub.

Lesson 10-1. Using Extensions in Azure DevOps

Extensions for Azure DevOps are published and made available in the Visual Studio Marketplace (https://marketplace.visualstudio.com/azuredevops). Microsoft, other vendors, and the community develop these extensions. Many of these extensions are free to use; others are created as commercial extensions that you need to buy to use in your Azure DevOps organization. In this lesson, let's take a look at how you can install and manage extensions for your Azure DevOps organization.

In Azure DevOps, near your profile picture, click the shopping bag icon to access the Browse Marketplace and "Manage extensions" menu items. See Figure 10-1.



Figure 10-1. Options to browse and manage extensions

If you click Browse Marketplace, you will be redirected to https://marketplace. visualstudio.com/azuredevops where you can search for and install extensions. Clicking "Manage extensions" will open the Extensions tab of the Organization Settings page.

For now, click Browse Marketplace so you can find your first extension to install to your Azure Boards. In the marketplace, search for *estimate*; you will see a few related extensions in the results. See Figure 10-2.



Figure 10-2. Searching for extensions

In this lesson, let's install the Estimate extension by Microsoft DevLabs; we will explain how to use this extension in Lesson 10-4.

Clicking the extension's card in the search results will take you to the extension's page in the marketplace. If it is a free extension, you can click the "Get it free" button. See Figure 10-3.



Figure 10-3. Getting an extension for free

A new window will open where you can select the Azure DevOps organization for which you want to install the extension. If you have the Collection Administrator permissions in the Azure DevOps organization, you are allowed to install the extension yourself. See Figure 10-4. For Azure DevOps Server (the on-premise server), you can download the .vsix file of the extension and upload it on the "Manage extensions" page.

Visual Studio Marketplace	
	RE Organization Done
Estimate	Select an Azure DevOps organization
	sldevop \checkmark
	Install
	For Azure DevOps Server
	Download

Figure 10-4. Installing the extension

If you do not have sufficient permissions to install an extension in the Azure DevOps organization, you can make a request to your organization administrators to install the extension, providing a reason for why you need the extension. See Figure 10-5.

Visual Studio Marketplace	chandrasekara.chaminda
4	Organization Done
Estimate	Select an Azure DevOps organization
	Admin privileges are required to acquire this extension. You can submit a request to your organization's admin. Please install this extension to enable sizing/estimating user stories with planing poker online on Azure DevOps
	Request For Azure DevOps Server Download

Figure 10-5. Requesting an extension install

Once the request is made, the collection administrators will be notified via e-mail. The collection administrators can view the request to install an extension on the Extensions page's Requested tab of the organization settings. Administrators can filter by Pending, Approved, and Rejected extensions on the Requested tab. See Figure 10-6.



Figure 10-6. List of requested extensions

Click the pending extension request, and you can approve it or reject it if you have the Collection Administrator permissions. See Figure 10-7.

sldevop / Organization Settings /	Extensions / Requested	✓ Search	í
← Requested extensio	Estimate	Approve Ma	rketplace
Estimate Microsoft DevLabs	Extension details Planning Poker in Azure Boards. Publisher Microsoft DevLabs	Reject	
	Extension request details Requested by C chandrasekara.chaminda Please install this extension to	enable sizing/estimating user stories wi	Requested on 23m ago

Figure 10-7. Approving or rejecting the extension

Clicking the Approve button will take you back to the Visual Studio Marketplace page of the extension. You can click the "Get it free" button (or Get for paid extensions) and install the extension for the Azure DevOps organization. Once installed, it will be listed on the Installed tab of the Extensions page in the organization settings. You can click an installed extension and uninstall or disable it if required. See Figure 10-8.

sldevop /	Organization Settings / Extensions	/ Installed		/≣ 🖞	
nsions	Estimate		Uninstall	Marketplace	
			Dis	able	
	Extension details				
	Planning Poker in Azure Boards.				
	Publisher	Installed version	Last updated		
	Microsoft DevLabs	2.0.9 (Latest)	May 9, 2019 at 4:38 AM GMT+8		
	History				
	HIStory				
	User	Action	Date		
	Chaminda Chandrasekar	Installed	3m ago		

Figure 10-8. Uninstalling or disabling an extension

In addition, an extension publisher may publish an extension in the Visual Studio Marketplace privately and share it with your Azure DevOps organization. These shared extensions appear on the Shared tab of the Extensions page. See Figure 10-9. You can click a shared extension to open it and then click Install, which will take you to extension's page in the Visual Studio Marketplace where you can install the extension for the Azure DevOps organization.



Figure 10-9. Shared extensions

In the installed extensions, an "Action required" notification appears when new versions are available. See Figure 10-10.

Organization Settings	Extensions Security Browse marketplace
General	Installed Requested Shared
ত Overview 한 Projects	Estimate by Microsoft DevLabs Action required Planning Poker in Azure Boards.
	Veracode by Veracode Action required Find and fix security defects as part of your Azure DevOps pipeline - v2.6.0
8, Usage	() Agent Capabilities by Fernfrost Exposes agent capabilities as variables in your pipeline. Use them just like any other variable in subsequent tasks.

Figure 10-10. Action required on extensions

Clicking the extension will show you that a new version is available, and you can click the Authorize button to update the extension to the latest version. See Figure 10-11.

←	Installed extensi	Estimate		Autho	orize Mai	rketplace	:
1	Estimate Microsoft DevLabs	Extension details			Uninstall Disable		
VERSION	Veracode Veracode	Planning Poker in Azure Boards. Publisher Microsoft DevLabs	Installed version 1.0.24	Latest version 2.0.9	n		
()	Agent Capabilities Fernfrost						
	Analytics Microsoft	History	Action	Date			
\bigcirc	Apple App Store Microsoft	Azure DevOps Service	Updated version to 1.0.24	Jan 24, 2018			
š[Š]	ARM Outputs Kees Schollaart	Chaminda Chandrasekar	Installed	Jul 11, 2017			

Figure 10-11. Authorizing an update to an extension

In this lesson, you explored how to install extensions for an Azure DevOps organization and how to disable, update, and uninstall options for an existing extension. Further, we discussed how to request an extension if you are not the collection administrator of the Azure DevOps organization and how an administrator can approve or reject an extension installation request.

Lesson 10-2. Using Work Item Layout Extensions

Certain extensions can help you customize the process templates. We discussed the customization process in Chapter 5, and you can add even more features to the customizations, especially to work item forms and fields using work item layout extensions in the Visual Studio Marketplace.

To search for work item layout extensions, first open an inherited process template's work item layout (explained in Chapter 5) and click "Get extensions." See Figure 10-12.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / Organization Settings / Process
Organization Settings	All processes > DemoAgileCustom > User Story
General	Layout States Rules
団 Overview	🚎 New field 🖀 New group 🗋 New page 👔 Get extensions 🛛 💍
Projects	
x ^R Users	문 Details Additional Info
`≓ Billing	문 Description
🔏 Auditing	Text (multiple linec)
🖵 Global notifications	lext (multiple mes)
원 Usage	Bank Info
	Organitian Area
Azure Active Directory	Picklist (string)
Security	
	号 Acceptance Criteria
Policies	Text (multiple lines)
A Permissions	
Boards	
O Process	

Figure 10-12. Getting work item layout extensions

You will be redirected to the Visual Studio Marketplace with a special search criterion of *control group tab page*, with the filters Azure Boards and Cloud. See Figure 10-13.



Figure 10-13. Searching for work item layout extensions

There are several extensions by Microsoft and community members available for work item layouts. Let's add the "Color picklist control" extension and see how it works as an example. To install the extension, click the extension card and click "Get it free" in the extension page that opens. Then install the extension as we discussed in Lesson 10-1. Once the extension is installed, you can see that the additional menu item "Add custom control" appears on the Layout tab of the Process page. See Figure 10-14.

Organization Settings	All process	es > De	emoAgileCustom	> User Story		
General	Layout State	es Rule	es			
回 Overview	د) New field	H New	group 🗋 New page	Add custom control	👔 Get extensions 🛛 💍	
Projects						
R ^R Users	C Details		Additional Info			
洝 Billing	문 Descrip	tion				
Auditing	Text (multin	e lines)				
Global notifications	icke (manup	ie miesy				
⁸ Usage	Bank Info					
Extensions						
Azure Active Directory	Picklist (s	on Area string)				
Security	문 Accepta	nce Crite	eria			
Policies	Text (multip	e lines)				
R ^A Permissions		,				
Boards						
O Process						

Figure 10-14. Adding a custom control

When you click "Add custom control," a dialog will open, and you can select the installed "Color picklist control" extension. See Figure 10-15.



Figure 10-15. Adding the "Color picklist control" extension

On the Options tab of the dialog, you can select the field to which to apply the "Color picklist control" extension. Let's select the Priority field and specify the labels and colors. See Figure 10-16.

×

Definition	This custom control requires additional configuration	to work properly
Options		
ayout	Select the field for this control. Example: Priority	
	0	required
	Priority	~
	Critical:High:Normal:Low Choose colors for each value. Example: Red;Blue:Green	optional
		optional
	Red;Orange;Yellow;LightGreen	

Figure 10-16. Options of the color picklist field

On the Layout tab of the dialog, let's set the Priority field to appear in the Planning section of the Details page. See Figure 10-17.
X

Add a custom control to User Story

Definition	Choose how the field is displayed on the work item form.
Options	Label Priority
Layout	rhong
	Page Details ~
	Select existing group
	Group Planning ~
	Create new group
	Group
	OK Cancel

Figure 10-17. Layout of the color picklist

As you have added the custom extended control for the Priority field, the default available Priority field can be hidden in the layout of the work item. See Figure 10-18.

때 New field 🔚 New group 🗋 New page 👔 Add custom control 👔 Get extensions 💍		
C Details Additional Info		
号 Description	등 Planning	
Text (multiple lines)	문 Story Points Decimal	
Bank Info	문 Priority Integer	
Operation Area Picklist (string)	Priority Control extension	
号 Acceptance Criteria	문 Risk	

Figure 10-18. Hiding the default field

With this change, the User Story work item will have a colored picklist for the Priority field. The default Priority field is used and extended to introduce color by using this extension. See Figure 10-19.



Figure 10-19. Priority field as color picklist in User Story work item

In this lesson, we discussed how to add custom layout controls as extensions to Azure Boards to enhance the work item layouts, and you worked with one of the extensions to see how it works. You can add more extensions and further enhance the customization experience of the process in Azure Boards.

Lesson 10-3. Using a Few Other Useful Extensions

There are many useful extensions available in the Visual Studio Marketplace for Azure Boards. For this lesson, you will take a brief look at a couple of popular extensions to understand the value they add to Azure Boards.

Delivery Plans

Once you install the Delivery Plans add-on (extension) available at https://marketplace.visualstudio.com/items?itemName=ms.vss-plans, you will see that a Plans tab is added to the Boards section. See Figure 10-20.



Figure 10-20. Plans tab

So, where exactly could you use this tool, and what level of information does it give you? Sometimes two or more teams will be working together on the same project, probably because of the complexity or maybe to speed up the delivery. Your program manager/product owner wants to see this whole picture.

You can easily create a delivery plan. No queries are required, and you can use the existing information from the backlog. For the tool to work, you must first set up the teams and your release cadence. Also, you have to assign your work items to the teams. Once all these are in place, it is pretty easy to build the delivery plan. Just click the "New plan" button to create a new plan. See Figure 10-21.

Plans Favorites All Mou Plans Pitter plans Pitter plans Plans Pitter p

CHAPTER 10 USING EXTENSIONS WITH AZURE BOARDS AND LINKING WITH GITHUB

Figure 10-21. New plan

The nice thing about this add-on is that you can have multiple plans, which makes it an ideal tool for product management. Usually, for product management, you need to have a current plan and a future plan, where the future plan provides information to answer end-user queries. So, let's go back to the scenario where multiple teams are working on the same project. When you try to create a plan, you can specify the team projects, teams, and backlog levels you want to include in the plan. Additionally, you can specify the filter criteria. See Figure 10-22.

New delivery plan

A delivery plan shows you when work will be delivered across your teams. The plan overlays each team's sprint onto a familiar calendar view. You can view multiple backlogs and multiple teams across your whole organization. Learn more ^[2]

The Dark Hight Han					
Description					
Add a description to m	nake finding	plans simpler and faster			
Project *		Team *		Backlog *	
The Dark Knight	~	TheDarkKnight Team	~	Stories	~
TheDarkKnight	~	Dev Team	~	Stories	~
+ Add team					
+ Add team					
+ Add team Field Criteria Use field criteria to limit	: the wor <mark>k</mark> ite	ms appearing on your plan.	This criter	ria applies to all users	of the plan.
+ Add team Field Criteria Use field criteria to limit Field *	the work ite	ms appearing on your plan. T Operator *	This criter	ria applies to all users Value *	of the plan.

Figure 10-22. Creating a delivery plan

Once you create the plan, you will see that the plan includes the backlog items from each team (even from multiple team projects if you have selected to include them). There is some other functionality available on the plan's page. See Figure 10-23.



Figure 10-23. Delivery plan

- 1. You can select a delivery plan.
- 2. You can add a plan to the favorites list.
- 3. You can scale the plan view.
- 4. You can open the settings of the plan.
- 5. You can enable additional filters in the plan to visualize the plan with diffrent set of work items.
- 6. You can make the plan full-screen.
- 7. You can filter the criteria pane.

- 8. This lists the teams in a team project.
- 9. You can add new work items from the plan.

When you set up your plan, it will look something similar to Figure 10-24.

In the delivery plan settings, in addition to modifying the team projects, teams, backlogs, and filter criteria for the plan, you can add markers to specify milestones such as a release deadline.

General Configure plan markers Overview Plan markers are key dates and events you want to track. Teams + Add marker Field criteria Date * Wednesday, June 5, 2019 1 st releas	
Overview + Add marker Teams Date * Field criteria Date * Wednesday, June 5, 2019 1 st releas	
Teams Field criteria Wednesday, June 5, 2019 III 1 st releas	
Field criteria Wednesday, June 5, 2019 III 1 st releas	
Wednesday, June 5, 2019 1 st releas	×
Markers *	
Cards	
Fields	

Figure 10-24. Markers

Additionally, you can customize how the card appears in the delivery plans using the settings. See Figure 10-25.

Settings		×
General Overview Teams	Fields Configure the information shown on cards in this plan. Core fields Show ID 🕑 Show Assigned To as:	
Field criteria Markers *	Avatar and full name (default)	
Cards Fields *	Additional fields Add up to 10 fields in the order that you want them to appear on the card. + Add field	
	Priority ~ X	
	Show empty fields Check if you want to display fields, even when they are empty.	
	Save Cancel	

Figure 10-25. Card fields in delivery plans

Once saved, markers and card customizations get applied to the delivery plans. See Figure 10-26.

```
Plans 🗦 🔚 The Dark Night Plan 🗸 🛛 😭
```

√ Filter by key	/word	6/5 1 s	t release	Types 🗸	Assigned to
		Today			
☆ Teams	<			June	
		Chaminda Chandrasekara State Developing Priority 2 Test Execution , As a banking officer, I need to perform final cash withdrawal from a savings, Unassigned State Testing Priority 2 Add Test cases Unassigned State New Priority 2	NH nilmini herath State • New Priority 2		

Figure 10-26. Delivery plan markers

You can use a delivery plan to move work items to required iterations by dragging and dropping them from the plan itself. When created with multiple teams to obtain a holistic view of a project, delivery plans provide useful and valuable information to project managers, making the Delivery Plans add-on an invaluable extension for Azure Boards.

Estimate

Estimating work is an important part of project delivery. In Agile development, empowering your team and identifying their velocity (how much they can deliver in an iteration) is especially vital. For backlog items in general Agile/Scrum practices, you are familiar with estimating using relative sizes. The work item field Story Points/Effort/ Size is used to capture the relative sizing of a backlog item. The Estimate extension

developed by Microsoft DevLabs is effective and integrates well with the backlog
items to play planning poker on backlogs (https://marketplace.visualstudio.com/
items?itemName=ms-devlabs.estimate). Let's look at how to use this extension to
estimate work items.

You can launch an estimation session by selecting work items in the backlog and clicking "Estimate work item(s)" in the context menu. See Figure 10-27.



Figure 10-27. Launching an estimate work item session

You can provide a name for the estimation session and select the size cards as a size or by the default number of cards. Then create the session in online or offline mode. See Figure 10-28.

Azure DevOps	sldevop / TheEndGame / Bo	ards / Estimate 🔎 Search 🗐 🗇
T TheEndGame	+ Estimate	Create new session
- Overview	Sessions	Sassion litta
5 Boards		
3 Work Items		mode
Boards		
Backlogs		Onmite Onmite
, Sprints		Work items
Queries		
i Plans		Sprint Query Work Items
Estimate		This session will include the work items with the ids: 32, 31, 30, 29, 24
Repos		Cards
Pipelines		Default
Test Plans		1 2 3 5 8 13 20 40 100 ? ∞ 🕞
Artifacts		XS S M L XL
		Cancel Create
Project settings	11	

Figure 10-28. New estimate session

Or you can go to the Estimate tab and create a new session. In the new session, you can select a query to get work items to estimate or use an iteration to select work items. See Figure 10-29. If you want to go for the work items option, you have to select work items from the backlog and use the context menu as explained earlier.

Create new	session			×
Session title				
Mode				
Online	(L) Offline			
Work items				
Sprint	Query	Work Items		
Team				
TheEndGame Te	eam			\sim
Sprint				
IM-Iteration 1				\sim
Cards				
				\sim
			Cancel	Create

Figure 10-29. Starting a new estimation session from the Estimate page

Either way, once a session starts, other team members can join an existing estimation session via the Estimate page. Once the team joins, you can start discussing the story, and each member can vote. Other members' vote value will be hidden until everyone votes or session initiator reveals the votes. See Figure 10-30. In offline mode, individuals can vote as they want after analyzing the work items.

acklog Estimation 1			()	NH	☆ Leav	e session
32 As a teller I need to close an account of a customer	User S As a te accour	Story 32 Iler I ne nt of a c	eed to cl custome	ose ar r	1	Reveal
31 As a teller i need to Estimate: 3 open an account for anew customer	Estimate:	5				
30 As a customer I need Estimate: 3 to transfer mony to my	Your vo	ote	_			
other accounts using online system	1	2	3	5	8	13
29 As a customer I need Estimate: 5 to withdraw money from bank branch	20	40	100	?	∞	۲
28 As a customer I need Estimate: 3 to withdraw money from ATM	All vote	25				

Figure 10-30. Voting for a story

Once the votes are revealed, you can select a card from the voted-on values to apply it to the work item as the estimate, or you provide a custom value and save it to the work item as an estimate. See Figure 10-31. You can click on a story to start a new vote for it if required.



Figure 10-31. Saving an estimate to a story

The estimate extension is really useful because it can help Agile/Scrum teams to size their backlogs with ease, especially with the offline mode support.

Feature Timeline and Epic Road Map

Portfolio backlog level features and epics can be visualized in a sprint calendar using the extension available at https://marketplace.visualstudio.com/items?itemName=ms-devlabs.workitem-feature-timeline-extension. This extension is useful for tracking the progress of features; it gives you a facility to plan your features and gives you a road map of an epic. Install the extension to your Azure DevOps organization and let's take a look at how it works.

Once the extension is installed, you can click the Feature Timeline tab of the Backlogs page in the Boards section. See Figure 10-32.



Figure 10-32. Feature timeline

- 1. This is an epic card. Clicking the title will open the epic work item.
- 2. You can add features available to the timeline by dragging them from the side pane, which opens when the Plan Features box is selected.
- 3. You can show the story details in the feature cards, as shown in #8.
- 4. You can show the progress of stories as a completed stories count or a completed estimate value against the total estimation. You can select the option from this drop-down.
- 5. You can select a range to show closed features in the timeline.
- 6. This is the iteration calendar.
- 7. This is a feature card. You can drag the right edge of the card to expand the feature to the next iteration. Clicking the title will open the feature work item.
- 8. This is the progress of stories within the feature. Clicking the progress will open the feature panning card dialog. In this dialog, you can drag and drop stories from a backlog to an iteration, drag stories to different iterations or back to the backlog, and set the starting and ending iterations for the feature. See Figure 10-33. Clicking the title of a story or bug will open the relevant work item form.

Iteration 1 05/06 - 05/20	Iteration 2 Current 05/21 - 06/04	Iteration 3 06/05 - 06/19	TheDarkKnight Backlog
As a banking officer, I ne			
	As a banking officer, I ne		
			As a banking officer, I ne
			Email validation failure f New
itart Iteration	End Iteration		
TheDarkKnight\Iterati	TheDarkKnight\Iterati ~		

X

Figure 10-33. Feature plan in timeline

Facilitate customers to open savings accounts

The extension adds another tab named Epic Roadmap to Azure Boards, which lets you track the progress of an epic across multiple features worked on by multiple teams. See Figure 10-34.



Figure 10-34. Epic Roadmap tab 332

- 1. You can select the epic to see a road map across several teams.
- 2. You can set how many sprints to show on the road map.
- 3. The feature card details will show the progress, as shown in #8.
- 4. You can track the progress using story counts or using the estimated size values.
- 5. You can set up the area paths of different teams.
- 6. This is the iterations calendar.
- 7. This is a feature card. It can be dragged from the right side to expand to the next iterations. Clicking the title will open the feature.
- 8. This is the progress of the feature showing story counts or estimated value progress. Clicking the progress will open a feature timeline plan dialog, which allows you to drag and drop stories to different iterations of the feature and to set the start and ending iterations for the feature, as shown in Figure 10-33.

The feature timeline and epic road map are useful for visualizing and planning the progress of teams, especially the epic road map, which will give you an opportunity to track an epic being worked on across multiple teams.

In this lesson, we discussed a few extensions that are really useful and that enhance the Azure Boards functionality. Many more extensions are available in the Visual Studio Marketplace for Azure Boards, and you may try them out and add capabilities to Azure Boards as per your team needs.

Note In addition to using the available extensions, you can build your own extensions for Azure DevOps. You can find more information about building your own extensions at https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/devops/extend/get-started/node?view=azure-devops.

Lesson 10-4. Linking GitHub to Azure Boards

GitHub is a Microsoft subsidiary providing cloud-hosted services to handle source control for free, with unlimited public and private repositories. A three-contributor limitation applies for any private repository if you are using it for free, but you can add more contributors if you pay. You can integrate Azure Boards into GitHub to track your project work with Azure Boards while working on your repos in GitHub. Let's look at how this integration works.

Prerequisites: You need to be familiar with working with GitHub and have a GitHub repo with code that you want to integrate with Azure Boards.

Go to the GitHub Marketplace and search for *Azure*. You should see Azure Boards in the search results. Click Azure Boards. See Figure 10-35.



Figure 10-35. Azure Boards in the GitHub Marketplace

On the page that opens, click the "Set up a plan" button. Then click the "Install it for free" button. See Figure 10-36.



Figure 10-36. Installing for free

Then click the "Complete order and begin installation" button that appears on the next page. See Figure 10-37.

Review your order



Figure 10-37. Beginning the install

On the next page, select the repository you want to integrate with Azure Boards and click the Install & Authorize button. See Figure 10-38.

Install & Authorize Azure Boards			
nst	tall & Authorize on your personal account chamindac		
•	All repositories This applies to all current and future repositories.		
۲	Only select repositories		
	Gamma Select repositories -		
	Selected 1 repository		
	L chamindac/AzureBoardIntegration01	×	
w	ith these permissions:		
/	Write access to code		
/	Read access to metadata		
1	Read and write access to commit statuses, content references,		
,	Write access to attach content to the following external domains:		
	• dev.azure.com		
	 visualstudio.com 		

Figure 10-38. Installing and authorizing

The next page will request that you confirm your GitHub password to continue. Provide the password and click the "Confirm password" button. You will be prompted to sign in to Azure DevOps with your credentials. Sign in and proceed. Then in the next page that loads, you are allowed to create or select a new Azure DevOps organization and a team project. Click Continue after selecting an existing project or providing a name to create a new one. See Figure 10-39.

project	
Select your Azure E	VevOps organization *
sldevop	\sim
Select a project * TheEndGame	~
Create a new proje	e means that you agree to our Terms

Figure 10-39. Setting up Azure Boards

Then you will be navigated to Azure Boards and be able to create a new story, create a new pull request, and add an Azure Boards badge in GitHub. Let's proceed with these steps. See Figure 10-40.

Success!

Your GitHub repository is connected to Azure Boards.



Figure 10-40. Creating a work item and pull request to add a Boards badge

Once these two steps are done, you can view the work item by clicking "View work item." See Figure 10-41.



Figure 10-41. Viewing the work item

As mentioned in Figure 10-41, from GitHub you can refer to any work item in Azure Boards using the AB# prefix before the work item ID. This will link up the commits and pull requests with the work item in Azure Boards. Once you open the work item that was created in the previous step, you can see a commit and a pull request are linked to the work item. See Figure 10-42.

USER STORY 58 58 Add badge to README					2 ×	
🕲 Unassigned 🔹 🕫 0 comments Add tag		🗑 Save & Close 💌		U	°	
Statg • New Area TheEndGame		Upda	ted by Azure B	oards 2 min	utes ago	
Reason 🛆 New Iteration TheEndGame		Det	ails 🕥	S (2)	0	
Description	Planning	Developr	nent		i i	
Azure Boards + GitHub is ready!	Story Points	+ Add link	+ Add link			
Your Azure Boards project is ready and connected to GitHub.	Priority	🗘 ູ້ ນຶ່ງ 1 Ad Updated	 ♀ \$			
See the <u>GitHub & Azure Boards</u> documentation for more information about the integration	2	O \$ 9854				
	Risk	Updated				
If you chose to create a linked pull request, you'll see that a commit and pull request have already been linked. Click the pull request title to review and		Related V	Related Work			
merge in the commit to add the badge for this board to your repository's	Classification	+ Add link	+ Add link ~			
Information about configuring your badge.	Value area Business					
Acceptance Criteria						
Click to add Acceptance Criteria					- 1	

Figure 10-42. Work item linked to GitHub

You can click any of the links to navigate to the commit or pull request. Click the "Pull request" link. You can see that it mentions Fixes AB#*workitemID*. Complete the pull request by merging it. See Figure 10-43.



Figure 10-43. Merging the pull request

The words *fix, fixes,* and *fixed* can be used in the pull request or commit to make merging the pull request automatically close the work item in Azure Boards. Click "Merge pull request" and confirm the merge to complete the pull request. When the Azure Boards work item is refreshed, you can see it automatically gets closed. See Figure 10-44.

USER STORY 58								2
(a) Unassigned	🖓 <u>0 comments</u> Add ta	9		阁 Save & Close	- 1	Follow	S	5.
Statg Closed	Area TheEndGame				Upd	lated by A	zure Boards	just nov
Reason 🛛 Acceptance tests pass	Iteration TheEndGame				Details	3	8 (2)	0
State Graph								
6/1/2019	6/1/2019							
 6/1/2019 History Today Ature Boards channed state fi 	6/1/2019	AB Azure Bo Changed	ards state from [●] New to ● C	losed, made other c	hanges	Sat 6	5/1/2019 12	:27 PM
6/1/2019 Fistory Today AB Azure Boards changed state fr	6/1/2019 rom New to Closed, • 12:27 PM	AB Azure Bo Changed Activated By	ards state from • New to • C Azure Boards	losed, made other c	hanges	Sat 6	5/1/2019 12	:27 PM
 Azure Boards added link 	6/1/2019 rom New to Closed, 12:27 PM 2:206 BM	AB Azure Bo Changed Activated By Board Column	ards state from New to C Azure Boards Closed New	losed, made other c	hanges	Sat 6	5/1/2019 12	:27 PM
	rom New to Closed, • 12:27 PM 12:06 PM	AB Azure Bo Changed Activated By Board Column Closed By	ards state from New to C Azure Boards Closed New Azure Boards	losed. made other c	hanges	Sat 6	5/1/2019 12	:27 PM
 Azure Boards added link Azure Boards added link Azure Boards added link 	rom New to Closed, • 12:27 PM 12:06 PM 12:06 PM 12:06 PM	AB Azure Bo Changed Activated By Board Column Closed By Reason	ards state from • New to • C Azure Boards Closed New Azure Boards Acceptance tests pass	Closed, made other of New	hanges	Sat 6	5/1/2019 12	:27 PM

Figure 10-44. Work item closed by merging the pull request

In GitHub you can see that the readme is added with an Azure Boards status badge. See Figure 10-45.

₽ 2 branches	2 branches 🗞 0 releases		<u>\$\$</u> 1	contributor	
	Create new file	Upload files	Find File	Clone or download	
mindac/azure-boards		La	test commit	6216abd 4 minutes ago	
Add a web app				1 hour ago	
Add a web app		1 h			
Add a web app		1 h			
Add a web app	1			1 hour ago	
Add a web app		1 hot			
Add a web app				1 hour ago	
Add the Azure Boards badge	to the README. Fixes AB#58			25 minutes ago	
Add a web app				1 hour ago	
Add a web app	reb app			1 hour ago	
Add a web app				1 hour ago	
		P 2 branches O 0 releases Create new file minidac/azure-boards Create new file Add a web app Add a web app Add a web app Add a web app	ŷ 2 branches O releases Imindac/azure-boards Upload files mindac/azure-boards La Add a web app Add a web app Add a web app Add a web app	P 2 branches O releases A 1 Imindac/azure-boards Imindac/azure-boards Find File Add a web app Imindac/azure-boards Imindac/azure-boards Add a web app Add a web app Add a web app Add a web app	

Figure 10-45. Boards status badge in GitHub

You can create a connection from Azure Boards to GitHub from the project settings of Azure Boards as well. Since you have linked Azure Boards with the GitHub repo, you will see an existing link in the current project. See Figure 10-46.



Figure 10-46. Linking GitHub with Azure Boards

- 1. This allows you to add a new connection to GitHub. You will be prompted for your GitHub credentials, and then you can create the connection and add repositories.
- 2. You can add more repositories. See Figure 10-47.

Add GitHub repositories

Add the GitHub repositories you want to use with your Azure Boards. Learn more



Figure 10-47. Adding repositories

- 3. You can remove any repositories connected.
- 4. You can remove the GitHub connection from Azure Boards.

After making the connection to GitHub from Azure Boards, you can open any work item and from the work item form's Development group link a GitHub commit or a pull request. See Figure 10-48.



Figure 10-48. Adding a GitHub link to a work item

You can add or select a GitHub commit or a GitHub pull request from the drop-down and use a URL to link it with the work item. See Figure 10-49.

Add link		^
You are adding a link from: Solution 32 As a teller I need to close an account of a cust Updated 15 hours ago, New Link type	omer	
GitHub Commit		\sim
① Learn more about GitHub integration with Azure Boa	ards.	
GitHub commit url *		
Enter GitHub commit url		
Comment		
	ОК	Cancel

Figure 10-49. Linking a GitHub commit

From GitHub you can link a commit or pull request to a work item by mentioning the work item with AB#*workitemID*. Using *fix, fixes,* or *fixed* before AB#*workitemID* in a commit will make the work item be completed when it is merged via a pull request to the master.

In this lesson, we discussed how to integrate GitHub with Azure Boards. Using Azure Boards to track the work for your projects in GitHub greatly improves the way you work with GitHub.

Summary

In this chapter, we discussed how to use extensions to enhance the capabilities and features of Azure Boards. Further, we explored a couple of useful extensions in detail. In addition, we discussed how to integrate Azure Boards with GitHub to provide a rich experience in both GitHub and Azure Boards.

Throughout this book, we have discussed Azure Boards in detail, from getting started to configuring it for small and large teams to customizing it. We discussed the reporting and visualization capabilities of Azure Boards to give your teams the ability to track the progress of the projects. Additionally, we talked about security and administration as well as using a REST API and the command line. The book has provided you with comprehensive coverage of Azure Boards features and how to use them to effectively plan and track your teams' work.

In the next book of the series, we will explore the source control capabilities of Azure DevOps. *Hands-On Azure Repos* will cover both Team Foundation Version Control (TFVC) and Azure Git Repos in detail with practical examples.

Index

Α

AAD-backed Azure DevOps accepting permissions, 263 adding external user, 262 additional information, 264 grant external users access, 259 policy, 261 join button, 262 Alternate credentials, 282 Area permissions, 274 Azure active directory (AAD), 37, 253, 259, 260, 262, 264, 283 Azure Boards customizations, 123 Azure DevOps adding users, 249 AAD, 253 group rule, access levels, 253, 254 group rule menu items, 252, 253 management, 250, 251 auditing, 36 billing for, 35 global notifications, 36 granting access to extensions, 266 login page, 2 navigation backlog, 24-26 boards, 22, 23 column options pane, 21 dashboards, 14, 15 edit page, 11

Invite button, 14 message section, 13 pencil icon, 10 queries, 29, 31, 32 sprint backlog, 26-29 Summary page, 9, 10 team capacity, 27 team settings, 15 widgets, 16 wiki, 17 Work Items, 19, 20 organization creation, 1 naming, 3 policies, 255 paid user license, 265 permission groups, 256, 257, 259 previewing features and themes, 38 usage, 37 user extension management pop-up, 266 Azure DevOps CLI extension, 299 show work item, 300, 301 update work item, 302 version, 299

В

Backlog adding task, user stories, 98, 99 agile process, 89

INDEX

Backlog (cont.) banking system sample, 89 changing parent, 99-101 epic creation, 91 adding features, 96 adding stories, features, 97, 98 child feature work item, 91 child link, 94 context menu, 95 hierarchy, 95 second level, 92 work item, relationships, 93 hierarchy, 87 iteration dragging/dropping stories, 108 sprint view, 110 task activity/remaining work, 111 task selection, 108 team capacity, 109 work details capacity, 112 level selection, 88 work item context menu, 101, 103-105 Bug work item behavior settings, 119 managing with requirements, 121, 122 task management, 119, 120

С

Charts with queries, 209–210 Command-line interface (CLI), 285, 299 Complex queries, creation direct link, 207 flat list, 206 work items, 207–209 Cumulative flow bulges, 194–195 WIP, 193 Customization, *see* Kanban board cards

D

Dashboards, creation, 213, 214 Developing and Testing, 150, 174, 176, 177

Ε

Extensions administrator permissions, 310 browse and manage, 306 delivery plans add Boards section, 319 available plans, 322 create new plan, 319, 320 estimating work, 325 features and epics, 330-333 launching session, 326, 328 markers, 323, 325 voting, 329, 330 installing, 308 linking Github adding repositories, 343 Boards status badge, 342, 343 commit/pull request, 344 creating work item, 338, 340, 341 installation, 335, 336 prerequisites, 334 setting up, 337 searching for, 307 shared, 312 uninstalling, 311 update, 312 work item layout, 313, 314, 316-318

F

Favorite queries, 205

G

GitHub, <mark>305</mark>

Η

Hierarchical area structure, 234, 235

I, J

Individual days off, 84 Inherited process agile process, 159 creation, 159 custom process creation, 157 organization settings, 158 process item, 158 template context menu, 160–162 Isolate the backlog avengers team area setup, 230 project area configuration, 229 root/default team, 230 root iteration, 231, 232 team creation, 228 work item, 233, 234 Iteration permissions, 273-274

K, L

Kanban board cards, 150 *See also* Swimlanes additional fields, 133 Azure DevOps, 131 board status badge, dashboard, 155 core fields, 132 customized backlog information, 131

done, definition, 149 first column customization, 144, 145 flow modified, 149 in-progress column customization, 146, 147 progress limit, work exceeding, 147 reordering settings, 152 rules, 135-137, 139, 140 settings dialog launch, 144 state mapping for column, 148 status badge image, browser, 154 "status badge" settings, 153 story board card fields, 134 tag color, setting of, 140, 141, 143 task board, 135 tests customization, 143 Kanban boards child work item context menu, 116 epic view, 113 moving cards, 114 stories board view, 115

Μ

Multiple teams different release cadences, working, 242–245 requirements backlog, 236 business modules, 224 cross-functional team, 224 data access logics, 223 developers and testers, 225 levels of complexity, 226 nested team structure, 225 plugin development, 224 product/project end users, 224, 226, 227

INDEX

Multiple teams (*cont.*) technical approach, 223 sharing team members, 245, 247 sharing the same iteration avengers team's, 237 capacity planning, 238 capacity usage, 239–241 project configuration, 236 tasks, 239

Ν

Nested team structure, 225 New work item type, 179–181 Notification adding a new notification, 126 category selection, 127 e-mail based work items, 131 receivers, 128 roles, 129 template items, 127, 128

0

Organization-level security custom template, 268 process template, 267 update permission, 267 Organization settings, 32 overview tab, 33 project tab, 34 Out-of-the-Box, exploring azure boards charts, 190 bulges in cumulative flow, 194, 195 cumulative flow chart, 191–193 flat lines, 195–197 forecasting, 191 scope changes, 195–197 sprint burndown chart, 197 velocity charts, 190, 191

P, Q

Personal access token (PAT) creation, 280 editing/revoking, and regenerating, 281 tab, 280 Personal queries, creation adding new query, 198 commands, 200 copy query URL, 201 email query, 200 saving query, 199 types, 202 PowerShell, REST API authorization, 290 header, 291, 292 Invoke REST method, 292 parameters, 293 script execution, 294 WIQL, 294, 296 work item read/write PAT, 291 Project areas, 61 adding new path, 63 context menu, 62 deletion. 64 editing location, 63 list, 61 path section, 61 security, 65 Project-level security, 268 adding members, 271 area permissions, 274 editing groups, 270 inherited permissions, 273

iteration permissions, 273, 274 project administrators group, 272 settings, 269 shared queries permissions, 275 Project settings, 48, 49 board, 56-60 general, 50 dashboard permission, 56 delivery section, 52 notifications, 51 service hooks, 54, 55 subscription, 52 team section, 51 Project templates comparison process model overview, 6 process templates, 5, 6 state categories, 8 user story default transitions, 8 WIT, 5 work items. 7 Public/private Agile project creation, 4, 5 Git, 3

R

Remaining work field, 110 Representational state transfer (REST), 285 REST API HTTP body fields request message, 287 response message, 287 HTTP header fields request message, 286 response message, 287 request URI, 286 work item, creation, 296, 298 REST API, browser formatted JSON, 289 work items, 288

S

Shared queries permissions, 275 Shared queries section, 203–205 Sharing a team member, 245, 247 Software development process, 224 SSH keys, 282 Status badge of azure boards, 216 Story board card fields, 134 Swimlanes proposed and completed category, 150 settings, Kanban board, 150, 151

Т

Tags adding to work item, 123, 124 Azure DevOps, 124 filtering work items, 125 searching work items, 125 set of work items. 123 Task boards, 116, 117 Team areas, 65, 66 context menu, 67, 68 selection. 67 Team capacity/days off, 82-85 Team creation administrators. 46 member selection, 47 permissions, 45 pop up, **45** project settings, 44 searching members, 47, 48 Team days off, 85

INDEX

Team iterations, 74 changing backlog, 77 profile, 75 release, 78 selection, 77 Team-level security area permission, 277 iteration permission, 276 profile, 276 Team permissions, 78 adding member, 81 administrator, 82 creating security groups, 80 security, 79 Team project iterations, 68 context menu, 71 creation. 70 deletion, 72 editing, 71 permission, 73 toolbar, 69 team creation (see Team creation) **Top-level backlog** board settings, 185 editing, 183 initiative, 181 new level, 185 portfolio creation, 184

U

User-level security, 279 alternate credentials, 282 PAT, 279, 281, 282 SSH keys, 282 User Story default transitions, 8

V

Visualizing and reporting chart in a dashboard, 211–213 chart with queries, 209 complex queries, creation, 206 out-of-the-box, exploring, 189 personal queries, creation, 198 sharing queries with team, 203

W, X, Y, Z

Widgets to a dashboard, 215-217 Widgets to visualize work items burndown widget, 221 burn-up chart, 222 cumulative flow, 218 cycle time, 220 lead time, 220 pivot chart, 218 velocity widget, 219 Work in progress (WIP), 193 Work item color and icon editing, 163, 164 context menu, 170 custom field layout, 173 operation area, 170, 171 options, 172 picklist type, 171 user story, 174 group adding, 169 inherited field, 167, 168 inherited group, 168 layout modification, 165, 166 layout page, 169 new page, 168

rules (*see* Work item rules, customization) template process, 163 types, 179–181 workflow state active state, 177 category selection, 176 story states modification, 176 task board, 179 types, 175 user story, 177, 178 Work item fields, backlog sample, 107 types, 105, 106 Work Item Query Language (WIQL), 294 Work item rules, customization, 186–188 Work item type (WIT), 5